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On 10 February 2004, a team of officers, lead by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the following mterview. Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D McKreman, Commanding General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look 1nto allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detamnee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also inquired into tramnng, standards,
employment, command policies, and internal policies, concermng the detamnees held at
Abu Ghraib prison. Finally, the panel looked mnto the command climate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

MG Antomio M Taguba, \JM® DCG-CFLCC, Interviewer
ckland AFB, TX, Member
, CFLCC ~ SJA, Member
, U.S. Army MP School, Member
HHC, 229th MP Company, Respondent

The interview 1s summanzed as follows

My name 1 I'm assigned as the Commander of the 229
MP Company of the 320th MP Battalion 1 took command on 16 January 2003, 4 days
prior to this mobilization The 229 1s from Virgimia Beach, Virgima We’re with the
Virgmia Armmy National Guard My peacetime trace, I was Commander with the 229
Chemical Company, and then was transferred to the 229 MP Company. The higher
headquarters 1s 91st Troop Command out of Richmond Virgiia We mobilized to Camp
Atterbury. Indiana, where we were placed under the Post Commander’s operation, also
the authonty of the Mobilization Assistance Team (MAT), and the Umt Assist, to ensure
that we met the requirements to deploy Pnor to deployment, we were orgamzed as a
Combat Support Company, with 186 personnel A day or two prior to mobilizatton, |
found out from my Brigade Commander and the XQ that we were going to be mobihized
as an /R Guard company After my company completed the basic requirements needed,
such as weapons qualification and CTT, we trained to be an /R Guard I had previously
been an enlisted MP soldier with 157 MP Company out of West Virguma I was a squad
leader, and we were 1n charge of EPW and I/R operations I took these expenences and
used them to train my soldiers on what to expect and how to wnteract m theater [ briefed
on these topics as time allowed 1n home station [ focused the traiming on guard of EPW
and Cls 1 am not particularly famihar with AR 190-8 1 was more concerned with the
external guard of the facility Idid not concentrate on the canng of inmates because that
was not 1n my companies’ scope of operation Based on my pnior expenence the
Battalion 1s responsible for the intake of the inmates We spent 2 weeks traming at home
station, then we armved at Camp Atterbury, Indiana

I was using the MTP as a basis for the traiming that my soldiers were undergoing. I pretty
much had to take 1t from ground zero, because my soldiers had not been exposed to EPW
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Operations, prior to this I indoctrinated them on the basts of the operation, what their
job was, and some general ROE and ROI that I had devised from my past expenence I
informed them they would be doing the mounted roving, dismounted roving, guard
towers, and Internal Reaction Force 1 taught everyone from scratch to ensure that all of
my leadership could create OPORDERS and organize their platoons within the confines
of the mission,

I let everyone know that, although we were there to provide securty, everyone needed to
show restramt, when mteracting with the prisoners. I instructed my leaders to ensure that
all soldiers understood the big picture inciuding the Geneva Conventron and humane
treatment of the detainees,

I had not tramed with thts company before mobilization, and did not know thein very
well Ihad met them the month prior, at Fort Picket while they were doing their SRP. 1
did this as a professional courtesy, their commander hadn’t stepped out of the picture yet
When I took command everyone knew I was in charge, and we moved forward. Before
we arrived 1n theater on 14 April, there were about five different Battalions that I thought
I was going to be assigned to

I found out that I would be assigned to 304th MP Battalion, an /R Battahon By this
time the need for /R companies had evidently dissipated because we sat at Arifjan for a
few weeks At this time, the Customs mussion became a hot priority  So, 1 was directed
to have all of my soldiers certified as Customs Borders Clearing Agents to do customs m
the Theater of Operations for redeployment We did this from May 1 through August
15th August 18th we re-deployed to Abu Ghraib Pnison From May through August we
were detached from the 304th, and attached to the 220th MP Bnigade After that, we
were then assigned to the 317th MP Battalion, and relinquished from the 304th MP
Battalion I soon realized that to mamtain a state of normalcy I had to adapt and
OVErcome

On 10 August it was deterruned that we would move to our current unit of assignment
The FRAGO was signed on 17 August | was assigned to the 320th MP Battalion under
the 800th MP Brigade There were no specific instructions for my company 1n this
FRAGO It was assumed that we would be an external guard company. When I found
out that this was gomg to be our final realhignment, I attained contact mformation for the
320th MP Battalion, and started makin to the S3 section August 19th I met
with the Battahon Commander, LTC M‘Nc recerved a tasking from the
Battalion, to provide personnel for external secunty for the two compounds at Camp
Ganct (1t now has eight). We were tasked with providing personnel to operate external
security, the Internal Reaction Force (IRF), and prisoner escorts for all of these
compounds, When [ say external security, 1 do not mean for the base carp but for the
camp 1tsel{ I had a dismounted roving guard to secure nside the camp durning high

traffic hours such as chow We were not responsible for accounting for the detainees
1LT Sl as 1n charge of the IRF  We got the mission around the 23rd of August



1 was aware that the 447th MP Company, 72nd MP Company, a quartermaster element,
and some military intelligence soldiers were in the Abu Ghraib facility. The prisoner
transport guards were mvolved with the MI soldiers, because occasionally they would go
to the MI compound

1 am aware of four to six detamnee escapes I am aware of three incidents of detamnee
abuse mside of the entire complex My company was not mvolved in any of the abuse
They did witness some of 1t though One of these was inside Ganci, one was n the hard
site, and the third one was in a common area My IRF does not go into these areas on a
regular basis, only to queli situations

My soldier did report the mcident 1n the common area in August I did not witness this
personally but was told by my soldiers The Abu Ghraib complex often came under
mortar fire After one of the mortar attacks, a man and a woman were brought 1n,
connection with this attack The soldiers handling the male detamnee were yelling at him
1n an excessively loud voice There were reports of physical contact between the U.S
soldier and the male detainee I believe MI soldiers penished that mght from the mortar
attack, and a few were severely mnjured Whether he was the most semor officer, I don’t
know, but the 320th Battalion §3, MAJ #jjgme was there 1LT Sl and SFC
informed me about this 1 had them write their statements, and I turned them m to LTC
W Ic said he would involve CID, because this was something he would not
tolerate. As far as the final outcome, 1 don’t behieve he ever informed me of one 1
believe my soldiers reported events honestly, and accurately, and without the mtent to
harm anybody eise

My soldiers didn’t respond to the situation, when one of the IPs delivered a weapon to the
hard site They assisted searching the people within that wing 1 do not recall them
reporting any wnstances of detainee abuse from that specific event to me

The ROI and ROE were posted 1n each of the towers, so the soldiers could be familiar
with them [ did not have a Company SOP We revisited the principles leamed from the
traimng we conducted, once we ammved at Abu Ghraib, to make sure the soldiers
understood them I did not receive wntten guidance from the Battalion I did not attempt
to link up with them 1 should have There’s no defense for that 1 feel my soldiers have
conducted themselves with restraint and respect

One morning we went to the Staff Meeting, and LTC <SSRJJ*wasn’t there I beheve
MA] NI talked to us about 1t, after a Staff Call I behieve that he said the 800"
directed the suspension of the Company Commander of the soldiers mvolved, and the
Battalion Commander, to preserve the impartiality of the 15-6 investigation There were
two policies passed down from LG Sanchez ] passed them down to the platoon leaders,
and they read them I beheve they did a sign-mn roster I didn’t understand that I was to
read 1t myself

I have three platoons organic to me I deployed with one hundred fifteen. I have sixty-
four lefi, assigned Three of those are not 1n Theater, and two more are going to be



REFRADs. I've had people hit their 24-month mark. Ihad a huge group of those leave
m December, and there have been few personal situations, which have warranted
REFRADs of individuals. I learned that there was no alternative, or method of getting
troops 1n, to supplement the companies facing depleted strength levels. We have had a
decrease 1n our mission requirements, due to the limsted personnel that we have

I would say LTCHMsMEENSWIh a5 2 very open style Whenever I've had problems, I
would try o resolve them with the various section OICs, or whoever was the immediate
source of the problem. Sometmes things did not reach the resolution that one would
think logical It just comes down to the fact that whenever people speak, you have to
execute You’'re allowed to voice your disagreement, but things just..

All along, at Abu Cihratb Prison. and throughout the entire aperation, I realized that as a
Company Commander, the only person I could rely on 1s myself, and my staff members
If 1t had not been for my jumor officers, and NCOs, my soldiers would not have had basic
soldier care things

LTCYS has surpnsed me Whenever I heard we were getting an active duty
Battalion Commander, I was like, *“This 1s going to be interesting,” but he has been a very
reserved, and professional commander He1s firm He allows you to voice your
concerns, and he takes your advice into consideration I have enjoyed working with him
these past few weeks

Typically, in my expenence, people 1n qur organization, 1.¢ , the Reserve Components are
more practical 1n nature We are not just focused upon the Engineering aspect, or the
Milntary Police things, or the Transportation Corps tiungs One of the benefits that our
organization shares, and relishes 1s the vanety of backgrounds and experiences that our
soldiers have People 1n an active duty unit may not share such a divers view withun their
soldiers [ would say there was concern that an Active Duty unit mught nusunderstand us

It was my understanding that LT (S{illiiiieould take action, by informimg CID, of
the 1incident reported to me by 1LT Sl 1 would reiterate to my soldiers that the
Battalion Commander said 1t was taken care of 1 felt that they were satisfied with my
response ] don’t thunk they voiced anything other than that, and I had no reason not to
trust my Commander

I can’t understand why we're there, as opposed to a more safe location From what I've
always seen of those types of operations, the entire base camp always seems to be 1n the
middle of nowhere [ don’t think anvbody expected the post-war climate we have night
now, but now that we have 1t, we need to be flexible, and adapt to the situation

Force protection needs to be given ten times more support [ feel, and my soldiers feel
that we’re just sitting out there, waiting to die  That may be a harsh way to say 1t, but
whenever you have mortars coming 1n, at such frequency, and such close proximity, I
feel, as a Commander, I’m charged with bninging my soldiers home, but how do I control
that? It's frustrating It's frightening



I just try to keep my men-focused on the mission, and make sure that they’re safe, and

careful m the actions that they execute, that they don’t do anything stupid, 1.e., beat up
prisoners, or steal other people’s shut, or do any of the other things Joes do now and then

As far as improvements, there should have been SOPs from Battalion, and when the
compames didn’t get them, they should have asked for them

The pnisoners’ living conditions are abysmal I don’t know how they’re not rioting
everyday There was a major riot, toward the end of November. I point to that,
specifically, m how the Battalion's scldiers showed great restraint, 1n trying to resolve a
situation with less-than-lethal force. It would have been very easy to crack open a 249
that day, and lay a hundred rounds down range, but the soldiers realized the situation they
were 11, and they wanted to be sure they were operating within the confines of the chain
of command’s guidance, and also mamntain secunty That day, everybody who works at
Abu Ghraib Prison saw how their action or maction would effect their colleagues life.
That was very much tmpressed upon them But again, that comes back to having the
prisoners walking around 1n knee-deep mud, defecating, and urinating all over the
compounds Undoubtedly those human excrements are going to become airtbome, Qur
soldiers are going to be breathing them I'm going to be breathing them The chow the
detamnees recerve has always been inadequate [ haven’t seen any of it, recently, but the
guantity and the calone content of that stuff ts not sufficient.

One other thung, the fact that my soldiers did not know when they’re gomng home has
caused me great pamn Qur expenences have caused us to lose a tremendous amount of
faith, 1n the Army Besides not knowing the going home date, 1t was the soldier care
items that my soldiers needed, the fact that we didn’t have heat ‘til the latter part of
December It was a culmination of things together As leaders, 1t’s our job to give
I=adership tc our soldiers, but eventually, after a while of telling them things in
expectation of so on, and so forth, they lose faith 1n us It’s a challenging situation [ just
often told them I understood their situation 1 would thank them, frequently. I would go
out 2 o’clock m the morning, 8 o’clock at might, and sit 1n the tower with them, share
therr misery If I had something good 1n my care package, like a cigar, or some nice
coffee, I would take that out to them, and just let them know, again, that I thank them for
therr service, and their professionalism, because out of 15 vears m the Army National
Guard, ! firmly believe this 1s the best company I've ever been with, and that’s not simply
because I'm their Company Commander, either

The mnterview complete, MG Taguba advises CPT §to not discuss, or reveal the
contents of the interview, and he 1s released, subject to recall
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On 10 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the following mterview Major General Taguba was appointed as an
investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D McKieman, Commandimng General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into allegations of maltreatment of detamees.
detamnee escapes and accountabihity lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Faciiy (BCCF) The panel also inquired into trammmng, standards,
employment, command policies, and mternal policies, concemnmg tbe detainecs held at
Abu Ghanb prison Finally, the panel looked mto the command chimate and the

command and supervisory presence

!
The following persons were pres:nt

MG Antomo M Taguba, SN, DCG-CFLCC, Interviewer

CPT CFLCC-SJA, Interviewer

SFC U S Army MP School, Fort Leonardwood, MO,
Interviewer -

CPT R 320" Military Police Company,

Interviewee

The mmterview 1s summarized as follows

My name 15 (IR My social secunity number 1 (EIR

My rank 1s Captain | am commanger of the 320" MP Company

1 have been Commander of the 320" MP Company since 14 JULY 2001 We mobilized
out of Fort Stewart, GA We are a combat support company We received CCT traming
and marksmanship trainmg  Assets were not aliocated for land or materal, so we made
up traxming {or the rest of the 9 weeks “We were mosihized on 20JAN 03, and we left 29
MAR 03 We are aut of 317" MP Bartahipn out of Tampa, FL. They are assigned ta the
641° ASG an army reserve unit

We fell in on the 800" MP Brigade upon our amval here  We didn’t find out our mussion
unti: we arnved here in country We ammrved in Kuwait 29 MAR 03, and we armved 1n
Irag on 4 APR 2003 The 744" was at the terminal when we amived in country, at that
nme we knew we would not perform combat support We never recetved any raimng on
{&R 1 also made known we had been focusing on combat support, and never performed
an intemment and resettlement mission

[ was briefed that our russion was to be in charge of external perimeter securnity, patrols
and escort russions at Talil We rehieved the 18"™ Military Police Brigade 1 place so they
could move forward and build a facility north  We knew 1t would be a transfer point,
berween Baghdad and Bucca We handled detainees as needed, but our pnmary mission
was escorting  We hadn't received any tramming on handimng detainees We have a vast
number of soldiers with corrections eXpertence
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We basically trained ourselves based on our METL 1 certified the readiness status of the
Company 1 reported to the MOB site commander COL @il The resources just were
not there 1o train job specific The problem with our traning was we didn’t know what
our mission would be If I had knew at the time what our mission wouid be all my
training would have been focused toward corrections, I made my own MTOE of what
was needed to run a routine combat support msston

We were at Talil from April 2003 until November 2003 We were very familiar with the
Geneva Convention, and ROE we certified that every soldier went through that trayming
We were given a TAC SOP for the 744" which was based on a large-scale compound,
but 1t didn’t pertain to TSB Whitford because 1t was a non-standard facihity so we made
procedures up as we went along

There was one escape while we were at Whitford My company was not mvolved with
the escape, but we assisted m trymng to locate the individual, We were never in charge of
any accountability whtle we there

In November we received word that we would be transferred to the Baghdad Correctional
Facility We did a recon of the area and met with the Battalion Commander to see what
our mission would be The advance party on the 16™ the main body went up on the 20"
of November We were than assigned to the 320" MP Battalion. We had never worked
with the 320" before

My unit was brought up to fill m for shortages for soldiers that had refraded. We had
replaced the 44 7" We mally were put in the towers and we conducted roving patrols
of the compound There were several other units involved, they were the 229" MP
Company, 670™ MP Company, 870" MP Company, and the 372™ MP Company We
had never been associated with any of the companies LTCHINEEND was the Battahon
Commander He eaplamed what our mission would be 1n regards to fillg urthe
vacancies left by the soldiers being refraded We did a left seat/nght seat changeover
with the leaving unit  We hit the ground running having soldiers fill vacancies

| had four platoons 1n the company 2 hine platoons and | headquarters platoon. 1 was

basicaily in charge of giving bodies to the Battahon when the needed them. That has

been our mission since we have been here  Since there have been units coming in fully

manned we can probably start tasking companies on specific task 1 typically recerved

operational requirements from MA) Sl ! interacted with MA 14 and LTC
Imost on a daily basis

Whatever umt needed personnel, my soidiers integrated with that unit  There was
constant training on ROE, less than lethal, and handling detammees We only work in the
Camp Ganci area | was aware of other companies running areas in the compound. 1 am
also aware of non-MP’s working in the compounds 1 never had anything to do with the
interrogations side of the house | knew that there were M1 individuals on ground, |
couldn’t tell you where they work



We were not given any other mission, we just fill mn where we are needed. 1 think an
improvement for mcoming umits would be assignments to specific parts of the prison 1t
would grve the commanders an opportunity to be directly in charge of therr personnel
The 447™ MP Company worked towers i Camp Ganci and did escort missions No one
company at Abu Graib 18 dong one spectfic job, units are doing a httie bit of everythung.
It isn’t confusing because we have been doing things this way so long everyone knows
what everyone else 15 dong

We had heard through the press about detainee abuse at Camp Bucca We hadn't heard
of any detamee abuse or shootings at Abu Graib. All the company commanders were
called in and told that there was an ongoing mvestigation at Abu Graib, but we weren't
told the redson

| have heard of three escapes since the time I have been here. None of my personneli
were involved There was a riot 1n late November where my umt had to respond to  One
of my soldiers killed an Iraq: rioter after expending his non-lethal rounds. There were a
total of four roters killed that day wn order to calm the riot, but that was only after using
up all the non-lethal rounds There were a number of my soldiers mnjured that day. The
not was a Camp Ganci I am not aware of any nots at Camp Vigilence or the hard site
An mvestigation was conducted, but 1 wasn’t briefed on the outcome. The ROE was
adjusted after the mcident, so that the MP's could go to lethal force a lot sooner

The use of lethal force 1s dependant on the situation Lethal force 1s authonzed for the
defense of oneself or U S Forces if necessary. The ROE 1s posted 1n the towers, and all
the soldsers are tramed up The JAG conducted a train the tramer session, and then the
XO brieted the company 1 can’t say whether or not the other units were trained up on
the ROE

There are other 1solated mcidents where detainees have got out of control and have had to
have non-lethal rounds shot at them 1n order to calm them done There haven’t been any
more tncidents were lethal rounds had to be used There haven’t any atiempt escapes in
any of my compounds in the past few weeks 1 have personnel working at several
compounds at Camp Ganct [ have bodies at the compounds, [ don’t actually run those
compounds the 320" run the compounds

The command climate can be described as understaffed There is a MI Brigade at the
forward operating not conducting their duties as an external penimeter security force The
320" has been stuck with having to do everything There 1s confusion there as to who 1s
m charge of what ] found out in December that an M1 Brigade Commander was n
charge of command and contro] of the forward operating base COL Pappus 1s the M1
Commander It wasn’t explained to me what their mission was  To my understanding
they aren’t fulfilling their duties as an external security enforce

1 didn't find out about the allegation of detainee abuse until MA R called a
meetng with all of the company commanders He didn’t go into detaii; he just said 1t
involved the chain of command of the 320" There were several memorandums put out



by Gen Sanchez regarding treatment of detainees, ] maintained copies and posted them in
the company area

] am aware of AR 190-8, 1 am aiso aware of the Field Manuel covering interment
operations

| heard of General Officers coming to the camps, but times and dates were never posted
due to OPSEC 1 personally haven’t seen General officers here other than Gen Karpinski
I interact with the other Company Commanders everyday LTC @iilllPhcld a
command and staff meeting every mormng at 0900, 1t usually lasted about 45 minutes
There was also a Force Protection meeting at 1600.

No SOP’s we provided to us from the Battalion In my umt we had an unwritten SOP,
everyone had an understanding of what the pohcies were The forward operating base
put out a matrix explaining the umiform posture for the each threat level At Camp Gancy,
there were weapons allowed in the facility

My assessment of the command climate n the 320" 1s they are shorthanded I think
command 1s over their capabilities, and that has to have an affect on morale, soldiers are
working |2 hours a day and maybe gettng a one-day off every 2 weeks. My company 1s
understaffed also, I have asked for replacements many of times. My authorized strength
15 180 personnel, | am down to 118

Since the altegations of detamnee abuse have become public I thunk everyone 1s trying
there best to rectify the situation, but 1t comes down to a lack of personnel I think that
sentor leadership should be put in areas of command mside the pnson, for example my
sttuation where my soldiers work for someone else

There was another meeting COL Pappus had called that briefed that there was an
investigation ongoing, and MA JillPhad assumed command of the MI battalion

unti] COL-had armived

We were not involved 1n detainee accountability, and my pnmary mission was to fill in
where personnel were needed We believe out replacement to be the 420" MP Company
There 15 a new M! Battalion on board | haven’t had an opportunity to meet some of the
new comrnanders

My recommendations are that specific units be given specific tasks and enough personnel
to complete those tasks Also a clear understanding of what the commander of the
{orward operating base 1s supposed to be in charge of and what the commander of the
prison s suppose to be n charge of The soldiers working 12-hour shifts need to be
supplemented with personnel so they can be reduced to 8-hour shifts and they can start to
get time off

Finished with the interview the panel briefed CPT JSJEP and then dismmssed hm



On 15 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the following interview Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 13-6, by Lieutenant
General David D. McKiemnan, Commanding General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look mto allegations of maltreatment of detamnees,
detainee escapes and accountabihty lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also inquired into traimng, standards,
employment, command policies, and 1nternal policies, concerming the detamees held at
Abu Ghraib pnison  Fmally, the panel looked into the command chmate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

COL 1P, CFLCC — PMO, Interviewer
COL TF-7, Member

LTC m"‘ MP Battahion, Interviewer

CPT =265ﬂ] Engineer Group — SJA, Member
CPT  800™ MP Brigade, Respondent

The interview 15 summanzed as follows

My name s (EEREUNINNNEEEEN My social security number is‘f ama
Captain | am the Inspector General for the 800" MP Brigade

1 am the eves and ears for the commander 1 try to test the climate to see if everythng 1s
fine. If 1t ts not | report any and all deficiencies [ provide assistance to all the down trace
units for investigation and inquines My peacetime miss10n IITOTS MYy Wartine mission,
since we are IR my mission goes 1nto the scope of prisoners, to make sure their treatment
and health and welfare 1s up to standard

1 don't recall the Geneva Conventions being posted in any of the compounds When we
relocated | know that we had some books contaiming detainees rights transcribed to
Arabic so they could be sent to the different compounds

| would say BG Karpinskt and myself have a good working relattonship. She listens to
the advice that | provide her We would have a staff meeting every mght 1f | had 1ssues 1
would address them to her afterwards We tried to have a meeting once a week, 1t didn't
always happen but when scheduled permitted we would meet

| am co-located at Camp Victory with BG Karpinski  She didn’t discuss her command
philosophy with me 1 spent a lot of my time on assistance cases I was on the road a lot
assisting the soldiers with thesr problems

The soldiers never reported abuses to me The command chmate was ever changing, but
I think 1t was healthy  Things were rough in the beginning as far as basic soldiers needs,
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but things gradually got better 1t was my opimion that the detainees were being taken
care of better than the soldiers 1 would bring 1t up to the command and they were
working on 1it, but thing were just moving slow 1 felt sort of helpless at mes because |
was domg all I could Things really made a tum for the better when the DFAC was put
together

Around the August time frame, the major concern was when the soldiers would retum
home [ would brief BG Karpmnsk:, but no one had an answer When Donald Rumsfeld
said units would only stay one year: that made a big change 1n the chmate of the Brigade
Air conditioning, Ice, and water were also major issues m the command

I can’t tell you if the commander brefed the soldiers about their 1ssues, because I was
always out handling my mission, or something directed by the commander

| wasn't able to determine the frequency of misconduct it the unit because at the time |
was not aware of the disciplinary 1ssues with the command As the JAG and myself
started to mesh togetber, 1 started to find out more COL Sllflawas always truthful with
me, but 1 percerved mm as bemng arrogant 1 know he didn’t want to be bothered, but 1
stayed on top of him about information I needed

| really didn’t know much about LTC WllwSEWEk 1 knew he was a Battalion
Commander 1 had received a call from LTC Syiiiiiiilfllgbout looking at some
counsehing staternents for 2 of hus soldier 1 was pleasantly surpnised to recerve a call
from htm regarding his soldiers L TC VUSEEEEER never had spoken to me regarding the
suspenston of command that he had received

From my observation the soldiers were atways in uniform, and always used the general
cusioms and courtesies

Overall ! think the 800" MP Brigade 15 a good unst 1 think that some mistakes were
made and some people lost their morale compass I don’t think there 1s anything that
could have changed 1t I think that the changes within the unit could have had something
to do with it For nstance, LTC i~ as 2 nice guy, but he wasn’'t a fit for tiis
type of job I never expressed my opinion to the Battalion Commander 1 thought that
bringing in more help 10 LTC & would have helped tremendously  Suall, my
gut feeling tells me that he wasn't the man for the job

I would rate LTC *igillllls s command as 2 D or C 1 would rate the 724" MP
Battalion as a C I try to stay away from rumors, but I have heard about sexual relations
between the cormmander and subordinates 1 would rate the 540™ as a B I would rate
the 744" about a C to a B ) would rate the Headquarters asa B I would rate the whole
Brigade as a C | feel that the unit needs help

The books that were translated consisted of ICRC information form the SJA. COL SR
YR e CJTF-7 1G, requesied the enough copies from me to distribute to the different
compounds The Geneva Convention was covered tn these books.



The major 1ssues that I hand dealt with spousal support, promotions, and pay 1 did some
due process reviews of UCMJ actions, and some harassment 1ssues, but not sexual
harassment | did a lot of counseling and tramming that they had to let previous
disciphinary 1ssues with soidiers were things of the past and they had to let them go

The Brigade Commander tasked me to do command chmate-censing cessions for several
MP Battalions and companies [ spoke to the staff and the company commander’s and
got a feel to see 1f there was anything wrong with the commands. No one came to me
about the command, | had two people come with 1ssues not pertaining to the censing
cessIon

1 would brief the General on what came out of the cessions, but there weren't any 1ssues
that | needed to bring to her level for assistance

On the SGM SN tuation, an EO complaint had been sent up the chain I informed
the EO officer that I would speak to the parties involved 1 spoke to both parties [ didn't
receive much feedback from SGM NN I had let him no that when returned back to
the rear thal he would also have 10 1atk to EO The allegation was that the SGM
inappropriately but his arm around a lower enhisted A thard party made the allegation [
briefed the General and toid her what information was there Their was an inveshgation
imuated, and shortly after the SGM was relieved. ! was told that there were also
incidents back at Arnifian, with the SGM and the other party.

1 heard that rumor about the 724" commander and one of her staff officers. I didn’t find
this out unti, way after BG Karpmsk: had took command 1 am not sure if the tncident
had been mmvestigated or not

LTC R v 25 suspended for about a week or so LTC -and LTC —
filled tn while LTC |JMSSEN—was suspended MAJ (JIBbecame the XO m

November

The command’s responses to the aliegations of musconduct towards detamees were taken
very seriously She would have the staff to come in to her office to explain exactly what
happened There were several meetings to review the ROE

i am famihar with AR 190-8, not i detall, but | am famihar BG Karpmski or BG Hill
didn’t task me to conduct spot checks on soldiers, or to see 1f the Geneva Convention was
posted 1 must admit that 1s partly my fault because that 1s one of my responsibilities that
I did not take care of

I just felt from LTC oauifi demeanor that with some of the stronger personalities
in the unit that 1t was a bad chemustry

When [ spoke to soldiers most of the did not have a problem with the chain command, |
say for the mos! part the soldiers were trained to handle the missions 1 chdn’t noticed



written spectal order at any of the guard post, I missed them because 1 wasn’t looking for
them

I have very hirmted knowledge to the allegations of abuse at the BCCF

1 thunk that unlimited access at any given time to the facilities for the ICRC or any of the
other non-governmental agencies would have helped a lot There was a need for ongoing
patrols, so there would be constant watch on everyone throughout the facthty

1 know that early on their was a lot of pressure to get our facility up so that we could
show the world how EPW's were suppose to be treated, as opposed to how our soldiers
were being treated by the Iraqi’s  During that whole process the ICRC was there showing
us how everything was to be  We learned a lot from their presence The problem of
ieadership hammering soldiers for incidents that had happened months ago has to stop 1n
order for the units to run properly

In the in1tial stages | wasn’t aware of any detainee issues I realized the 1ssues were not
with the detainees bui with the soldiers

| would rate discipiine 1n the unit as a 3 with 3 being highest 1n the chart We had a very
large theater of operations where we had to transport detainees all over [ know of the all
the successful trips that happened [ know of the ltving conditions 1in Camp Bucca 1
would say the unit did a good job except for the allegations done by a few personnel

| would rate mussion readiness as a4 We could not set up compounds until we crossed
the burm, so we had to start behind the power curve ‘We aiso had numerous logistical
challenges that made the mission very tough forus All n all I think we did a good job
with all the obstacles that we had to face

The posiuve things that | saw was that the commander fully embraced the leave policy
One we passed the critena everyone was afforded the opportunity to go wherever they
wanted to go on R&R

Ending on a note hike this 1s truly embarrassing and really hurts the umt The whole umt
has 10 suffer for the achons of a few indivaduals

Fimished with their discussion, the panel briefed CPT 4P The pane! then disnussed
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On 10 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the followimng interview. Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D McKiernan, Commanding General of the Coalion Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look nto allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detamee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also mquired into training, standards,
employment, command policies, and internal policies, concerning the detainees held at
Abu Ghanb pnison  Finally, the pane! looked mto the command chimate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

CG-CFLCC, Interviewer
FLCC-SJA, Interviewer
US Army MP School, Fort Leonardwood, MO,

MG Antonio M Taguba,

Interviewer

ILT —72"“ MP Company, Interviewee

The interview 1s summarized as follows

My name 1SARENEENEP 11y social security number IS-. My rank 15

First Lieutenant | am assigned to the 372™ MP Company

I have been assigned 1o the 372™ MP Company for a Iittle over five years [ was first
platoon leader for about 31/2 years and then | was moved to third platoon at Fort Lee
We were mobilized on 24 FEB 2003

We didn’t recerve any training at the MOB station, we did all of our training intemally
We received some range support for one of the ranges but no organized traimng support
exercises from a tramung support umit  We received the standard set of bniefings on
cultural customns, ROE, and other standard bnefings

None of the traiming was mssion focus  We were not aware of our mission requirements,
we just ready to do any kind of MP work The company commander was CPT Reese,
who took over in October 2002

We amived in theater on 15 May 2003 When we amived in Anifjan we were tn ltmbo for
a couple of weeks We ended up at the 310" than transferred to the 1" MEF  We moved
north on 6 JUN 2003, to Al Hila

We assumed a law and order/police hiasson mission with the Mannes We had divided
the city 1n sectors that we would patrol We would mentor police station, tracked
prisoner detention, assisting wath artest, dispose of excess weapons, and vanious other
duties involved with helping out the Iraq: law enforcement We did the musston for four
months

Avsuex 7))



We arrtved at Abu Ghraib-around | OCT 2003 We recerved the Battahon mstruction,
which was ROE, Geneva Convention, riot training, witness of feeding, and a two-week
handoff with 72" MP Company The 320" MP Battalion admimistered the traming.

| was assigned to the 372" MP Company 1n November 2002 The entire company
attended the trmmng. We were given an outline and we gave the trainmng  We didn’t

have a subject matter expert

The purpose of the tranng was to prepare us for the new mission  The mission set we
were given was transporting and escorting  Around November I was told to assist m the
overseemng of Camp Vigilence, on 20 DEC 2003 1 was asked to overlook the hard site, on
21 JAN 2004 1 assumed duties as the company commander, and on 3 FEB 2004 1
relinqu'shed command as company commander My platoon was split guarding the
compound and continuing the transporting and escorting mission  SFC -vas
my platoon sergeant

SFC- ran Camp Vigilence, I checked 1 two or three times a day. I worked all
the special 1ssues for the camp | wasn't mvolved n the detainee counts; he was able to
manage everything He handles pnsoner feeding, camp improvements, counts, and
anyone who came by to visitors 1 diwd not give SFCJIED spccific guidance on the
operations of the prison camp It did not appear a need to give specific guidance It was
understood not to let anyone get away, make sure the detainees are feed, and make sure
the detainees recerve medical attention

{ am not famibar with the contents of Geneva Conventions I probably should be 1
understand that detamees should be treated humanely and with digmty

When | assumed responsibility of the hard site. | didn’t do any changeover with CPT

| just took on the mission There was no specific gmdance given, I just ensured
everything remamed the same I didn’t ask for any gindance, but 1 probably should have.
| was told SOP's were coming through Battalton and Brigade We have yet to receive
any SOP, SFC‘-had made some SOP’s that are st1]] under review

Battalion dictated accountamlity They wanted two counts by I D per week, we did
actual prison counts twe or three times datly The wing NCOIC's conducted the counts
and rolled the reports up to the SOG, the SOG then rolied the reports up to Battalion My
role was to make sure that the counts happened | venfied the counts by word of mouth, !
didn't verify that records were kept because there was never a problem with the counts

There were either two or three escapes out of the hard site  The first escape, a group of
detainees had got out through the 1nfirmary and jumped out of a vacant tower, the second
nme there was a work detail were someone just escaped from, and the last time 1t was an
similar incident but the 1CO's were involved | don’t know if any corrective achions were
taken, | was not involved with any of the prisons when the escapes happened 1 ended up
directing search operations at the time of the incidents



[ assumed responsibility of the hard site on 20 December 2003. I thought I knew the
personnel who worked the hard site, but things have come to light that has mad me
change my opinion of certain people 1 been m the company for five years, so I know the
personnel, but i don’t know them that well. I never checked any records of the personnel

who worked the hard site

[ famihiarized myself with the hard site by meeting with the wing NCO's and touring the
facihity 1 would stop by randomly twice a day; I didn’t have set hours, because 1 shll had
other missions | was 1n charge of 1 didn’t have a defined principle duty; the hard site
QIC was a title that 1 owned 1 didn’t get engrossed n the hard site. 1 constdered
platoon leader as my principle duty. I didn’t categonize my duties; I should have
priontized them

When [ took over the hard site there was 4 Tiers, now there are 6 Tiers. Tier 1A and 1B
are controlled by M1 and we work there 1 am responsible for the MP's at the hard site I
was never responsible for the MI personnel. I understood my mission was to run the
MP's in the hard site M1 took 1A and 1B from us, and CPA always had ownership of
the property 1 was responsible for the security of the Tier, and secunty only. CPT Reese
appointed me OIC of the hard site 1 was not given any guidance nor did I seek any
guidance | was responsibie for the MP's guarding Ther 1A and |B We were
responsibic for counts, feeding, and medical attention

When MI needed our assistance with detainees, they did their request through
memorandums The memorandums would dictate what MI wanted The memorandums
were signed by COLANJand grven to the NCOIC of the wing  The memorandums
would give nstructions on diet patterns, sleep patterns, music playing, and various other
techmques that MI requested the MP’s to carry out I don’t recall a directive for clothing
removal We fell in on clothing removal from the 72", but I don't know any specfics.

| heard of the shooting mncident, but it was well before [ took over at the hard site I heard
that an Iraq1 Corrections Officer smuggled 1in 2 weapon to one of the detanees, three of
or personnel had investigated and had been fired on, our personnel hand returned fire and
wounded the detainee, and they got the detainee to the CASH for medical treatment 1
also had to respond to two Riots at Camp Ganct

We frequenily had visitors at the hard site, they were suppose to stop at the MP's office
but because of its location 1t rarely ever happened There were no firearms allowed on
the tters  ['m not aware of metal asps bewng authonzed in the hard site, but everyone had
knives we didn’t do searches for knives

I made checks about twice a day, ] was looking for looking to make sure weapons

weren t out. a general personnel and accountability check I'm not aware of batons being
allowed 1n the hard site, 1t 1s a touchy subject No one 1s technically authorized to carry
batons are asps 1 did not pat my personnel down when they came for duty It was
established that body Armour and belmets were required and everyone was brought on-



line | couldn’t account for what personnel brought 1n their packets, 1t 15 possible
soldiers could have brought in foreign objects

1 wasn't aware of dogs working in the facility I didn’t know any of the MI interrogators
| have met the Chief, but I can’t recall his name ['ve seen him of and on until present he
sull works there He 1s short, wears glasses, combat CIB, I just can’t recall his name. 1
have met the mterrogators also, but I can’t recall any names

1 have been told that events with CPL (Qjllmand SSG "R occurred between 2200
and 0400 1 usually made my checks during the day. SFC JJllls was usually there
during the mght | personally made no checks after 2200. 1 met SFCAlr during
mobilizatior:, he came with high recommendation from the rest of the E-7 n the
company 1 met CPL4JIfJig# during mobilization, he was assigned to my platoon in
during the summer He was having friction with the First Sergeant, and was transferred
to my platoon | used him as a team leader He was selected by CPT@E: to man the
hard site because of hus corrections experience 1 heard that he had lost a corrections job,
he sued than he got his job back

I have known SSG S0 about five years He was a corrections officer also 1
have only known him professionally He was the mghttime NCOIC 1n the absence of

SFC R He was also the SOG

| didn't receive any report regarding any musconduct in Tier 1A and 1B 1didn’t hear
about the allegations until the investigation started

My understanding that beyond feeding and basic care MI controlied Tier l1A and 1B A
memo was presented to the wing NCOIC when a detainee was needed for M1 purposes
The Tier 1A and 1B wing daytime NCOIC was SGT SR the Naghttime NCOIC 15
CPL G

From 20 DEC 2003 until present | haven’t see any unclothed detainees. I have seen
detamees made to stand for long periods, detainees with bags over therr heads, playing of
music, and sleep deprivation

! knew of SGT Sl bave had no direct contact SPC ’ was my platoon
mechanic 1n Bosnia SPC AsilSiW knew of 1 had daily contact wtth SGT- I
never observed CPL G the performance of hus duties [ had no observations of
SSG - either Things were going smoothly I had no reasons to check up on the
soldiers

| checked in with SFCafgiliP one a day at the 1600 briefing We would discuss 1f
anything umique happened attempted escape, prisoner disturbance, and damage to the
facility, and 1CO behavior CPT Reese and I would meet mghtly to discuss sssues

The panel takes a break in the interview



The command chimate can be described as open most of everyone has been in the
company a long time Morale has been low for a while Unit has been double tapped
with back-to-back mussions The chan of command has been aware of the morale
sttuation They started to let re-frads go and made a relaxed LSA environment. Steps
have been taken but morale 1s sttll low 1t was considered an 1deal deployment until the

allegauons surfaced

We were increasing the amount of discipline, we had just processed ! of 8 Amcle 15's
for various offenses The allegation of detainees abuse did not initiate the Article 15's m

the unit

Qur soldiers were not directly involved in the escapes The ICO's were responsible when
the escapes occurred. The 1CO’s were not under our control they are under control of the
CPA We do not have the factlities, capabilittes, or time to tramn the ICO’s. They are
meompetent

The company commander priorities were to maintain secunty of the pnison, feeding of
prisoners. and health of prisoners Detention Operations can mean a number of different
things My definition of corrections 1s a therapeutic program to rehabilitate someone to
return to society Detention Operations means to me holding someone because they gave
themselves up The train of thought at Abu Graib 1s to not let the detainees get away.

The ICO’s were not allowed to be on Tier 1A and 1B, so 1 wouldn’t have expect the
1CO’s 1o be held accountable The conduct displayed by CPL <@mmmW®and SSG NS
is cnimnal behavior not iIncompetence | feel that the individuals involved should be held
responsible not the chain of command They would wait tell their was no supervision and
then they did what they wanted to do. There 1s no other place in the world that these
individuals could commut these acts and not be held accountable. They gained
crecitabihity i our minds by them having experience in the correctional field

| teel discrpline ts ongoing regardless of mission and morale In the absence of guidance
I {feel that soldiers can look upon the NCO Creed 1 can’t recite 11, but I know 1t’s content
[ have received bnef of the Geneva Convenuon 1 couldn’t tell you the bounds of my
authority as far as being an muilitary poiice, because we haven’t done anything textbook
since we have been here

| have been a military police and an Officer for five years My civihian job 1s a financial
analyst [ don’t know my bounds as a Mihtary Pohice, but | should I foliowed the
mstructions that Ml gave me, | didn’t question COL Pappas, because he 1s my superior
and he 1s a subject matter expert Detention at Abu Graib beyond feeding and medical
treatment was not to iet the prisoners to get away  During my tenure as OIC of the hard
site 1 did not see nor hear of any nude prisoners at the hard site

] have seen memos on sleep deprtvation and feeding t:mes only During sleep
deprivauon they wanted the detainee to get 2 to 4 hours sleeps max. They enforce the



deprivation by making the detainee stand up, and playing loud music  The meal plans
were meals given at random times during a 24-hour period

| am not familtar with the interrogation ROE. 1 am not aware that the Geneva
Conventions had to be posted i the detamee’s language. It did not occurred to me to ask
that question | don’t know my specific nghts in regards to the Geneva Convention; ]
would be nterested n anything that would improve my situation. I would be interested
in whatever | was entitled to

During in mterrogatton I am entitled to disclose name, rank, and serial number at a
maximum | would expect two meals a day, clothing, shelter, and basic medical
treatment  This treatment was provided to all the detainees at the compound

| am embarrassed about what happened in the allegations. My recommendation 1s the
best thing that could happen to the company 1s the retumn of the First Sergeant and the
Commander Anything else would be too comphicated or fanciful. Tramng 1s an
unrealistic expectation due to the shortage of personnel in the umt We have had a not
and two escape attempts in the past week Everything 1s working, but barely The only
way things are going to improve 1s tf we receive an influx of personnel

CPT Wil the new Company Commander An MP company 1s not authonized an XO
| would never pass on an influx of personnel or more training regardless of how things
were goImng

Something that would be helpfui would be a estabhished disconnect between MP’s, MI's,
and CPA The diviston of labor. there 1s a lot of things that need to be done that are not
getung done  We had a serious problem with maintenance, upkeep, contracting, and so
forth My guys had to step up and do things 1n and around the prison that wasn’t being
done My soldiers had 1o suffer because they aren’t i control of the budget, they weren’t
imvolved n the management of the faciltity

The ICO's can’t be trusted We can’t hire them, fire them, pay them, nor reward them
They smuggle 1n drugs and weapons to the facility They ICO’s get searched; things still
getm If we go through the process to get them fired we wouldn’t even have the 1illusion
of some type of security We have tried to discipline and train them but 1t 15 useless We
have brought 1t to the attention of the Battahion commander, the Iraqy Wardens, and the
CPA representanives

Once again, | strongly beheve the return of the Company Commander and the First
Sergeant 15 the best thing that can happen for this company There are all levels of
ieadership starting from the Tier NCOIC on up, which have witnessed the allegations and
nothing was reported, | feel the command should not have to be pumshed for the acts
carnied out by certain mndividuals

Fimished with the interview the panel disrussed | LTS
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. LRS- . WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

Q Track your unit from reebilizationto woday and who was in charge a1 any ume and what they were i charge of

;ﬁ/ 1 was mobilized 24 Feb 03, reporied o Bt Lee VA 27 Feb 03, arnved m theaier 15 May 03, amved at Al Hilla Iraq 6 June
03, rewrn to Arifjan Kuwart for refit late Sep (3, advanced pany arrives at FOB Abu Ghraib Iraq | Oct 04, mamn body arrivesal
FOB Abu Ghrab in middle Oct 33, 2nd platoon arrives at FOB Abu Ghraib 3 Feb 04

A¢Réparding the company chawn of cormand  CPTwilJiJ#as CO from prior to mobiiizatonto late January  LSG {ilnigwwos
'SG from 2002 10 iate January 2003  1si Plawcon Leader was [LT and was replaced by MSG4gig® 10 March
03, SECQua serves as Platoon SGT  CP TN scrved as 2nd Platoon PL until assuming company command in early
Feb 04 3rd Plaroon Leader1s 1L T il  CPT-SanesswSmatepgay 2 4th Plaioon PL with SFC Sigeiim as the
platoan SGT Upen amival at FOB Abu Ghraib CPTeiien became the hardsite OIC with SFC 4gils NCOIC and 4th platoor
working the hardsite. MSG #Willfbecame Camp Vigitant OIC and SFC«iigiii became NCOIC with 1st Platoon working Camp
'tgtlan: | LTmyilalonp with 3rd platoon assumed escort missions, FOO Paying Agent, and various projects pertammng to the
snpany i general  These addinional projects were not prison related  Upon redeploymenthome of MSG Bl in mud Nov 03
1 LT Ji®assumed the position of Camp Vigilant OIC Upon redeployment home of CP TSl on 20 Dec 03 1L T Sgulillbr
assumed the pasition of Hardsite Q1C - Around 20 Jan 04 [ L TN assumes acling command of 372nd MP pending return of
CrT4B o: CPTallor additiona) orders 4 Feb 04 CPT 4R assumes acting company command of 372nd MP CO

Q Explon the traimng at the mobilization site, the rauung vou 2ot when you ook over the hard site

Pt
Ay . .

A F]‘%lmng al the memlizanon sue was a standard pachage of ranges, CT trawung and Ft Lee sponsored lectures  Indivadual

company level raring was conducted focusing on Combat Support MP Operanons (convoy escort, V1P escorl, route recon,

velucle recavery, defencd a site, vehicle checkpownts, searches, UXOs, and MOUT) 10 accordance with the 19-4 Manual.

A p{m arnving al FOB Abu Ghraib the company received Baualion direcled or supporied Lraimng on riot centrol, non-lethal
mumtions, ROE, and Gane Feeding  The 372nd MP also had an exwensive npim sear/lefi sean nide hand off from the 72nd MP CO
(the unn operating Camp Vigliani and The Hardsite prison prior 1o 372nd MP

QO ‘What was your mission al the Hardsue? Who gave vou that mission” and What dhd you thmb that encompassed?
7

ry ‘_’: -
L5 Ny mussion was to oversee MP operauons of the hardsie prison effective 20 Dec 03

B Reese appoinied me 10 that posiian
Z/AMought 11 encompassed the secure operation of the hardsic e accountablity, secunty, medical, and feedmg of the detainees

G Tell us abow meeungs, accountability, briefings etc  with your company and/or battahion

¢ n(c Company CO attends the daily morng brief to the batianon in which he briefs the number of beds available as well as
power and water status of the hardstte 1o the Battahon Commander Tiie Company holds 2 mghtly meeting at 1630 for company
busimgss

i, BRliailon reauires 2 puisoner counts per shift to be phoned into them  These are verified by the NCOIC with 2 counts conducted
oy lragi Correctior Officers (JCOs) mndependently  These counts are then phoned to Batialion  Additional counts (usually 1 or 2 a
day) are nor urcommon because of logistical needs or spectal requests  in addition there are 2 counts a week by prisoner [D
bracelet These tdo are delivered to battahion by the NCOIC
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¢ STATEMENT {Cornauedi _
Q 'I:iu%us abou shift change, workers (guards) germng 1n and out of the hardsite

#’Eh}‘fl ¢hange 1s very chaotic  The 1COs operate on a rolling shuft - Rarely are they able to effecuvely pass on imformanon
affecpvely because of 1 They often abandon posts or miss procedures because of this - Especially newly implemented procedures

< Iirine the renovation of the hardsite the numbers of workers posed severe secunity risks to the hardsite  Counled wath the
large numbers of 1COs this severely complicated security within the hardsite  Since the conclusion of most of the CPA renovation
projects the numbers of contractorshas declined  Access pomts (oo the hardsite prison have also been restnctedto 4 1 of whick
can only be used by M1 | cannat provide addinonal details as I was niot present ail the bardsie during most of the renovanion
contracts 1 arnved just 4s most were wrapping up

Q When you were 1old/ordered to take over the hardsite what additional gutdance were you given”
Mf’f-a—q iold to just heen tinngs runmng smoothty Jusi chech up with the NCOs and assist with any special needs or situalions
Q Tell us in detai} what you would get from MI when bemng instrucied 1o do centan thungs,

ﬂ.ﬁé’gund my artival {1 don't know eXxactly when) al the hardsie it became procedure for MI 1o drop off at uer 1A/IB signed
memos prescribing any special treatment that they requuired mmates (o recerve  These memos normally contained special
wmsmructions for feeding (limes and types of food) as well as sieep plans (nmes, duration of sleep and methods of preventing sieep)
These memos were reguired 10 be signed by the M1 CO at Abu Ghrap  Smee January I have had discussions with MAJ Price (MI)
and CW4 Revas (M) and we bave all agreed thar all such memos must be very sumple and clear with wstructians explained at the
mos! basic ievel for the MPs operaungin 1Af/1B MPs 2' 1A/1B with questions regardmng these memos or therr instructions are to
unirze therr cham of command for clanficauon

7 Tell us abowt any escapes/niots/shooting- what happened why. when - what corrective action was taken

f"/]"ﬁfc; no direct role 1n any of these actions so my data wil! be skeichy | am aware of 2 maybe 3 escapes from the hardsite
prison  Ons was an escape thal mvolved 2 or 3 pnsoners escapng through therr window T tmnok % may have happened i the
mfirmary bur [ m not sure  No one (mcluding the 1COs) heard them removing the barriers on therr window  They ran across he
unoecupied fields using cover 1o make 1t 1o an unmanned guarc tower where they changed clothes chmbed the tower and jumped
the perimerer wall | guess s was in Oct 1 was pan of the search effort which was unsuccessful The second agempt-was off off
a work detall A soldier (non 372nd MP) was using a group of Iraqis for somethung 2 or 3 went 1o the bathroom and never
returnec | was agam called to assist with 2 frniless searcl: 1 don't recall the date of thus escape A final escape occurred where
a 1CO selected a certan mumate for 2 work task,  The ICO gave the inmale cloths to change nio at a portable 1oilet and the wo left
together  Nerther has been seen  Agam I don'r recall the date | am not aware of any corrective actions other than additional ICO
placement for these incidents

e have been no nots wn the hardsite prison - A not imphes l0ss of control of at least a ner  That has not happened since
before Cct 03 and I'm not aware 1f 1t ever happened before that  What has happened on 2 or 3 occasions are tier disturbances
Prisoners being loud and rowdy Throwing things, breaking things, bewng hosule and disruptuve  This 1s what occurred og 8 Feb
04 mier SA  While o s loud, messy, and destrucuve the prisoners were all confined to their cells  These disturbances cause 2
general "lock down” of all uers, and the calling of the [RF and or QRF and sometimes K-9 MPs don riot gear and pertorm cel!
extractions o1 those deemed to be instigalors  Insugators are pumshed with solitary confinemen:  Tiers can be punished with loss
of privileges  For the § Feb 04 ineident CPA *lncd to quell the disturbance using 1COs  When thus faled
MAJ Dinenna assumed control and used the IRF with K-9 and 372nd MP support 10 perform the necessary eatrachons
ACREG date there has been ooly 1 shooting in the hardsue prison  The rest have beenwn Ganer  There have been no shots fired in
Camyp Vizitant sinee the summer of 03 by the 72nd MP CO  The hardsite prisan shaoung consisted of a gun batlle berweena Ml
security dewainee (that received a weapon smuggled i by an 1CO) and several of the hardsie MPs  This act causec 1COs 10 be
banned from traveling near and around the 1A/1B as was their custom prior 10 Oct/Nov (02 Again | cannot recall the exact dawe
The MPs an duty (1 A/1B nughi-shift) were alerted by one M| security derainee that another had & weapon (firearm) The MPs
suited up 1n body armor and keviar and armed themseives and went o the suspected personi's cell  He was ordered 1o come 1o Lhe
door He ran 10 the back of the cell and opened fire witk a handgun  The MPs returned fire striking the subject m the leps  Upon
runiung out of amununiion the detainee surrendered  He was secured and moved for medical treaiment  C{D invesugated the

wncident, nuomerous 1COs were apprehended and helc anc the prisoner rejummed to | A/1B when medically fil 1o do so  Agam | had
no direct role m this action

Q Reccomendanons you would make to processes, conditions, ect that needs 10 be done to prevent abuse

A"/fﬁﬁ;\'mg what 1 now know about the 1liegal acts commuited by a select few on Tier 1A/1B 1 reccomend we conbinue the mghtly
randon chiechs by an E-7 or Ingher conducied a1 al) sies
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t STHTEMENT [Conimued:

] would also recommend that all soldhers 1nvoh ed tn detainee handimge undergo addiional mission specific iraining as wel &
ethucal instruction vy final recommenaation would be tor packgrouna screemng 10 be per formed periocicalivon all MPs Tae
should melude wmpw from the soldiet s civilian emplover

Q Tell us abou! 3 escape anemp1s il pas: week as well as the ot - tell us about all escapes ect

Aﬁﬁﬁve already discussed some of this quesuion al length so 1 will focus on the ocourrences of the last 5 or 6 daysnow  Or the
morung of 4 Feb 04 the 1COs aletted the NCOIC to what the NCOIC.percerved to be an escape  Once a translator was found
was discovered that no one had escaped but thal 7 prisoners (the residents of a cell m ver 3B) had been found by the 1CQs 1o have
broken apart a bunk and were using 11 to chip away arthewrr wandow  Damage 1o cell was minmmal and the prisonsrs were put bl
sahitary ‘The neat atempr was on the nigitof S Feb 04 The mght ime NCOIC noticed that the vard bghis were off He
mstrucred the 1COs o wrn them on Upon domg 50 he saw masonry on the ground Tier 4A was locked down and 7 ndividuals
were found n cell with a broken water pipe (take from their room's water feed luie) 10 have chipped away about haif of their
window They had also constructed a rope ladder from shredded blankets Agaimn all participants were put 11 solitary
confinementt On 7 Feb 04 the occupants of tier 3A were using the improvised recreanonyard. While the MP was distracied by
correcting some 1CO behavior an inmate squeezed berween the concertina wire and the wall of the building and took off runmng
The MP presem pave cliase  Several other MPs saw the prisoner and gave chase  He was evemually caught by a soldier passing
by and 372nd MPs 1t feot pursuit  He was then placed n soluary confinement  Dunng ns attempt Tier SA mmates were rushed
back utto their cells  During the movement they surged on the ICOs and destroyed a table some chairs and a space heater before
the 1C0s and MPs go! them back into therr cells  The disturnace at Tier SA on § Feb (4 was discussed previously on page 2 of tig
Teport

Q Tell us about umforms, standards and ec! for guards on durty at the hard stte
&% orms arg u- accordance with AR 670-1  Cold weather gear 1s authorized Body armor and Keviar are required when in

proxtmuy of prisoners as oer 800th MP Brigade orders These standards are enforced by the Company and Bantalion Chamn of
Command

Y Who was who in your company and platoon”?

Mﬂm company, CPTNCO (suspended), 1SG gl SG (suspended), MSG %™ 51 Platoon Leader/O1C Viguani

(has left;, SFC?]S[ Plaioon PSG/OIC/NCOIC Camp Vigilan', CPT 2nd Platoon PL/Acung Company CQO, SFC
cong 1SG, | LT« PL 3rd Platoon OIC Hard sute Pnison, C 4th Platgon PL/OIC Hard site (has lefi), SFC

1 Piatoor PSG/NCOIC Hard sne (suspended;, SSG Wl th Platoon 1st SL/Daytime NCOIC Hard site/Acting 4th
Platoon PL  SSGe@ll 3¢ Platoon Hard site mght ume NCOIC, SSG Samimmsk Operations/Hardsie mpht nme NCOIC
{suspended;, CPLadiigms {now SPC) 3rd Plaoon/Tier 1 A/1B (suspended), SGT 4th Platoon daytime Tier 1A/1B SPC
Harmon and Ambule 4th Platoon Tier | A/1B (suspanded), SGTT? 88 {moved 10 new assignment) 4th Platoon
anc maht time hard sie operations SPC g6 (mechame) and SPC {clerk) Operations Plaioon 372nd {both suspended)

AFFIDAVIT
: H HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT
WHICH BEGINS ON FAGE 1 AND ENDS OM PAGE__ ¥~ | FULLY JNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE

BY Mt THE STATEMENTIS TRUE 1 HAVE INITIALED ALL CORAECTIONSAND HAVE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE
CONTAININCG THE STATEMEN™ | HAVE MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFIT OR REWARD WITHOUT
THREA™ OF PUNISHIMENT AND WITHOUT COERCION UN_AWFUL INFLUENCE OR
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G STATEMENT (Conunued;
O Who was your chain of command up to your Brigade Commander®

chalo of command consisted of CPT N, CPT e A1 SR 14! SIbwm, LTC Wy - BC

Q Tell us how you mreract with the 1COs

J(""Pﬁ’él Hard Site MPs act as mentors 10 the 1COs we provide consiani spot correciions, and ensure they do not abuse the prisoners
The Hard Sue MPs have are in constant cofitact with the 1C0s

Q 1f you had a problem with anything who would yoo go 1o”

ﬁﬁaﬁxy hard site problems | would first consul with the NCOs of the harsite for input  Upon determirung the scope and scale
of the problem and estimating the requirements for a solution vanous other people could be contacted depending on the nature of
the 1sstc  CPTg@gimm, CPT . MA] NN A) apd LTC SNl were ronupely avaiable For more
speciahized needs there are e 1CO ,lhe CPA | CP ost Engineer Support), MA) @IS (S-4) and the
entire staff of 320th MP BN as well as yarious Abu Ghraib gupport sta

1 have answered these duesuions to the bes, of my abiluy - Should any clartficationbe required please contact me  1LT Raeder
Lews C =22 o7

INITIALE OF PERSON MAKING STATEMENT _ )
l PAGE / OF Z PAGES

PAGE 2 DA FORM 2823 DEC 71998 USAPA V1 00




On |5 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the following interview Major General Taguba was appomnted as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
Genera! David D McKternan, Commandmg General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into allegations of maltreatment of detamees,
detainee escapes and accountabihity lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also :nqured into traimng, standards,
employmenl, command policies, and mternal pohicies, conceming the detainees held at
Abu Ghraib prison  Finally, the panel looked 1nto the command climate and the
command and supervisory presence

The foliowng persons were present

MP, CFLCC - PMOQ, Interviewer

705™ MP Battahion, Interviewer
Engineer Group — SJA, Interviewer
, 800™ MP Brigade, Interviewee

The interview 1s summarized as follows

My name 1s m My social secunity number is—
h am the Aide-de-Camp for Brigadier General Karpinski

[ am responsible for overall safetg I act as a PSO [ am also a schedule manager. M
branch 1s MP T came to the 800" MP Brigade as BG Hill’s Ald-de-Ca.mpﬁ

I went through MOB traming at Fort Dix - We training consisted of conduct, ROE, and
family separation We did weapons qualification and j-hst training. We dd an internal
CPX We trained on Geneva Conventions

BG Karpinski traveled quite often  There would be times we would go daily to the
Baghdad Correctional Facility and at least twice a month to Camp Bucea or the prisons in

. the Mosul Area When we went to Abu Graib she would touch base Battalion
Commander There were some changes in the position of Battalion Commander;ithe
current Battalion Commander 15# It 15 my understanding that when the M1
took over the facihity the 800™ MP Brigade was removed from oversight I believe there
was a discussion berween BG Karpinsk: and about who was m control of
was L

There was nothing out of the ordinary when I visited Abu Graib There were munor
uniform discrepancies, but nothing major 1 am not aware of the 163™ MI trying fo set
standards as far as saluting 1 recall a discussion between BG Karpinski an'h
about living conditions as far as expanding the troop hving area. [ don’t recall B

Karpinski’s comments 1n regards to the expansion. 1 never stt 1n on conversations nor
tetephone calls that the General has

Avuey 7%



I'd say BG Karpinski and myself have a pretty good relationship She is a very smart
lady, she knows her yob, and I respect her a lot  She 1s hands-on when she needs to be,
but she normally steps back and lets her leaders be leaders If she sees something gowng

off track she wall step 1n

I am famhar -uspensmn from his command If1 recall correctly the
break in command was due to a couple of mncidents, starting with the bniefings given to
LTG Sanchez. The briefing wasn’t put out very well at afl. “was
unprepared He did a pre-bref for BG Karpmsk: where she pomted out things she wanted
fixed, they were never fixed In addition there were taskings BG Karpnsk wanted 1o be

done that were never completed. 1 do net know if the suspension 1s documented. I thmnk
he was the ttime away from the command to regroup and get focused again, 1 believe

when BG Karpinski felt ”vas ready he was put back mn his position.
_rptook s role during the suspension.

My opimon of 1s that he 1s not a very confident leader. 1 feel that he
doesn't have that leader’s presence | don’t know the morale of the unit. I’m not certan
about the command climate; I do know his staff 1s loyal to im I beheve the SGM has
held censing session, but I don’t know the outcome,

We have 3 or 4 different prisons in Baghdad that we would visit regularly, to check up on
troops, to see 1f they needed anything, and to let the soldier know they were not

forgotton The number one prionty on the general’s hist was the BCCF  Once the 205™
MP Battahion took control of the BCCF the next pnong would have been Camp Bucca

I would say there was a decrease 1n visits after the 205™ took over

Her command philosophy was to focus on the mission, keep safe at all ames, and the
treatment of detainees vnth dignity and respect  She didn’t have anything wntten, but
after she took command she made her stops at every umt at every site

There has not been an abnormal amount of disciphinary actions n this unit. | have heard
of all of the disciphnary actions of the unit 1 wouldn’t say that 1s the norm, it’s not
proper conduct for anyone in uniform BG Karpinski has been very sinict towards the
mfractions that have happened m the unit | would say that leaders that have been
involved 1n some of the disciplinary mcidents have either been suspended or rehieved

When BG Karpins: visited the units after the change of command she would meet with
the Battalion Commander, and the Company Commanders The CSM would talk to all of
the semor enlisted

1 was 1n an AGR status starting October 2002 with the 306™ MP battalion. I then was the

or BG Hill in January 2003  Previously I was a platoon leader n the
340 ompany and 423™ MP Company, and I did Byrs enlisted active duty as an
1B



I still have the scheduies that ] had made for BG Karpmsk:

When 1 accompanied the General on her command visits her man focus was the force
protection, the force protection posture, the penmeter, needs of the Command, and
soldier’s MWR 1ssues I believe she was aware of the problems with the S-1, but the unit
has been overwhelmed with awards and NCOER's  She has aiso been aware of the
numerous problems with the S-4 and the problem getting supphes.

| believe reports of survey have been done for the light sets at Abu Graib It took a long
time to get engmeer support for Abu Graib, things didn’t get situated to the M.I. got on
ground My own opinion 1s that active duty got support where the reserves did not My
opmion 1s that the FOE commander was supported more by LTG Sanchez than BG

Kaminski I’m not sure 1f LTG Sanchez lost faith in the MP's after the briefing from
h:f so I feel that was a very harsh assumption.

! feel the BG Karpinski and LTG Sanchez had a good working relahonshup, 1thmnk she
spoke to LTG Sanchez every 3 days or so There were lots of request put in, and they
came back denied for different reasons My observation was that prionity went to 41D,
LO1%, or whoever else

We would always walk through the compounds BG Karpinski would ask the compound
staff about population, how much space, how much food, and general detainee health and
welfare 1ssues She would ask about the command climate and if there was a problem
what she could do to resolve 1t

She would ask about detaince treatment, but nothing specific to tbe Geneva Convention
Everyone had already received briefings and traming mn regards to the Geneva
Convention She would ask about the problems encountered with detamnees and how they
were solved 1 never saw the Geneva Conventiun posted, I knew there were SOP’s
posted There was hand wnitten special orders manning the guard post, the general would
inquire and make sure the orders were up to date

When the general was informed of detainee deaths and abuses around the compounds she
was upsel She would mquire to what exactly happened She would then inquire about
the status of the detainees and soldiers that were mvolved 1n the vantous mcidents

My opinion 1s that the umit should receive mare frequent classes on detamnee treatment
and remnforcement of training 1n ROE

The battalions shared lessons learned through the 8-3’s of the Brigade, the S-3’s of the
different units would inform each other of trends they have seen and solutions they have
used The general would hold a commander's call about once a month. 1 can’t recall the
1ssues that were addressed

After an incidents had happened at the compounds, we would evaluate the who, what,
when, why, and how to see what had to be changed. The Camp Bucca incident happened



night at the end of General Hill’s command. I beheve the incident had been discussed 1n
BG Karpinski’s commander’s call.

To my knowledge the rumor of sexual misconduct between a Battahon Commander and a
Captain never made 1t to the level of allcgatlons or an nvestigation, I am not sure 1f BG
Karpinsk: was aware. The rumor was the 724"™ Battalion Commander had a sexual
encounter with her female assnstam‘ 1 believe that incident also took place during
General Hill’s tenure

Detamnee Abuses or misconduct is reported to JAG or 1G. 1am not aware of any lack of
responsiveness to commanders, People who make reports or not looked at negatively, It
was MP’s that brought “he ncident tn Camp Bucca to light.

To my knowledge BG Karpinkski did not withhold junsdiction from the CFL.CC
Cornmander on any of her officer disciplinary 1ssues 1t criminal activity was committed
there were no second chances grven because it was not a mistake. I would say responses
to disctphnary infractions in the command are about nght on target not to lentent, not too
harsh

Fimished with their discussion, the panei gave list of 1terns, to be addressed,
and brought back on a Swom Statement The panel then dismissed ILT
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1 LOCATION 2 DATE (YYYYMMDD) {23 TIME 4 FILE NUMBER
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7 GRADEISTATUS

5 LAST NAME, FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME 6 SSN -

8 ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
800th MP BDE

9
| E WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

While serving 4s the Aide-De-Camp for BG Karpinski from July 2005 until the present, 1 was present for almost all of her visits to
detention Jecations throughout lrag When BG Karpinski would arnve at a facthity she wonld be given an update by the unit that
was there on the current staws of the facility operauon  She would discuss any concerns the vt commander had and offer
soultions or advise them that she would take whatever action she could to rectufy the problem upon returnmg to the 800th MP BDE
TOC She would ask the commander severa] questtons concermng the detamnees and their welfare  Also queshions abowt the troops
weltare and force protecuon BG Karpinsk would thep walk around the facility and talk to the soldiers on duty to get ther take on
the sitwanon at thal facinty BG Karpmsk: would ask them how they were, what kmd of shift they were on, how long had they
been on shift, whal were they respansible for, how were the detainees behaving, when had the soldier called home last, what were
the emergency procedures did they have lethal or non-lethat m thewr weapon, did they check the weapons when they came on shift
1o ensure what kind of rounds were 1n the weapon BG Karpinsky would look at the facility and pont out any potential hazards for
the soldiers, detamnees or possible weaknesses thar would cpable a detamee to escape  BG Karpmnsks would also note any force
protection 1ssues and discuss ways to improve force protecuon I there were Iragy prison gurads working at the facility she would
inquire about them to the facility commander and speak to several of them as she went through the facilty  The visit would end
with a recap of what the facility 1ssues were and possible solubons, and then we would return to the bnngade TOC or on to the next
locanon As 1equested ) have attached the copies of my calender that 1 used to mamntam BG Karpinski's schedule  The first two
weeks of January 2004 are mussing due to me not keeping track of them on = calander format, the remavung two weeks of January
and February are present untu the day we left Baghdad The days on which BG Karpinsk gave her "Command Pinlosophy”® was
duning the imnal visn with BG Hill dunpg the last two weeks of June 2003 1 would also note that throughout the operation as the
mission developed, BG Karpinski would visit the facilities 1o ensure that the commanders at the facihiies were clear on any changes
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On 9 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antomo Taguba,
conducted the following mterview Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D. McKiernan, Commanding General of the Coahtion Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detamnee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also mquired into traming, standards,
employment, command pohicies, and nternal polictes, concerning the detamnees held at
Abu Ghraib prison. Finalty, the panel looked 1nto the command climate and the
command and supervisory presence

The followmg persons were present

| MP, CFLCC - PMO, Interviewer
C - SJA, Interviewer

LTC 705™ MP Battalton, Interviewer
ILT HHC, 320" MP Battalion, Respondent
SSG , 27D30, CFLCC - SJA, Recorder

The mterview 15 summanzed as follows

My name 1s My social security number 15_1 am

currently the Headquarters Company Commander of 320" Military Police Battalion, at
Abu Ghraib BCCF I am Reserve [ was involuntanly transferred from the 305" Military
Police Company There, 1 was company commander for a short time, platoon leader, and
a squad leader prior to that For us unfortunate Reservist, they force you from the unit
you’re 1, to a unit that has a vacancy that’s deploying

My orders to the 320" are dated 27 November 2002 My role 1s basically to tramn for the
urut’s mission, prepare for deployment, manage supply motors But, as far as mission, 1
don’t have any operational responsibility for the confinement piece The operation aspect
falls to the S3, once we become operational I mamntain supply motors, and suppott of
headquarters company personnel After that, when 1t comes fime to re-deploy, then I put
together the re-deployment mece

My orders are dated November, but we conducled the change of command inventory 1n
January The first time I came to the unit was in January 1 fimshed up and drilled with
my old umit tn December, to wrap up administrative matters and duties that [ had with the
305", before reporting to the 320™ 1n January We call 1t “driling on a 1310 ” Basically,
you dnll with another unit for that month, 1f your command approves you to dnll with
another umt

When we got over here, we were at Camp Bucca, first Then, we moved to Abu at the
end of July - the 23", Our duties remaned the same
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It’s tough for me to address a lot of the traming - any traiming that occurred prior to us
leaving. I was there for one drill The dnil that I was there, was geared pnimarily toward
equipment mamtenance, licensing, and DRS trarming for S1 and inprocessing personnel.
The tramng that was conducted prior to that, I can’t comment on, because I wasn’t there
I have to assume that the unrt was trained on Internment/Resettlement Operations,
because that’s the unit’s mission. As part of the 305%, we did our annual traimng
normally with the 320", wiach always invoived IR Operations

Tramning was ongoing, because we constantly had to adapt to the mussion When we first
arnved, very little of what we did mvolved U.S. Army doctrine, becanse we took over a
Bntish established facility We had to fall into their program, which was a good bit
Gifferent from what we had tramned on So, we constantly upgraded and adapied to what
we were domg

Specific traimng, as far as mssion goes, I can’t address, because I’m not at those shift
change bnefs, guard mount brniefs, when they have that kind of ongoing tratning My role
1s more in the company area, than 1 the confinement area I do occasionally go down
there, only to talk to soldiers, to see how soldiers are going 1 never have any mput to the
soldiers on ground 1n the facilities, as far as the operational mission, here, because that’s
not my role, and 1 don’t want to step into something that runs counter to what they’ve
been told by the S3 or the Operattons Sergeant Major Because, 1t’s very confusing for
soldiers as 1t 1s to have a Company Commander, and an S3 and an Operations Sergeant
Major, because 1t’s like they have two masters They work for me, when they go home,
when they go to work, they work for someone else So, when I go into those areas, I
deliberately stay away from talking operations After we got on the ground here, that
training piece belonged to Operations, because they're the ones with their ear to the
ground They identify training needs, and address those needs as they go along Of
course, we conduct EQ, Sexual Harassment traiming, and Rules of Engagemen! traming

I do those preces

We did have a coupie of escapes Assaults? No, ] didn’t hear anything. After our
sttuation at Bucca, my guys are gun-shy about doing anything that would be considered
abuse IfI heard anything, I would immediately report that to the Battalion Commander
1t 15 the Battahon Commander’s responsibility to take actions, but if he didn’t, 1 would go
to then next higher commander or the 1G, to make sure the 1ssue 1s brought forth

Obviously, we could address 1t at my level from a UCMIJ standpoint But, in my personal
opinion, any issue that deals with abuse of detainees 15 not approprately handled at
company level

There 1s no policy, withholding junsdiction to the Battalion level for certain cases !
know where Tier 1A and Tier 1B are at  I'm not aware of any of the policies at the
prison [’ve been at the hard site one time



I’'m also responsible for motors, promotions, admintstration, food, clothes, water ~
everything but operations 1 don’t make up operations trammg. If the S3 asks me to tran
on something, I'll do that traming  But, as far as creating operational traming, that would

be outside my lane.

We just fimished traming the CJTF-7 Rules of Engagement, which were published in
December, 1 believe. We follow the standard theatre rules of engagement, which now
melude detainee preces, because of some 1ssues that bappened dunng some riots several
months ago We don’t publish or post a ROE different from the exasting CJTF-7 ROE,
We print 1t off directly as 1t 1s published, and post that at all the towers, guard posts,
the tents, etc.. There 1s no separate or alternate set of rules that we have within the
facility.

I think the latest Rules of Engagement more than adequately addresses what actions
should be taken with escaping prisoners, prisoners that are endangering the lives or safety
of MP’s or Coaliion personnel  And, we have a Battahon SOP, wiuch addresses rules of
mteraction, as far as dealing with detainees i general [ can’t think of anything that 1s
not covered in those two documents

We are void of military police personnel Each compound should have, I believe, 8
MP’s Most of our compounds have two, augmented by a clerk, a cook, and a supply
soldier We've lost 27 personnel to REFRAD, since we’ve come 1n theatre, and we don’t
get replacements for those folks We need E1 — E4 military police personnel

Non-MP personnel stand at the gate with a shotgun, they escort detainees on work details,
they conduct headcounts, go through the feeding procedures. A lot of the paperwork 1s
handled by the cooks, supply folk, MP’s, because we're short clerks So, everyone on the
ground 15 doing everything

These cooks, clerks, supply personnel work side by side with the MP’s since thus started.
Essentially, they’ve been on a “nght seat nde” from day one So, they know exactly
what MP’s do, because they’ve been there seen 1t, and watched 1t for months, before we
plug them mto a position Now, they’re locked 1nto those positions, because of therr
knowledge and the time that they’ve spent with MP’s n that role  There are always MP’s
at the compound with them 1don’t believe any of them work 1 Tier 1A or Tier 1B
They only work at Camp Gancy with Secunity detainees I've been to the hard stand,
once My soldiers don’t work with the M1 at all, so ] can’t address what their nussion 1s

My Battalion Commander 15 LTC— Isee LTC-evcral times a
day He lives nght across the courtyard from my CP It’s not uncommen for me to go to
lunch or dinner with lum, and I see tum at daily staff call

At staff call we discuss staffing The Operations goes through a rundown of the previous
day’s events — any r10ts, searches, contraband that was discovered, supply shortages,
feeding problems It’s like siting 1n on a mayor’s meeting at a village.



Issues that I’ve brought up are always handled within very short order We had a
Sergeant First Class (Promotable) that had an EO complaint, and he stepped outside of
what was outhined in he reprisal plan, and I recommended to LTC Phillabaum, that
UCMJ action be taken, and 1t was. A female soldier felt she was sexually harassed, and
the case was expeditiously handled, by the Battalion Commander.

The only 1ssues we’ve had at BCCF were a couple of escapes that happened early on. In
those instances things were identified that we need to do differently, and were addressed.
None of the escapes were the fault of my soldiers, specifically, but we did go back and
re-tram

The panel stopped, to discuss 1LT-statements

Frmished with their discussion, the panel gave lLT-a list of items, to be addressed,
and brought back on a Sworn Statement
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: — WANT T MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNCER DATH
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My role as HHO © ommmder once 10 the theater of operations can be compared 1o that of a parent | am responsible for making
siie thar all bastabion porsomne! have o place to hve water 1o drink feod 1o eat, clothes 10 wear  velicles o dnve, and that all of
then admuustrann neess are met When necessary 1 counsel and pumish [ have a small group of abont {{) soldiers who report
directiv i ane hedp me fo ensure that all of the above menuoned tasks are accompiished 1 am not tnvolved i direction ol
battihion persmne m o omnhishment of the vmit's detined mmssion  In this case tnternment/resentement operatons  That job
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dat on unnsolaie s needs and requirements and this almost completely ehiminates getung inio each others tane 1 am regularly
ashed My oprens o rateb crm on deaision mahine sessions that mvolve ooerattonal maners [ also regularhy ash the §-3 tor
B opinons ai condati

2 Further crpivin ROD i RO When were thev aporoved tramed and disiribured?

The rodes ot enveoo e dehne the mherent nght to seil-detense and the appheation and levels of jorie necessary (0 counter 2
o The am o~ e sramed on the Toles of engagenent several imes durmg this operation Tranmg i conducted each nme
the wles ddimes o e s pdatee The nsbal ranmong on the CFLCC ROE (dated 31 Jan 03) was conducted al Camp Anfjan,

Ruvanani 17 Moo Trgnang was conducted on the 800t MP BDE ROE on 18 May 03 tundaredr 18 Aug 03 (undated). and
30 AM U adaee N0 03 Tramme was conduced on the CITF 7 ROE in January (4 &t shoukd e neted that the first part of
the 300 MP RIYE RE:Z Chsely tollows the theprer ROE The second part of the 800th ROE pertams 1o detainee operations

Tiee rules vi meradiin chae o the conduct of soldiers when dealing wilh detainees i siuations ML do not mvolve hostie aciio
o hreats i 1S sobices The ROY refers to respectiul treaument prohibinion against tratermization  1espedt for religrons material,
gte 1425 a very hasie muiaehne for standards of conduct m detamee operatnons  Our RO! 1s contamed i the bartalion SOP that
was published on 2 Felo 03 Loweas wranted durmg motuhizauen at FE Din NI March 03 and agaun a1t Camp Bucta Iraq on 18
Ma 113 The ROT e ey Chanped durning the operabion

‘Ei Woat wa e 0 oosappoTt the methadalogs ot plactng cooks clerks and supply personnel m MP positions at Camip

101

Whire Dyas i s b decision making process §oam aware of won s detision was made  Sunply there were no MP to fil

'l}m\\ pesttee e ey dost 19 MP tor vanous reasons smce deplavment The other upits o BCF are 1in the same siuation
[T T TN TT I ol wark

4 How olwen s ou cud e Battahwu Comymander 20w the compounds 1o mteract with the vohders? What tnne of day’

oy oo e comyp oty asound onve o weeh normatin s the morning aner stath call or right anicr lunch when they change
shitis — Mnosi ot b1 e icnion with the soldiers oceus an the LSA The Banalion Commander 1 i the compounds every day at
al) difleren e He spoads so muck ome tiere thai some of thie NCO's have complained  They teel that ar tmes they gel
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On 10 February 2004, a team of officers, at the direction of Major General Antonio
Taguba, conducted the following interview. Major General Taguba was appomted as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D. McKieman, Commanding General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into allegations of maltreatment of detamees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Gharib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also mquired into training, standards,
employment, command policies, and mnternal policies, concerning the detamnees held at
Abu Ghanb prison  Fmally, the panel looked mto the cornmand climate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

COL MP, CFCC - PMQ, Interviewer

LTC LCC — SJA, Interviewer

05th MP Battalon, Interviewer
29th MP Company, Respondent

The interview 15 summarized as follows

My name 15- I’'m a First Lieutenant with the 229th MP Company, Virginia
Army National Guard, currently located at the Baghdad Central Confinement Facility at
Abu Ghanb My social security number 1 I’'m 1n charge of 3rd Platoon,
and we’ve been tasked to orgamze at Abu Ghanb Qur mission 1s to run the Internal
Reaction Force, and to provide escort guards wittun the confines of the facility 1 enlisted
in 1985 1 was mfantry active duty for 3 years After an 11-year break 1n service, I went
to the National Guard, and to OCS I’ve been with the 229th MP Company, since 2001.

My commander 1s CPT We’ve been at the BCCF, since Avgust 2003 1
was TDY 1n Saudi1 Arabia, prior to that The rest of my company was at Camp Doha,
Kuwart

We did some confinement tramng, at the MOB Station It was anticipated, that we
would have that mission when we amved We did customs when we arrived, but our
nussion at the pnson 1s pretty much a no-bramer

It seems, being a National Guard Company, we do a lot of things on our own, when we
should have more help from the battalions A lot of questions we’ve had, pertaimng to

movement, I've had to go outside the chain

Our living conditions aren’t that bed We have a hard roof, over our heads, MRE’s, and
water, so | can’t complain
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We are way short of persennel When we’re short, we suck it up, and work longer hours
I’m m charge of the Internal Reaction Force I've got 10 guys that are on call 24 hours a
day Since I have 2 missions, I've been able to sacrifice my escort mission, Anytime I
iose somebody due to REFRAD, or myury, I'll pull them to my mission My numbers are
okay, but the other 2 platoons are steady losing people, and have to put support personnel
to work 1n the towers

As far as equipment’s concerned, we have just got a brand new conex full of stuff that
came with the 16th Brigade, less than lethal capabilities, and we're 1n the process of
digging through that We hadn’t had that We deployed wath clear face shields and some
clear not shuelds, I'm a SWAT Team Leader on a civihan police department, so I've
been on raids, and { know the clothing and tools that we nead to do the job 1've asked
for those things, when we first got there We didn’t get them, so we’ve made do wath
what we’ve had. For mstance, collapsible batons are great for that environment, because
you don’t have to stand there with a stick 1n your hand. To me, standing there with a
stick 1n your hand, automatically escalating to force. 1t’s unnecessary, if we go mn there
to hold the prisoners, while they’re going m there to do a compound search. We can
stand there with our shields, and, quite often, we stand at rest, but we don’t even have
baton holders So, we took our riot batons, and sawed them n half, now they’re our short
batons Little things hike that we’ve had to improvise

Talking from my slice of the pie  The new Brigade Sergeant Major came out, last
week, and actually spent time with the troops 1n the towers  He came out and talked to
me, and went through our hving areas He seemed like he had a gemune concem for a lot
of the things that soldiers brought up 1 wasn’t at the NCO meeting, but I know a lot of
the stuff that was brought up, hke uniforms, haircuts, and Army standards The soldiers
told him. “We would love to do those things, Sergeant Major, but we don’t have a
barbershop or alterations out here,” little thungs hike that, and he took a genmine concern
to that, and he seemed like he will make sometiung happen

I never met the Brigade Commander I’ve never worked in a brigade setting I was a
grunt, when 1 was on active duty, and [ never met my Brigade Commander, then either

Sir, the truth of the matter 1s, | wnite SOP, and send 1t up to them They asked me, when |
came back off leave They said, “We need an IRF SOP,” for the oncoming battalion, so [
did an SOP This 1sn’t umque to thes battahion 1t happened in Kuwait, as well, and at
MOB Statton They ask for us to do these SOP’s, which I don’t know 1f that’s protocol,
ornot They do not provide the commander’s intent

COLP reads a sworn statement made by SGT- and MAJ-responds

as follows

—was there at the site, but I can't answer to whether he saw the abuse or not
It was dark out there When this happened, and the MI soldier said, *“T’'m a professional,”
and they started to get out of hand, 1n my view, I went over to MAJ- and said,



“Sir, you gonna let this happen,” and he looked at me. 1don’t know whether or not he
knew what I was talkang about. I was mad, maybe a little unprofessional, and said, “I’ll
do something about it, then I walked over to where the MI people were They had
already dragged the guy back there 1 didn’t waness the abuse in the back of the truck
My platoon sergeant cid. I asked who was 1n charge, and everything kinda de-escalated
from there So, whether he saw what was going on, I don’t know. I don’t remember the
M1 person’s name, but he was an E6 I think I asked lhum what his rank was. When I
asked, “Who’s in charge of this crew here,” he said, “1 am,” and I asked, “What’s your
rank?” But, whether I asked him or his 158G, later, I know he was an E6.

That was my only dealing with MI My opimion is - they just had a couple of therr fends
kilied by a mortar, They were really emotionally amped up, and to bring these guys over
here, whether they were guilty or not, 1t was a bad zall 1 can say that my escort team
escorts prisoners from the vanous camps. to the M1 interrogation cell They say 1t gets
loud 1n there, but according to the rules they have posted, there was no abuse going on.
They have therr rules posted in their TOC, not 1n the interview area. As I lost people, I
pulled my people off that duty, so they’re now doing their own escort  The rules state
that you can yell at a person

COI- presents 1L with the 205th MI’s Interrogation Rules of
Engagement, asking, “Like this?" 1LT @ijresponds as follows:

That's the same thung We're not given that That was one of my only dealings with MI,
but I don’t beheve they behave that way all the time That’s the first ime I saw those
rules You have to understand, Sir — My LSA 1s probably about 200 - 300 meters from
their LSA, and I never had any reason to go over there, until my guys started domg
escorts for them 1 was very apprehensive about my soldiers working with their soldiers
in such a short ttme span, after this inctdent had happened It was made clear, that 1f we
saw anything like that again, then we were to report it

1 can’t remnember putting out information about Geneva Hague We've gone over
General Order 1A, and the Rules of Engagement, but specifically reading the Geneva
Convention rules of mistreatment ~ We went over that in MP School Recently, there
was a memorandiun put out about things you’re not supposed to do I don’t know if that
was a knee-jerk reaction to something that happened, but 1t specifically says things in
there about mustreatment, photography, and contraband, stuff like that My platoon, they
know me, and they know my platoon sergeant and me won'’t stand for that, and we try to
set a good example I know they would report anything to me

I was there when the abuse happened, and my soldiers looked at me Well, the first thing
that happened was a guy walked up to the prisoner, and shoved his face toward the
ground A couple of my guys said they hit him, but 1t look like they shoved his head
toward the ground Rught there, the flags went off, like this wasn’t going to go well - the
cursing and the yelling, tempers and everything That’s when 1 tnied to diffuse 1t by
saying, “Hey, that's not professional ” That’s when the guy fired back at me, that he was



a professional. So, I went ahead and tried to nip it 1n the bud. Ididn’t know who the
person was, but I felt like-1t was my responsibility, since I was the ranking person The
prisoner posed no threat to anybody there, and that’s just basic rules of engagement 1
think the person was bound, and he had a shirt over his head. I don’t have a problem
with that, but when you start shoving someone around, and screaming and cursing at
them m English, I got a problem with that

I know the chain of command through battahon, but wathin the last couple of months,
COL who was the MI Commander, was the FOB Commander, but I don’t think
the MI had any control over the 320th The 320th answered straight to the 800th

I know the nussion comes first, but you really got to look out for your troops. You got to
be willing to go into conflict to enforce the standard You can’t be afraid . do that
Raght now, the way the prison 1s run 1t’s dangerous. They’ve been working soldiers on
12- hour shufts, since August [ think somebody needs to put their foot down, and say,
“We need to staff that ” 1t’s not good for the soldiers to be working in that environment,
taking fire, and working 12 hours a day I'm blessed We’re working 24 hours, but we
may only get called twice a day for only an hour at atime It’s not bad for my guys, but
when they start pulling cooks to do MP duties ~ You know

When you don’t have tools to do the job, you got to be willing to push 1t farther than the
person that told you no If ’'m a battalion commander, and you’re my bngade
commander, and I need X number of troops, to do a mussion, and I know they’re out
there, and you say well we haven’t got time, but we’ve got a week 1n advance, I’'m gonna
keep coming at you with that question I'll say, “Hey, my guys are working 12 hours a
day We're supposed to have X number of soldiers to work all of these camps  What do
you mean, ‘No ' Thus can’t happen Soldiers are gonna start dying They’re gonna start
sleeping on the Job Prisoners are gonna start escaping We’re gonna look like a bunch a
1diots out there

The panel stopped, to discuss ILT- statements

Frnished with their discussion, the panel gave ILT-a l1st of 1tems, to be addressed,
and brought back on a Swom Statement
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L . WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

On Februarv 10, 2004 at approxumately 1500 hours | was guesnoned at Camp Victory, Itag, In regards 1o specific incujents and
Ieadershp at the Baghdad Central Confinement Facihty Upon summarizing the mterview | was asked 1o expourd, 1n wnnoog, on
three key questions

1 was asked 1f 1 bad 10 pass on any thing | had learned dunng my tour of duty i Iraq 10 soldiers or leaders who were about 1o be
depioyed here what would 1t be My answer was to not be afraid of confhict to enforce the standard Thus applies 10 leaders dealing
with subordinates as well as superior officers and NCO's [ have heard too many imes dunng this deployment from my
commander that he didn't want to do anythung that would jeopardize his career While I applaud anyone who wishes o serve on a
full ame bass, | feel tus aty some officers w seek approval for decisions which should be handied at the company
level One example 1s MSG He was deployed as a E-7 Squad Leader in my platoon. He was promoted to E-8
November with a promotion date of August 1 had requested he be moved to a position within the company commensurate with hus
rank and 1t was agreed that he would be moved to HQ to asaist the acting First Sergeant | was assumung he could be rated m that
El)snuon Around the 1st of February, I learned that he could not be rated in that position because there was no spot on the UMR

addiuon, a platoon sergeant couid not be moved withoul cause to open a spol on the , even though he 1s sepor 1o every
enlisted soldier in the company, except for the acting First Sergeant, MSG Utter has repeatedly emaled and calied the
L Virgima seeking guidance 1n this matter Last week 1t was clear to me that therc were only one of two gpuons MSG

coutld comple our and be raied as a squad leader through Ins promontion date 1n August, or he could be REFRAD 1
brought this up 1o CPT attention and he said he wounld seek further guidance from the state 1 fee] thus sttmde of not wantng
to rock the boat has caused us to work understaffed and ill-equiped at tmes not only at the company level, hut battalion and brigade
as well

| point the finger at myself as well Dunng IDT weekends and AT events, Guard and Reserve soldiers form workang
relationstups, which evenmally breed fnendships  Whule this 1s rarely a confhct durng peacetnme duty, durnng thus deployment |
have caught myself overlooking symple standards, 1 € , haircuts and mulitary beanng, 1n order to keep peace within the platoon as
long as the mussion was accommplshed While 1 may have avorded conflict with my subordinates, thus could have compromused good
order and discipline withun my platoon Fortunately | have been blessed with mature, kmowledgeable soldiers and they have
excelled m every mussion assigned These are a couple of examges of what [ have learned as a platoon leader m Iraq

1 was also asked 1o compare leaderstup styies of the 800th MP BDE versus the 16th MP BDE as 1t relates to the conduct of our
duties at the pnsen While 1 had very hintle interacucn with the leadership of the 800th MP BDE, | have had an opportumaty to
interact with LTC our interym Battahon Commander, and the Brigade Command Sergeant Major of the 16th MP BDE
The BDE CSM di ilc vistt at the prison and stayed there for a couple of days While he was there he visited the soldiers in therr
work and bving areas He conducied some NCODP with the semor enlisied and let them voice their concerns  He seemed
genumely concerned for the welfare of the Qur Bawalion Commander L.TC was present dunng a rof at the hard
prison & Feb 2004 on wing number five 1 (the Internat Reaction Force of which [ e QIC) was tasked with quetiing the ot
and apprehending the mstgators after the lraqr 1CS guards were unsuceessful, LTC allowed me to execute my plan
without interference and conducted a thorough AAR when the incident was aver He'is very vistble at the facility and seems open
minded and proactive [n summary the 16th MP BDE leadershup seems to be more proactive than reactive

Finally I was asked abowt any Hague or Geneva Conventon traiung | had received duning this deployment I canoor recall any
specific wnstance where we formalty studied either treary other than my miual entry wamng &énd OCS / OBC General gudehoes
are 10 General Order 1A which we have reviewed To rgcogmuze urm:acmcnl of a prisoner 15 every soldiers responsibility and ut
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On 22 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antomo Taguba,
conducted the following interview Major General Taguba was appomnted as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Licutenant
General David D. McKieman, Commanding General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into aliegations of maltreatment of detamnees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Gharib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also inquired mto traimng, standards.
employment, command policies, and internal policies, concerming the detamees heid at
Abu Ghanb pnson  Finally, the panel looked into the command climate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

COl-sniNDRREN (P, CF1.CC - PMO, Interviewer
LTHCC — SJA, Interviewer

LTC 705" MP Battalion, Interviewer
wa, CIJTF-7, C2, IMIR, Respondent

The interview 15 summanzed as follows

My name 1SR | 2m a CW2, Interrogation Techmician Currently, I'm
assigned to the CJTE-7 C2, in the IMIR, Iraq1 Military Intelhgence Requirement project.
1 work specifically for SIS, as of 16 Feb 2004 Before, ] worked for the 205" MI
Bngade at Abu Ghanb My immediate supervisor was MAJllilwe from October
2003 to January 2004 My Semor Rater would have been COL Pappas 1 armived at Abu
Ghanb around the middle September 2003 as the Operations Collection Focus Element
Team

Interrogations took place i1 Tiers 1A and 1B Upon arnival we had three interrogation
tents for a lot of people So, at the end of the tter was a room that was actually a non-
used stairway that was used for interrogations There were also non-used showers that
were used, as well Tier 1A 1s on the left hand side and Tier 1B 15 on the nght hand side
as you waik down the corndor towards the back exit 1beheve 1t was on Tier 1A The
door at the stairwell was Jocked No one ever used 1t There were showers on both tiers

MP role was to stay near the entrance way 1n order to escort detamees back to therr cells
or, if the detainee requires medical attention, to summon aid The MP unit assigned to
Tier | A was responsible for that sectton Operations were controlled by the MPs Whale
Iinterrogations were taking place, MPs were allowed into the mterrogation room, 1f the
MPs felt that they needed to be present

We all followed, 1 think 11’s called, the Interrogation Area SOP  MAJ Wi generated 1t
I don’t have a copy, but there are copies at the JIF

We may have done twenty to twenty-five interrogations 1n this area, but I’'m not sure
The actual mterrogators assigned to our Interrogation Control, and one of the MPs who

ANNEX S



happens to be on schedule were usually involved in the interviews 1 can’t remember
who was involved 1n the tast mterview We stopped doing interrogations there in
November, because, we got the ability to do mterrogations at the wooden site  The MPs
are not involved, because there are not enough MPs to go around

1 wasn’t there, but I understand LTONNMERR observed some mterrogations 1 know il

Y & s an Interrogator  We do have alog  The ICE maintans 1. I don’t
have access to 1t All detainees belong to the MPs They’re in their custody. Sometimes,
an MI soldier might use his position, as a collector, to try and influence the environment
of the detainees. We borrow the detamees for our collection That’s what I've always

preached to the guys

I've heard of the Rules of Interrogation They dea: with certain approaches There are
certain approaches that have to be approved by higher, before you can use them
Approaches include change of scenery, pride and ego, sleep management, dietary
management LTG Sanchez would approve these. I typically don’t see them when they
come back They don’t come to me The SOG should have a copy signed off by LTG
Sanchez, or they do nothing I don’t think any were approved for use of dog.

I have not seen any pnisoners being abused I've seen some potential incidences,
especially with transporting units, but I've talked to them about 1t When people are
taking somebody off the deuce and a half, and they’re cuffed, they can only move so
quickly So, you remind people, “Hey, 1f that guy falls, and breaks a hup, it’s on you ”
We’re also charged with their care

I’'m aware of the Geneva Convention. and I've recerved traiming on 1t To post things like
that up, 1s not as accurate as posting the Rules of Engagement, saying you can’t do thas,
this, this, and this, unless 1t’s approved

I had no supervisory role over the interrogators, but I'm m the neighborhood I'm 1n the
area The most important operation, to me, 1s the screening, the assessment people
These are the people that the truckloads get dropped off to  They assess them of
Intelhigence potential Their call puts people 1n our collection system, or tumns them
away

We would show up to the gate, and wait We would say, “I would like detainee, 156035,
in cell 32, please ” They bning hum over They search im  Another MP escorts lnm to
the booth The MP stays outside the booth When we’re done, as a courtesy, we walk
them back, so that the MP would have some language support

My guys have had exposure to detainees As the host collectors, and because they have
introductory traimng in Geneva Hague Convention, the Law of Warfare, and the
treatment of pnsoners we have to ensure nothing funny 1s happening in the booth When
OGAs come 1n, they follow our rules, or they don’t play It’s all in working with people.
Luckily, we established a very good relationship with every single OGA at Camp



Cropper. In addition to bemg in there for the safety of the detainee, and the OGA, we're
in there to gather leads. -

In my understanding, “softeung up” 1s done to a detainee prior to being mterrogated, so
that when he 1s interrogated, he’ll be more hkely to cooperate. From the photos 1 saw,
what they were domg was no way near a techmque that would have ever been proposed
The guys who have the most information are the most savvy anyway. If we had to
crunch soup to nuts, who we were effectively able to exploit, we got into them by
speaking to them nicer, and building rapport. You didn’t have to be the guy’s best fnend,
but you at least found what was important to him, and you got the narrative gomg When
a VIP comes nto an interrogation facility, and he walks down the admin hallway, the
interrogation he will stop and look at, and spend the most time wath, is the one where the
guy 1s standing 1n his chair yelling, * You're lying to me, and I know you ave! Those
are the ones that are not effective

We were under pressure to produce There are people dying out there There was
pressure from outside sources, and from myself

As far as taking away clothes for collection purposes, I would say that’s not a good
mtelhgence tactic  There are people who may think that would work

The MPs implemented the approaches, particularly, with sieep management They had a
time frame of when to bed the guy down I observed music being placed outside the
cell to keep them awake

I overheard there was an mvestigation of an unauthornized interrogation, when three male
collectors mnterrogated a female detatnee [’ve never been the subject of a Procedure 15
Investigation, and I don’t know of any being conducted

Finished with their discussion, COL Yl gave CW2 3 questions, to be addressed,
and brought back on a Sworn Statement
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[Command Sergeant Major-, U.S. Army, was

interviewed on 9 February 2004, as follows:]
Q: MG Taguba
A. csmﬂ
Q. I'm Major General Taguba, I'm the Deputy Comranding General
for CFFLI(, and of course, you probably understand the extent of
my presence here with regards to the 15-6 Investigation that’s
currently underway. I also understand that you have invoked
your rights and have sought legal counsel in that regard, so
this matter of proceeding here 15 a matter of formality that it
15 stivulated that I have been advised of your invoking of your
rxrghts ancd seeking of legal counsel that you understand that I
know remard you back tc your legal counsel subject to a call
from your legal counsel or :fiLom the investigating team with
regaras tou the continued process of this investigation. Do you
understand”

[y 21r, I understand all that. I’m not sure what the
scope of the investigation 1s

CPT Ray. You c<an go cver that with him, sar.

C I can go over that The appointment that I was given
1s I nave been appointed by Lieutenant General McKiernan, the
Commanding General of Coalition Land Forces Component Command,

headquartered at Camp Doha, Kuwait, under the direction of

fnner T

1/
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General Jch» Abizaid, the Commander of CENTCOM. Thas
investigation 15 asked to gather all relevant facts and
circumstarces surrounding the recent allegations c¢f maltreatment
of detszinees at the Abu Ghraik Prison, also known as the Baghdad
Central Ccnfinement Facilaity, as well as detainee escapes and
accountakb:lity lapses as reperted through CJTF-7. My inguiry as
tc¢ further 1nvestigate any standards, employment, command
policies--1nternal policies concerning the detainees held at Abu
Ghrailk Prisen. And finally, the 1nquiry 15 to assess the
command climate and the superviscry presence of the leadership
oI the 80(th Milatary Police Chain of command. That 1s the

exten:t an<c the scope of the i1nvestigation into which I've been

ApPDOintec to----
A Yes, s1r, thank you,
v Does that answer your question®
A Yes, sir.

CPT . Six, 1s there any part of the scope of the
investigaticn, which you feel comfortable with discussing with
the Generzi: today”

A No

ceT - Thank you
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¢ And again, since you have invoked your rights, sought
lega: ccursel, I have been further instructed that I will remand
you to yo.r legal counsel for further instructions, All right?®
A Thank you.

Q Command Sergeant Major__ you' re probably

wondering why you’re here, right?

A Yes, slr.
G. Wall, 1f I were 1n your position, I‘d be, too, the
sens:taivaty of this . 8c before we start any proceedings at

ali, cculc you, for the record, state your full name, rank,
soclal secur:xty number, and unit of assignment?

Commar. Sergeant Major, 220th Military Pclice Battalion, -
_

¢ All right, thank you. I will now introduce you to the
raticrale or the purpose of your presence here today. I'm Major
General! Teguba, the Deputy Commanding General of the Ceoalition
Land Ferces Component Command, commanded by Lieutenant General
McKierney, David McKierney, stationed at Camp Doha, Kuwait. And
he has aprointed me as the Investigating QOfficer under the
provisions of AR 15-6 under the direction of General John
Abazaid, the Commander of CENTCOM. Of course this

invest:igation, the purpose of 1t 1s to gather all relevant facts
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and circumstances surrounding recent allegations of maltreatment
of detainees at the Abu Ghraib Prison, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility, as well as detainee escapes and
accountability lapses as reportec to CJTF-7. The investigatiaon
wi1ll alsc look 1ntc the training, the standards, the employment,
the commard policies anc internal policies concerning the
detarnees heid at Abu. And finally, we will ask to look at the
command climate and the supervisory presence of the 800th MP
Pplice Brigade’s chain of command. I also want to mention that
in the ccurse of our interview, all of our guestions and answers
wli.i recorded, tape recorded, as shown to you in front. So
belore ! pegin, I want to ask 1f you have any questions about
the scope and nature cf this 1inguairy.

5 No, sir

¢ Other than the Doctor opening up his Coke can there,
we'll pDroceed with some questions that I want to ask of you with
regards t¢ the scope of the i1nvestigation

How long have yocu been the Sergeant Major there, the

Commana Sergeant Major there”

E Out at Abu?
C Yes.,
A About 2 months.



Q. About 2 months. So you actually got there end of

December

A. December 5th, sir.

Q. December 5th. Wher you arraved, did you get any kind
of speclfic guidance or direction from the Battalion Commander
or from the 800's chain of command with regards to your role and
responslbility as the Command Sergeant Major?

A Nothing written, sir. I would assume that being the
Command Sergeant Major and I nad been the Command Sergeant Major
cf the 3Z20th Battalion for nearly 4 years. I was unable to

deploy w.th the Battalion when we were mobilized due to the fact

that I was _ which precluded me from

ge-tind o» an a.rplane with my soldiers and I subsequently
stayec & 1// menths at Fort Dix until an MEB and a PEB board met
ancd finally found me fit for duty and deployable, at which time
I f:nally cleared Fort Dix and joined the Battalion at Abu. As

as written policies or guidance as to duties and

L]

fa
resporsibiiities as & C5M, sir, 1t’'’s pretty much that I know
what my duties and respons:bilities are and that 1 was to

centinue with them, except just 1r a different environment.

¢ So Lieutenant Colonel _1ad been your

Battalion Commander throughout your tenure as a Battalion

Command Sergeant Major?



—
L

19

20

21

a. Not my whole tenure, no, sir. Tenure for a CSM on the

Reserve side is 4 years. My 4 years will be up in March.

Colonel _was my second Battalion Commander at the

329th MPF Eattalion The previous Battalion Commander is now

Colonel - and then 1in his absence, Major ‘lad
filled 1n on a temporary basis until Colonel -came on
bosrd

Q When you were mobiiilzed through Fort Dix, you said
& Yes, sir

¢ Was Lieutenant Colonel _was your Battalion
Commandex

A Yes, s1r, he was

0 And since you were not able to deploy with him, did

vou gc through your mobilizacion and training at Fort Dix”

yis Yes, sir.

Q And then at the time, you were not able to deploy
becauss

L Less than 48 hours, sir, 1s when they decided they

weren't going to let me go before the plane lifted off.

¢ Could you describe what sorts of training that you
received dt Fort Dix prior to your deployment?

I, The mandatory training, sir, 1n regards to deployment

1ssues just pretty much the mandatory training we went through,
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rifle training, pistol training, weapons certification, maybe
rules of engagement, tactical side of the house..different
mandatory classes, anthrax shots...

C. Things cof that nature.

A Roger, sir.

C The general stuff.

A Yes, sir.

C Was there anything specific to the tasks that you had
tc get the refresher training on or had to be validated or
certi1fied on?

£ We weren’t afforded an MRE, sir, Mission Readiness
fierc.se rdue to the time constraint., We had been allocated, 1
believe, 1r the first week of March to the Fuda Exercise, and
that exercise was waived as s requirement due to the time
constraints to get us on the plane to get us over here.

¢ How long were you there at Fort Dix”?

A I'd like to say we got to Fort Dix February 19th or
the 20:tr, because I ran into my daughter. She was mobilized,
and she wes staying in the parracks right behind us and she
showed us pretty much where we had to go. I went i1n the Advance
Party i’m pretty sure 1%t was the 19th or the 20th, sir I
th.nk we moved out around March 12th or 13th, sir, I thank.

Q. 5c you were there about a month.
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A, Less than that, sir, I'd say closer to a good solid 3

weeks

Q. Given the circumstances then, even though you were
unable to deploy with the battalion, you were intimately
involved with the personnel, command, situation, that sort of
thirg, how would you describe then the training and readiness
status at the time prior to and during preparation for
deployment ?

E We really didn’t know what we were going to get, sir,
1in the line of the companies that were going to be attached to
us for the operation. We heard we were going to be getting a
company here, a company there that would be joining us. In the
beg_-nrinag, we heard we were only geing to get two companies.

G Which companies were those?

& I don’t recall, s.r One I think was from the Florida
area, another one from possibly California, and I believe one
right have been closer around the Midwest. We mobilized with
146 socldiers, we put 140 or the plane So those were the only
personalities that 1 was familiar with were those soldiers.

C They were a headcuarters company--—--

A Yes, sir The other soldiers that were at Abu when 1

arrived were the 372d, the 670th, the 870th, the 229 and also



the 320th companies, that was my first introduction to those

soldiers when I hit the ground here.

g. in December, the 5th of December.
A Yes, sair.
¢ When you did arrive on the 5th of December, did you

get any additicnal guidance from the Brigade leadership or the
Battalion leadership with regards to the missions set that they
are conducting at Abu at all®

E Not per se as far &as handwritten policies or things of
that rature. I mostly went about reacquainting myself with my
scld:ers and making visits tc their locations, pretty much
everywnerse I jJust briefly exposed myself, just to let them
know that I’'m still on the ground, kids that I hadn’t seen 1in a
while, 1ntroduced mysel: tc their new First Sergeant, new
comoanies, briefly got ar cversight of their operation and how

they blended with my battalion’s overall concept of the

oDeratlon And then as time progressed, you’re able to go in
anc resllv get to understand the whole operation, and see the

_rd:v.aua. soldier, you put a face with a nametag because of the
ability te be there with them for that period of time. You get
to knew their personalities You’re able to--and you try tc get
2 good ge. there, sir, and it’'s tough. I had three National

Guard companies, two Reserve companies in my Battalion, but the
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concept in those five companies are working pretty well together
despite the difference in missions. And some of those guys were
able to come in and augment the shortage of personnel that I had
1in regards to I&R duties, guard tower duties and things of that
nature, especially 1n the Ganci compound where I'm really short
11 Bravos, critically short, sair.

Q. You said when you deployed or when the Battalion

denloyec ' he Headquarters Company, vou deployed with 114, 1407

A 146
Q What 15 their status teday?
E We're down to abcut 118 boots on the ground, sir, and

we were n .t the hardest with my Battalion, when we deployed,
sir, we nad a lot of what we cali "involuntary transfers,”
soldiers vhat are in the Reserve system within our Regional
Support Command with a lower density MOS. And what I mean by
that, s:r 1= like my 71L's, my 63 Charlies, I had & hard time
f:llinc those slots The ki1g emphasis, we always had a--back at
home stat.cn, we always hac a geood number of, in this case, 31
Bravos, which are no longer 95 Bravos, 31 Bravos, milatary
po..cemen, wWe were able to get real good numbers there,
especialivy at the lower levels When 1t comes time to move the
Battalion an¢ we’re short, in thls case, physician’'s assistant,

surgeon, chaplain, and having to just get a phone call and a set

10
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of orders 1in the mail and tell you where to report. So once
aga:n, that was the first time I met most of those people, to
inciude some of the staff members, the 54, the chaplain,
chaplain’s assistant and a whole host of others, sar.

Q When you were back in the rear, were you keeping in
toucr wrth the Battalion at all or were there any words given to
ycu or & pnone call of sorts or----
received a letter from Colonel— There
were 5.+ of us that were left back, sir. Major -was the
£ Assistant; he was i1eft back —,
: —blg fellow, he’s about

€'+, c.:, E'%, he was lefr pack because they couldn’'t f£it him

“pa
—

n
9
Iy
0
]
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[
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n

orecper.: with a JSLIST su::t, sc therefore he couldn’t deploy

Decause il was one of the regquirements. Sergeant -3 left

pack pecause of _ that they felt, I believe, the dust
storme and stuff would have really _an

_ I believe she’'s beer chaptered out of the Army

nowW sinCe Then Sergeant-was—-had been left back because

— and I believe he's been chaptered out of the

Army, asz well, sir, for medica.l And Sergeant -was left

back, s.r, because he had a _em. They took
most ¢f his teeth, and the Army had to —

S0,
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_d myself eventually rejoined the Battalion.

Those guys much sooner than me, sir.

Q When you arrived on the 5th of December, you assumed
your positaicn as the Command Sergeant Major, in the first few
weeks or o0, how would you describe the condition of the
Battal-on, the context of their performance there at Abu®

A W:th what they had tc do 1t with, sir, my soldiers’
morale was high. Conditions were--now I've been around, sir,
where verv deplorable as far as sanitary conditions in an
env:.rcnment which they had tc work. And I felt the same way
about the prisoners, sir, I mean, to see some of the way that
tnese people were living, and you had to iook at what we had to
dec 1t with out there We can’t have--we have no control of the
rain, aro when 1t rains out there, 1t Just tuins to mud. You
car’t bas_cally teach them cur standards of personal hygiene in
regards to utilizing the bathroom the way we normally utilize
the bathroomr and the way we normally utilize the bathroom 1is
sometring they don‘t, and therefore, the first cne in just
destrove .t for the second cne and so on and so forth.

The meals that were being fed by the Iraql caterers I
found t& be substandard in regards to the amount. Therefore, I
had no problem saying, “Feed these people MREs.” In fact, on

one vis:it down to the compound, I saw where, because of the
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Iragis strsict forbiddance of pork products, they were throwing
the whole MRE--open a case of MREs, and take the jambalaya, and
1 guess one other one there, pork chop, the Jamaican pork chop
and they would just throw that out. And I mean, there was
literal .y a dumpster full of MREs. I made a suggestion to pull
them out and take the crackers out, the cheese, the peanut
butter, things of that nature, because when you run into a
shcrtage, you can supplement 1t. It worked real well. 1 mean,
sometimes these guys, I saw one night they had two hard-boilled
eggs, a p-.ece of cheese abcut this big, a cup of tea and a piece
of pita pbread I said, "“That’s not going to make it.” You have
tc wender about them, sometimes you feel sorry for them because
not a.l o” them are inside that wire, sir, for that same reason
the aulitv cnes are.

C Did you see any, in the context of your involvement
wrth the daily operations, be 1t with meals or just walking
around and being at guard positions and things of that nature,
did you hdve any knowledge whatsocever that there should be or
must be established S50Ps that the MPs must follow with regards
tc operet_ons or handling c¢f detainees or guard actions, for
example, nonitoring the facilities, things of that nature that

you’'re aware of or should be aware of”?
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A We had a 320th SOP, sir, in effect in regards with IR

operation and things of that nature, pretty much covered
everything from what every indavidual soldier responsibilities
are .n regards to the IR operation,

o Were they posted or were they i1n a folder somewhere at
each gquard position or the Battalion or each Company had a copy
of such 50Ps?

A 1 wouldn’t say that every S0P, sir, is posted. I
wculc¢ say that in the towers you have certain i1tems that pertain
to trnat particular position, 2.e rules of engagement. As a
standard, you would walk intc a company area, you would find
letters con sexual harassment posted on company bulletin boards.
Certaln things pertain 1n certalr areas We were--you leave a
pape: tra ., I guess, you would have to put some many things up
there :r 'he towers. A lot of the towers that I visited had
your range cards set up for your weapons systems, and then there
were some who didn’t Some that on the range cards, that were
ir place found substandard and talked to the gunners up there,
made the or-the-spot corrections A couple, I actually
lmplemented weapons systems up there for force protection. We
had twe towers out there, and they were just bare air, Jjust bare
metal towers, couldrn’t really control from the ground. You

needed something up above, for force protection, especially
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around, I thaink 1t was the 1lst or 2d of January, we were
expectinc & threat to come through in the form of a vehicle with
explosives 1n it. So the force protection level was stepped up,
but we needed certain things to go in and increase that level,
Elevatad towers with a 50-cal were up theve. So we sandbagged
1t, as matter of fact, we did that with the help of the
prisorars, we were able to sandbag 1t.

G With regards to specifically detainee operations, were
you aware that there were other folks that are involved in
deta-nee operations, interrogators, the MI----

2 Yes, sir, we have my side of the house, I have the
1nterrogal 1on portion of the operation. 372d Company had the
hard s:te and Camp Vizgilant operation there. My Battalion
augmented with certain scldiers from the other companies because
of the shortage at the Camp Ganci gperation.

& Was there any awareness on your part that there should
be estabi:shed procedures or SOPs or gquidelines associated with
the irzeraction between the MP guards and the MI interrogators?

3 I have never known of an SOP that would dictate that
poOL1CY, S_I I thought that pretty much your job description
wouic dic'ate what your functions of daily responsibility and

S5Cope are

15



¢ When you’re conducting any operations, or even I and R
for that matter, you having been associated with this battal:on
for the pest almost 4 years. Are you aware that the posting of
the Geneve Convention must be in the language of the nation to
which the detainees are from?

) We have notices to that effect, sir, with regards to
the ICRC, 1r regards to the languages. We also had conducted
operaticrs on the training side of the house in Korea, twce
operations, Operation Foal Eagle, so we would see how that was
run, &s well We do post things in Arabic. I would assume that
what . set¢ 1n Arabic 1s what s written and translated in
Englisk next to 1t

G But in the context ci the Geneva Convention, which is
the respensibillzty of the company that’s conducting--or
battalicn that’s conduction I and R as required by AR 190-8, dia

you see any of that posted or being enforced since your arrival®?

A No, sir, not that I'm aware of
G Should there be®
A T would say that wnat I see posted, sir, pertains to

that pbart cular post. I wculd say that the things that I’'m
looking a' pertain to that certain--once again, I’'d like to use
the posit or, for example, for the guard tower or for the

compound at Camp Ganci, whether 1t be Compound One, Compound
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Twc, and also the operation building at the hard site at Camp
Vigilant. Being inside the compound, you'll see a great deal of
things posted on various sections of the camp, itself, and you
would glance at it I mean, I've glanced at some of 1t. I’ve
seen Arabic writing, but the exact content of what i1t says, sir,
I

0 It could be, “Don’t stand here.”

E It could, s-r, or “Don’t come up close to the wire,”
or “Deadly force area.” I’ve seen some of those signs in the
area

0] Let me shift & little bit to command climate. You
sa:d vou had tc basicaliy reintroduce yourself with some of the
fclks vou hadn’t seen since deployment.

Yes, s1r.

el

G . reacgualint yourself with some those folks you were
nc: fam:i:ar with, the rest of the companies that make up the
baztalron, and you’'ve already elaborated that the command
climats seems to be pretty grea: In that context, how often
did yeou interact with your NCOs anc how often do you feel that
tnere’s a climate i1n there where they would come up to you and
talk to you freely without any apprehension?

Y It didn’t happen right off the bat, sir. I’m going to

say that quate frankly. 1It’s... not from my kids in the 320th,

17



when I sav “my kids,” those that came from my unit up in Ashley.
We‘ve always had that rapport that I have an open door policy.
And what : mean 1s, 1f I'm at my desk and the chair 1s empty,
it’s your:. Come on in and tell me about yourself, and these
kids know that. Here at Abu Ghraib, waith the five additional
companies that I picked up, just making the general
introductions of yourself and let them know a little bit about
yourself has taken some time. The first sergeants I'm working
with now, I hold a first sergeant’'s call every Tuesday morning
after the staff call We arr pretty much the guality of life
1ssues nere at Abu Ghraik, which are basically none. We have no
PX We have no Haaji shops like some 1installations have.
There’s nothing there for these scldiers. There’s no
barbershor There's no place tc sew on nametags. So 1f you're
going te make an on-the-spot correction for a soldier who’s 1n
vioiatior of the uniform, you’'ve got to take into consideration
that, wha:’'s he 1n violation of the uniform for? If 1t’s a
steriie uriform, 1t’'s probably because there’s no way to sew
these name tags, etceteras, to keep the soldier up to AR 670-1
standards There's nothing there.

G Did you brang this up Lo the attention of the five

brigades”
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A Yes, sir. The Five Brigade ?° 1s the one that threw
the Haaj. vendor off, sir That was a serious morale deterrent
right there., They have nothing, sir. Some of these Kids go and
buy a blanket for $25 That will keep them and get them through
the coid nights and 1t made them happy. The PX that we had out
there at Abu Ghraib 1s one that my company stood up itself. We
went over and signed for a $20,000 account and we got it up and
running and scld the basic soldier needs, sodas, shaving cream,
torletries, out of the PX for the soldiers. We had to close it
up or February 1lst because we’re 1in the process of clearing. I
prought up the fact that every time I meet with a senior Command
Sergeant Major, and I met witlq another one yesterday, Brigade
C&M fromr the l6th was out for 3 days prior to that, I'd bring
up the quiality of life i1ssues about the PX, the Haaji vendocrs,
things that everybody has here on Camp Victory that we don't
have out at Abu Ghraib

C But you came in on the 5th of December to assume the
pesition of C8M, what happened tc your predecessor”?

b3 I couldn’t tell ycu who the predecessocr was, sir,
1’ve heard rumors that 1t was Sergeant Major — who's the
Operaiions Sergeant Major, was put in my place. I heard that 1t
was a Command Sergeant Major by the name of " was the

Acting Ba-talion CSM 1in my absence for a brief period of time.
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Q. Who was the Sergeant Mzjor when they deployed and you
stayed behind?

A That would have to be Sergeant Major -, sir. 1
woulc assume he assumed the dual responsibility of CSM and
Operations Sergeant Major.

0 Sergeant Major —was the “acting,” 1 guess.

23 Roger, I guess you would say that, sir. He was
probably wearing both hats.

cpm - Command Sergeant Major-was from the
890th, the Command Sergeant Major at the Brigade-level, sir.

C. Understand, but I just want to make clear that you
arr:ved or the 5th of December to assume the position as the

Battae..o~ Command Sergeant NMelor.

E, Yes, sir, Battalicrn CSM.

¢ The guestion that I have 15, who was your predecessor
before”

B I wouldn’t know, =s1ir

Q You wouldn’t knpw Yot know 1t was Sergeant Major

-at the time that the time the battalion deployed to Iragq
at that point, when they left Fort Dix

L Yes, Sir

20



G Sc, just for the record, tc make that clear, I want to
make sure that you were assuming the position, not necessarily

replacing someone.

A That’'s right
G So you were replacing somebody.
A Well, I wouldn’t--I'm not sure, you got me here.

You’ve gotta explain that one to me as far as----

¢ Let me back up You were not deployed at the time,

E No, six

C Because you had a—

A Reoger, sair,

] So somebody assumec the position as the Acting
Sergeant Major. You were not necessarily relieved cf your

DCS.11Th, you were not deplujed But you were not exactlv also

DEMOE‘d. At the time, you were still MOB’d, 1s that correct?

& That's correct, sir

G So you were basically in a holding pattern at Fort
Dix

E Yes, sar, that’s correct

Q So, at that time, there must have been some condition

that prec_pitated your deployment to assume the position or
reiieve somebody from the position of the Command Sergeant

Masor
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A They just cut me & set of orders and said, “Rejoin

your battalicn,” sir.

Q They saird, “Rejoin your battalion.”
A Yes, sir.
c S50 you were actually reassuming your posltion as the

Commanc S£rgeant Major.

A Yes, sir

Q Because those people that you mentioned, to include
Emerson, were actually in an acting capacity.

£ Yes, sir.

G Trey were not appointed as the Command Sergeant Major,
because ycu are the Commanc Sergeant Major

E Roger, sir.

C Okay, got 1t, 7jus:t to make sure that we’re not mixing
apples and oranges for the sergeant major's position of the
B00Oth MF Erigade.

All right, obviously, when you arrived, agaln, you
kind cf cct acquainted. Was there any mention to you of any
reportec ur alleged detainee abuses or escape incidents prior to
Or durinc your arraival, at the time of your arraval~>

A Yes, sir, I was briefec on certain things that had
transpilrecq

¢ Who briefed you on that”?
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A Everybody I talked to, sir, pretty much.

C. So you weren’t really briefed, you were anformed.

A. Right, sir. I knew about the incident at Camp Bucca
involving the Battalion, I mean, that’s something that bad news
travels fast, even back at Fort Dix. So I knew about that one,
It 1rvolved 10 of my soldiers that had been originally cleared,
anc¢ the o-hers were eventually prosecuted. The battalion never
really recovered from that as far as I'm concerned, sir. My
scidiers have done magnificent wcrk with what they’ve had to do
1t with, iittle or no support, little or no sleep. They
slteral.y built that camp And for them to take it on their
ch1n _1ke they did and still scldier on, that says a lot for the

tiver of those kids from the 320th, but we never really

0N
n

ecovered from 1t., Formal certaln instances had transpired, .

ry

was informed about the riot that took place. 1 was informed
about thre mortars that fell on top ¢f the prisoners one night in
Compound ‘Two I was i1nformea cf the body parts and the brains
hanging out and things of that nature, how well my medics did
1 was iniormed of the escape that night.

¢ Was 1t an escape or attempted escape”?

A I believe cone of them got out, sir. Okay, 1 believe
he got ou~ from under the wire

G At Bucca?
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E No, slr, not at Bucca, up at Abu Ghraib,

¢ Okay.

2. Just trying to stay up on the events that had
transcired and get the overall OPTEMPO and the climate of what
the conditions were, what things could get done maybe better or
what hapoened that facilitated that. It’s tough to be
everywhere I found myself torn. The hard site yesterday, I
got caught up 1n a riot when we were just inside there, just
trying tc get a walkthrough of how the guy escaped from the day
before He didn’t get out of the compound--he got out of the
compound, he just didn’t get out of the overall LSA or the guard
tower They were able to chase him down. They found him trying
to get ou of the orange jumpsuit under a bus. So he was taken
back wnto custody and placed in confinement.

But then we had zr inc:dent where we--and 1t could
have been part of the diversion, there was a fight in Tier--or

Wing F:ve, and the whole block was put on a lockdown, certain
privileges taker away And sc yesterday, they started

rebelilng So while I was getting a tour of the facility with
the F.rst Sergeant, Sergeant of the Guard, Sergeant Ward, we got
pressed .11 a service, the three of us, basically. About 2 1/Z
hours lat=r, he was put down

C This was yesterday?

24



14

15

16

18
19
20

21

S Yes, sir

C In the context of the investigation that’s currently
underway, that accused some of the guards there that were
operating in Tier One A, are you familiar with that particular
case”

A I've heard rumors, sir. It allegedly occurred before
my arriva. there.

G This case i1s a suspension of the battalion commander
and certai:n elements of the company was done these past 2 weeks.

B Yes, sir, I'm aware of that.

< ¥You'’re of that and certainly you know the suspensian
woulc ar:se to the awareness that certain things are happening
-n that particular site, +he hard site, that constituted the
stspensi1o' of the Battalion Commander anc the Company Commander
and tne Dperations Sergeant. Was that the first time you were
aware that the whole thing was happening?

& Yes, sir. The Battalion Commander, Colcnel

— my Operations Sergeant Major, Sergeant Major
- the company First Sergeant, First Sergeant i

the Company Commander, Captain [ jiff and the Platoon Sergeant,

Sergeant P'irst Class - All five were suspended, sir.

e Now giving the circumstances, had there been any type

of corrective action that was taken by the leadership of the

25



battalion the Acting Battalion commander, yourself, or the
chain cf command with regards tc corrective actions to prevent
such reoccurrences that you know of?

A Yes, sir. Farst off, at my first convenience, I got
rié cf the seven andividuals, there was eight originally that I
saw S.n~e one soldier’s complaints were unfounded by CID, he
was returned tc duty, but rot at that location where the alleged
crimes occurred. The other seven, I had transferred over here
tc Came Victory and are now working at 16th Brigade, various
cavacitii:e: relating to their MOE's.

% And they were just from that one company that’s....
L 372d-~---

conducting tris mission, 372d.

Lanl

r Yes, slr. Thcse were the seven soldiers--I believe
there wer= 10, sir, al. tollec from the report that I read. The
twc are from the MI, T think, the other eight were from the
372¢ ~i<e I say, the charges against the one were unfounded,
he wasg rezurned tc duty Colonel - made the call on that
cne ard said, "Well, we got nothing to hammer this guy on.
yet’s put him back to work ”

3 50 these are the seven individuals of the 10 or so

that were ainvolved 1in the abuse case?

A Yes, sir, we moved them here to Camp Victory.
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Q Sc¢ they're not performing any more auties——--
E No, sir.
Q. And how were you able to replace those guys?

We just work & little harder, sir, with what I had.

=

Some of the soidiers that were involved in that incident were
non-MP-type soldiers. Therefore, they weren’t really in the
hard s.te, they were pulling administrative duties, along the
lines 5f, I think one might have been a mechanic. One might
have b=en & clerk. I think, sir, four may have been MPs, five,

maybe 1 know two were MI. Sc we just go ahead and suck 1t up,

LN

Sergeant Major -, whe was suspended, he was, at
the t.me, I beileve, was the acting Command Sergeant Major prilor

tc ycu.r alrrival

L Him and Command Sergeant Major— I believe

C And who was Command Sergean:t Major -

1 met ham on one occasion, sir, briefly. 1In fact, he

I

came bac< off leave back tc the battalion shortly after I
arrived there. Once they found out that I was in place, there
was no need for two CSMs, Sergeant Major —rejo:med I
think, I‘'d like tc say, sir, the 530th MP Battalion or the 510th

MP Battal_on He also came under the 800th,
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G The same brigade.

& Yes, si1r, the B0OOth But I don’t know which faciiity
ne went back to, sir, but he did rejoin that battalion.

o, Upon your arrival, once again, was there anything
given tc¢ you, provided to you by the MP Brigade chain of
command, namely General Karpinskl or the Brigade Sergeant Major
or the topic of your performance and how you’re supposed to
Interast .r with regards to your new mission at Abu Ghraib®?

k Nc, sir. The first time I met General Karpinski and
Sergeant Major —who was the interim Sergeant Major, the
Commara Serdgeant Major of the Brigade at that time, or
creviols.v, had been a guy named-, I think. He wasn't
there wnen - first arrived, and Sergeant Major-agaln
was tnc interim CSM for the Brigade. I met them here at Camp
Victory wher I came over with Major DiNenna for a conference.
Cthe:r than formal introductions and apologies on my part for
conduct 0~ cnhne ¢f my NCOs who emailec the General directly
without geing through the chain of command, I would conclude
that's a heck of a wWway tc start bus.ness.

Q With regards to the conduct of the guards on the daily
operaticns, both day and night, was there any effort that you

krow of o- established policy that the leadership presence was
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ei1ther an implied mission task glven the nature of the business

that you were conducting there at Rbu Ghraib?

A I wouldn’t say implied, sir. We would--a lot of us
wotld do .t, I mean, upon my arraval, I would tour the facility
somet.mes at different hours of the night, especially with the
jetlag . just couldn’t get 2 sleep pattern down, so it
wouldr’'t be uncommon for me to be moving through the compounds
at 2 or 3 in the morning, or as far up as 5 or 6. Pretty much
later or .n the day, I suffered But 1in the beginning, 1t
wasn’'t a problem. It wasn’t uncommon tc see some of the first
sergearts transporting ccffee and tea and things of this nature
odt t¢ var:ious guard posts tc the soldiers on watch. Various
elemente ¢f the leadership on the 2-side could be seen roaming
—he compcunds at different hours The commander, Colonel
—would e seen doing the same thing, sir. Some of
the company commanders that I can reca:l were deing pretty much
Just checking on their men, per se, not an overall view, except
for that une first sergeant, First Sergeant - He pretty
much visited all the kids cr all the towers. He was with the
229th Company and his towers responsibilities were usually

support.ng Gancl One and Two compounds He’d make it a poaint,

si1r, tc 30 and hit all the towers.
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o 372d was not assigned or attached until they arrived
in count-:y, 1f I'm not mistaken. Had you ever trained with the
372d tefore?

A No, sir, not as a company.

G So basically, the first introdu~tion with the 372d was

when you arrived in country”?
A. Yes, s1r.

] S5c did you know their reputation or training readiness

gr thing: of that nature®

A No, sir.

Q You had no knowledge, whatsoever.

F No, sir

o Anc the point where you mentioned the incident down at

Bucca which pretty much degraded the morale of the battalion,
the headauarters, primarily, dicd you get an inclination of who
were 1nvolved wath the incidents down there, whether it involved
direct.y tne 320th MP Battalion or the 372d°

B, Yes, sir, the 320th. Yes, sir, I read the newspapers.
Sir, the bad news travels fast, even back at Fort Dix. Every
one of the soldiers named, I knew.

G But they were not assigned to the 320th, I don't
think, were they?

A Yes, s1r, every one of them was
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0. The 320th MP Company?
2t MP Battalion, sir, the HHC out of Ashley,

Pennsylvania. In fact, Master Sergeant -she was an E7
origina:iv, and I got--heard she was promoted, promoted 1n the
Battalion She had been with the 424 and had been with the

Battalion previous to my arraval. Sergeant Farst Class

- T got him years ago when he was an E5, and made 1t up

to E7 Specialist -and Sergeant - I knew him as an

E3 1n tnz Battalion, sir. Sc those four soldiers were mine.

C Assigned to the 220th.

A Yes, Ssir.

C Headouarters and Headquarters.

pat Ashley, Pennsylvania, yes, Ssir.

C Sc there was ro undisputable fact that they were not

assigned -o anybody else but~---

A Nc, sar, they were mine, Sir

C. And the 1ncidents that had been made knowledge to you
with regards to the current investigation that’s being conducted
now, basel on what has been recorded sc far, those people that
you reassigned somewhere or were suspended, what corrective
acticns Within the context c¢f that one facility or one tier, can

you describe any type of corrective actions that were taken®
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E. Yes, sir. As soon as 1t happened, and the leadership

was put or. the spot, per se, the 83, Major-, decided to
develop 4 DA 6 on E7s and above from the headquarters element,
1tselt, -hat would pull unscheduled visits of the hard sites 1in
Ganci cowmpounds of the towers during the hours of probably 2300
tc¢ 060D every night. So that if we went by alphabetical order,
Sergeant ok, I'm just using an example, sir, Sergeant -
mrght pul. 1t one night, Chlef- might pull 1t the next
nigh=t .leutenant -mlght pull 1t the next night. That’s
what w2'Je peen goinhg with, sir.

g So those are the actions that have been taken to
ersure there’s a new set of eyes that are looking or overseeing
the cperations of that particular site, which 1s also considered
the secur_ty detainee tier, 1f I’m not mistaken.

pr Yes, si1ir, that site and the other sites, as well. The
lastruct.ons aren’t just clearly directed towards that hard saite
or Camp VY.gilant It's ainstructed tc look at the whaole
operation, tc include the towers and the TOC.

0] Have you 1ngquired on the interaction of the
1nterrogaters with other MPs?

A N¢, sir.
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g. Are you aware that there 1s an actlive interaction
between nterrogators and the MPs with regards to an
interrogation plan, punishment plan, things of that nature?

E Yes, sir. I wouldn’'t want to say--a Regu_ar Army-type
thirng, but there seems tc be that break right there, sir, where
it’s VM1 orn the Regular Army side of the house and the IR
settlement on the Reserve and Guard side of the house. I
wouldr’t say there’'s a job descraption breakdown, but 1t seemed
that they would do what their job requirements are and nothing
mcre apd my soldiers would do their requirements and nothang
mcre There seemed to be & break there. I had good interaction
wWwith the (ommand Sergeant Major that was on the ground for the
1E€Sch lyv fact, he helped me guite & bit out there in regards
tc getring soldiers back into uniform standards and things of
this rature, Command Sergeant Major - He was the 165th MI
Battailon CSM.

Q You had 1interaction with him

E Yes, sir. He was--2f I'd say over all my years of
working w.th various CSMs in the active side of the house and
Reserves he’d be like the best friend I had, good man, sir.

o How often did you meet with your senior NCOs with
regarcs _o conduct of detainee operations, soldier quality of

i1fe, soldier discipline, things of that nature®
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A Like I say, sir, every Tuesday morning, after we had
staff ca.l, was my normal call with the first sergeants.
However, the open door policy that I've got, sir, 1 can be
stopped danywhere Last night, I had a first sergeant come tc my
room, caucht me at 2100 and wanted to talk, first sergeant from
the 670th Company naving an 1ssue with his company commander.

He askec lor some guidance and things of this nature. That's
nct vncommen. 1 thank that’s good. They were tryaing to work
someth.rg out. He's got about 62 days left. He’s a pretty good
man, 51l

C Do you often interact witn Sergeant Major —
from BGOLL ME-

2 would say, sir, on the trips I would have to make to

=l

Zamc Vicrory to the Brigade Headguarters I think he came out
to Abu Gihralb on two occasions, maybe three, maximum. He came
ouw: with {ommand Sergeant Major -c introduce his 16th
Brlagade CSM. He had one NCC call with my senior NCOs, and then
ne came out wirth the General on Christmas Day. We would take
pretty mucl gualaty of life 1ssues, standard of uniform and
appearance, which greatly increased there at Abu Ghraib.

C When the 1incident was finally put out into the open in
regards ic¢ detainee abuses, was there any concerted effort by

the battalion or the companies to do an all-hands call to let
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them know what was going on, why their leadership was being
suspended at Abu Ghraib?
A. I went over to the 372d Company, sir, and I talked to

aill the soldiers involved, the same day that I brought the five

soldiers up here. I escorted mall the way down

to Sergecnt ‘up here to Camp Victory. When I got back, I
callec for & meeting with the 372d company members, told them
what had transpired, what the alleged actions of certain
individuals n cur company Thnere was no doubt that some of
those :ird:viduals were present in that meeting on the night with
che company Because at that time, I didn’t have any names In
fact, I hadn’t even seen ar 1nvestlgation report. Colonel

1l

-n'-i‘.'-: the cne that showed me the report, and I don’t know
whetner :hat’s due to Colonel_wlth the
confident_ality portion of 1t, I'd like to think that that’s the
case Cz.onel -showec 1t to me and said, “Sergeant Major,
thkis := what you’re dealing with here These are the seven
individuz.s, or eight individuals.” That's when I finally found
out who the names were. But getting back to my meeting with the
compary, [ told them that the actions of a certain few have
causec & uyreat many to suffer from 1t. I said, “Two 1individuals
from my s:ide of the house, being my colonel and my Sergeant

Major,” who I had a great deal of (inaudible) for. I took the
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hurt very, very hard...their first sergeant, First Sergeant

‘ When you‘re with a Reserve unit, sir, a lot of times

you think you’ll be with a unit for a great unit of time, so you
builcé <he friendships there, as well. And I asked them, I said,
“I don’t know how close these soldiers were to these
individuals, but 1f any of these were with them for a long
periocd o' time and considered them a friend,” I said, “You've
hurt tha* friendship by your actions.” It took about a half
hour for me to talk to most of the soldiers. 1 tried to
reinfcree the good things that they’ve done in the past, that
pecause i the actions of 2 few, and I told them about my
soldiers bearing that scorn, as well, the incident at Camp
Bucca, that my Battalion had gone through, that it’s something
we've go: TC overcome anc we’'ve got to continue on with tne
mission because you can’t walk cff ycur post.

Now that the seven 1ndividuals were out of there, I'd
11ke tc 30 back and talk with the soldiers again and assess the
climate i spent a lot of time cver there with them, and thear
First Sergeant because I have an acting First Sergeant in that
position fight now, Sergeant - And at the same time, we
kac the only officer left in the company, Lieutenant -who

assumed the role as the company commander. So, we put those two

ir that positien, 1t required a little closer mentorship and a
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littie more visibility, sir, than I would normally give a
company trat was operating at this normal tempo.
¢ A lot more cleoser attention, I'm sure,

The amount of time that’s been given to detention
operatlons, Sergeant Major, also would suggest that there are
other fc¢clhs that are involved 1r your operation bhecause you're
one af tir tenant units i1n that forward operating base that's
now urder the command and control of the 501st MI Brigade. And
previous 1o that, of course, you belonged to the 205th MI
Brigade as a tenant unit

) Yes, sir.

o Sc you are under tactical control of the Brigade that
15 currenzly above you, but you are still assigned to the B00th
MEZ Brigeds When things of that nature typically--and 1’1l be
goinc bac< tc your interaction with the 800th, with thaings of
that nature, you were under further dual responsibility of
reporting, one to the Brigade that you were currently under
tactica. control, and one to the Brigade that you were assaigned
te, the 8J30th And 1 keep gcing, harping back at your
interaction with both Commanc Sergeants Majors and that
particular point, given the circumstances, did you ask for any
assistance from either Brigade to help alleviate the problem

that ycu were undergoing with one company that has a difficult
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miss:on of guarding a hard site, let alone, a camp? Did you
reques: ary assistance from any assistance or were you doing
things or your own 1n terms of what your capabilaity—-—--

A, I didn’t know the 372d was under that type of trauma
cr any*hing, sir I didn‘t know about the incident until after
1t surfaced on January the 13th. I didn’t know anything had
transpilred Once again, I didn’t get in country until December
the 3d, anc diarn’t get to Abu Ghraib until December the 5th. I
was urnaware that any of this had ever occurred until this all
came CJt, S5iI

C S0 have you asked for any assistance from the two
super:ors that you have to give you further guidance so you can
3CCOmpLiSi. your mission ir Abu Ghraik?

- As to--=--

¢ Had ycu been given any assistance, whatsoever, or have
you reguested any assistance from either the 800th or the 504th
or the Z04%tk to give you additional personnel so you can
gccomp.1sh the mission irn Abu Ghraib®

£ I haven’t asked for any, sir, no. 1In order for them
tc accomp.1sh the mission, I would need exact replacements for
the MOSs that are gone of those sever soldiers that have been
transterred over here, :n this case, I believe four MPs and

three lower density MOSs. The 504th, I just met their Command
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Sergeant Major for the first time yesterday. The 202d MI
Battalicen just came 1n, Command Sergeant Major - I met him
for the first time when Command Sergeant Major -came on
the grounc That was a couple days ago, as well. 1In fact, I
invited ttem to the NCO ~all we had with Command Sergeant Major
_hlf first day on the ground cut there. We are trying to
work the 272d 1ssue and keep them up to speed, sir, with the new
First Serceant Word was that a new First Sergeant was inbound;
i dor‘t trink that’s a good call These soldiers, once again,
know nothing about this and 1t will come down to the trust
factor 't took me almost 2 months to get this close to them.
They’re nct going tc open up to & brand new First Sergeant
comingo .r or. the ground.

. If you did nct ask for any specific personnel
replacements-—---

A We’ve always been asking for replacements, sir. With
the Reserve =i1de of the house anc the Guard side, 1t's not like
Regu_ar Army where you could go tc a Replacement Battalion.

It's just--thas 1s 1ssues and echelons above me, sir, 1t’s 7just
sometbting that's gotta be worked out Right from the get go,

wher. we left out of Fort Dix, we were s1X people short. HNow

we're down to 118. Again, I’'ve got MOS-trained soldiers that I
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know are kack at the Reserve Center just sitting there just

doing----

C. Well, I guess what I was looking for, Sergeant Major,
15 not exzctly getting a replacement from the States, it’s
getting some reallocation of assets within the Brigade or even
withir the Battalion to help out with that issue. You said you
took out ceven NCOs or seven personnel out of a company that was
guardinc ¢ site, and then reallocated within that company, per

se, Lo cover that site.

A Four were guarding the site, sir. The other three
worked in the admin side cf the house

o S¢ you were st1l. out seven soldiers,

E Yes, sir

. Wwh2ch means that company 1s still seven scldiers
5NCTr*

™
-
L]
n
{n
|-
Lo

¢ But then no movement whatsoever or whether the
Battalion was either going tc augment that company or whether
the Brigade would take any action to reallocate within their own
Brigaoges and give you the additional seven people that you are

short cof
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A That’s a roger, sir, I haven’t asked for seven

additional people. We just go ahead and just work with what

we' ve got here,

C. What 1s the personnel status of the 372d7

A. They just got, which 1s one good thing, sir, they just
¢cct a platoon back that was on the Hallow 7% mission providing
escort duty in that area. I believe 17 personnel came back up
with thet element, to include their acting ccmpany commander
right now, Captain Steva So the timing was good----

G Bre the 17 personnel up here now?

L Yes, sir, they’re on the ground now.

What 1s that company doing now?

(_\

b

They're still conducting the operation at the hard

s1te at Camp Vigilant, sir

¢ That company has now has beern given--but that’s a
c.atoon, . thought, or 1s 1t a company”
E That’'s a platoon--well, 1t's a designated company,

si1r, but when we just back the other day, i1t was a platoon, a

piatoor-strength element

¢ Sc that platoon was conducting hard site duty”?

A Yes, sir, hard site at Camp Vigilant.
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G. Okay, that 1s under the command and control cf the
372d ¥? Company?

A Yes, sir.

C. Under the command of Lieutenant -

kL, Captain .now, sir, the at acting company

commander

L]

¢ Wnen did that occur?

Iy When he hit the ground, sir, at Abu Ghraib.

9] When was that, this week”

h Yes, Ss.r

G Because c¢n the 2d of February, we met Lieutenant
Reider

A Yes, sir, I was there.

[The session paused at 1532, 9 February 2004, and reconvened at
1559, 9 February 2004.]

e When you arrived back on the 5th of December and
assumed the role as Command Sergeant Major, did you know that
there was an MI Brigade that was operating as your higher
nheadquarters for the Forward Qperating Base®”

A I know that there was an 06 on post, Colcnel Pappas.

I know thay were basing the 5 commanders of Abu Ghraib and that
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the Interrment/Resettlement operation was pretty much a 320th
task

Q. Have you ever asked or inquired as to the command
relationstip betweer the 320th and 205th MI Braigade?

A No, sir, I never asked about the command--I never
asked what the climate was or anything like that between 1t was,

C. In other words, you understood the 320th was the

detentior operations,

B Yes, s1r

¢ But you never asked to what extent are you related
somewhat to command and control to the 205th, other than being a
terart unit
3, Roger, sir, that was our understanding. The 205th had
a LRS company out there that conducted--or 165 had a LRS company
o~ the ground out there with us that provided LRS operations
outside the wire, as well as the 82d, and our own QRF as far as
securlty lcrces there. The MI conducted military interrogations
and zhings cf that nature And we reported basically to Colonel
Pappas and his chain. I met the Brigade CSM on one occasion,
Commarcd Sergeant Major- I believe a lot of thear elements

were hare at Victory, as well, and had only a small cell at the

FOB, one out at Abu Ghraib.
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¢ What do you think i1s the role of the Forward Operating

Base”

A My assumption would be, sir, that they would be ian
charge of the quality of life issues on post, the facilities,
the overall operating fazilities that they have there on post,
cocrdination as--or the head element as far as the coordination
between ttre sub-elements on post, the monitoring of the exact
cperaticr on the post, i1tself A lot of times, I would findg
myself as the Battalion CSM lecoking for further guidance up
there tc the FOB because I understood the FOB ran the operation
out there But 1t wasn't somewhat in place. A lot of times, I
wcuia make an on-the-spot correction 1n regards to uniforms, and
there woulc be two sets cf standards Some soldiers were
allowed tc--1n fact, I grabbed @ scldier in the mess hall before
we came ouvt He had that Iraqi scarf-type thing in a tan and

wh:te check, per se, around his neck and he told me, he said,

"Tha* 'z accepted--,” or he said, “That’s authorized by my
commander *

C Cid you ask him who his commander was”?

I He said he’s a LRS element, sir, and that’s what I

plan to take up when I gco back to Abu Ghraib
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C. Now, you’'ve been in this business now as a Command

Sergeant Major for the last 4 years with the same outfit, the

320th

& Correct, s1ir.

C Now surely, in the context of conducting an I and R
mission ir a combat operation that holds detainees, that there’s
going —c be some 1nteraction with 1nterrogators. Were you at
al: curious or aware of what interrcgators do, interacting with
your MZs with regards to, you got prascners in there in a
securliy c¢rea to secure the detainees, and you’ve got folks
somewhat providing either instructions or lnteraction or
coordinat:or between the MPF guarcs and the interrogation. Were
you ever Jurious as tc what are the established procedures?

L Yes, sir. I've observed some ¢f the procedures, sir.
I've cbservec the interrogation block located over at Camp
Vigi_.ant there, just on the--1t’'s the building on the outskirts
of where Vigilant began, the building right there, and I’ve
walkec through 1t. I have not 1nterrupted any of the sessions
that 1 saw, but never observed anything out of the ordinary,
other than talking to the prisoners

¢ You never inquired about what should be the
establ:shed SOP or any guidance written or otherwise that would

establisk why they’'re even coming into the cell and taking out
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any of these detainees and taking them to the interrogation
room, any practices whatsoever in regards to punishment or
things of that nature?

A. No, sir. I would assume that that was part of the
operaticnzl role and that they were doing 1t for the military
side ¢f tie house in regards to the operations. I would never
see them cc 1nto a cell and take them out because basically, the
cells were down on the hard site there and they’d come down in
cars anc things of that nature. What I observed mostly with the
MI -5 coming by Camp Ganci and taking the prisoners out, moving
them up 1rtec the facility right there and conducting the
interrogstions there, Thern I would tour into the interrogation
area, anc like I say, sir, I've never observed anything out of
the ordinecry I observed basically two soldiers or two
interrogators talking to an Iragl prisoner. What the content
was or whet he was charged with, what they were asking him, I
dor’t know, sar It was pretty much soundproof

. Have you ever asked your guards and say, “How do you
guys dc that®™” Have you inquirec cn your guards or your
.eadersnir® What’s our interaction with them since we’re
supposed tc¢ be doing detention operations”®

A The MI compound--or the MI guards would show up, sir,

and sav they want to see Prisoner such-and-such. They’d give my
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compouna cuards an ISN number. A compound representative, who
spoke English most of the time, would go in and summon that
person thét needed to be seen by the MI. The MI would then
escert the prisoner from that area up into the interrogation
area

C Have you ever asked any questions just out of sheer
curiosity of why those prisoners are being held in solitary
confinement?®

A No, sir. The one yesterday in solitary that 1
observed with the handcuffs on was the one that tried to escape.

' Which one tried to escape®

N

k. I couldn’t tell you his name, sir.
¢ Winen did he try tgc escape”

The day before, sir, out of Tier number five. He was

T

the cne that----

Q He was the one that was crawling underneath the bus-?

L Roger, he went arcund the side, sir, with the barbed
wire we hacd there, pushed his way through it, down to the left,
got pinched--tried the cone gate there that was locked, which I
find amaz.ng--that the Irag: Guards, the ICOs, they don’'t lock
anyth:ng, sir. They have to be constantly told. And has he
kept gorng, the one guard i1n the tower tried to come down the

stairs, but he couldn’'t get out in time. And then when the
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alert wert out, Sergeant -was coming out of Tier One A and
fumbling around with the keys. He was finally able to get out
of the guard tower and down to where he went under. -as
able t2 come out and get him out from underneath the bus.

G Okay, you mentioned something about corrective actions
that were made since the allegations have been made of multiple
detainee abuses Did you cr your Battalion Commander, acting
Battaiion Commander, Colonel - discuss any kind of a plan
cr were you -nformed of any pian, wraitten or otherwise, to
conduct correctilve actions tc prevent reoccurrences of detainee
abuses by the guards?®

B Yes, s5ir Different flyers and notices have been
posted. <u.es ol engagement were once again gone over.

C What I meant to say is, what I mean by a plan, 1t has
to be a written plan, like an operations order of some sort, or
ar OPLAN >r an 50P, and then bring people irn and instruct them,
as oprosed tc just arbaitrar:ly posting SOPs and flyers and
things of that nature We're talking about a training plan of
scrts that would correct the shortcomings that were perpetrated
by the seven or ten other soldiers that did all these alleged
abuses

A We AAR'd 1t and talked amongst ourselves, sir, what

transpired We can’t really say at liberty, I guess, because
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there’s a confidentiality to report what the full content was.
We talked with the staff. We hope that maybe this 15-6, once
1t's finalized, will help us formulate a training plan, I
believe, find out where the shortcomings were, what we can do to
implement & plan, that something like thais won’t happen

C Sc even to this day, you are not aware of any
spec:ficity of what those soldiers dad?

A I've seen the charges, sir, but the exact--I've seen
tre werding of the charges The exact elements of exactly what
went i1ntc each of those charges that precipitated the next
element, no, sir, I'm not aware of 1t

0 You were just shcwn, “.ndecent acts, cruelty,” things
¢l that nature, but you’ve rnot seen any film or photographs,
things of{ that rature?

A Nc, sir, no film, whatsoever.

Q And your guards that you talk to every day have not
told vou anything of any degree of specificity of what those

soldiers might or might not have done?

A, No, sair
o Not at all.
A No, sir. I know some soldiers have seen photos,

allegedly I know some members of the staff may have seen some

of these photos I haven’t seen a photo, sair.
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Q So really, the corrective actions that you’re talking
about 1s not a comprehensive list of corrective actions, it was
just kind of a response or & reaction to what 1s really
transpiring, like more signs out there reminding people to not

do this s-uff, that sort of thing.

A. Yes, sir.

o. That’s the kand cof corrective action yocu're talking
abcut

A Yes, sir.

C And have you seer Colonel ‘t all, whatsoever?

He gatheresd all these guys and you read everybody the full
context cf the allegaticns that are made against the Battalion?
A Has he...
C Has he done any of that stuff”™ 8Since you were with

him, at Tae time when people were getting suspended and being

reiieves i{rom thelr particular job position and he was then, of
course, sibsequently appointed as the Acting Battalion

Commander

A Yes, sir. Cclonel -c:ame in on the ground with

Cclonel _ and Cclonel _sa:.d he’'s going to be

staylng o1 as the Battalicr Commander.

C But before then though, who did you think, since the

Battalion Commander was suspended on or about the 13th of 14th
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or 15%th ot January or something like that, who was then the

Actinc Battalion Commander at the time?

A. The X0, sir, Major_
G Ma]or-was the X0. Did he then take immediate

asction to correct the problem”

k. Once again, sir, we 1implemented that plan of
unscheduled checks and visits by staff personnel. The reading
of once again, and pesting of signs and things, encouraging
soldiers to report viclations of detainee abuse and to overall
tc make the command aware of--without going into certain details
cf the 1nciaent that had occurred waith the 372d.

0 But since you’ve been in this business for a long
time, whal deo you conslder as yvour pible, so to speak, when

!

yo.'re ta._kinc about detention operations® What are the
regulatorv and doctrinal fieid manuals, MTP that particularly

would be associated with the conduct of detention operations or

Internment. and Reset:tlement”

A It would be, si1r, the Battalion S0P, which we have, or

the MT? a-ce the two books that I mostly look at.

@ Rre you familiar with AR 190-87
A If you give me the rame of 1t, sir, I may.
Q It has something to do with detention and

resettlemant
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COL MNELSON: Which one, sir? I've got 1it,.

MG TEGUBA. 190-6,

COL NELSON: Enemy POWs or retained personnel, civilian
internees and other detainees.

o] Are you familiar with FM 3-19-407

A No, sir

COL NELSON: And that’s MP internment, resettlement
OpeIratlicns.

C5¢ PRRISON The excerpts coming out of this, sir, and it
would be 1n the MTEF or anytning As far as sitting down and
opening >t up front to cover and know that that i1s the AR and
~hat's the title, no, sir.

" These are thaings that snould be somewhat relegated to
/CU as the Battzlion Commard Sergeant Major. You should be the
stbject metter expert

£ Or the training, yes, Sir

Q But you should alsc be very, very, very Xeenly
fami.iar with the context of this AR, because 1t has somethang
tc do wiltl the mission that vcu’re conducting today.

A If you're asking me, sir, 2f I can tell you about the
size of tre compounds, which come out of that, but to say that I

know verbztim what that manual says, no, sir, I don‘t.
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C Are you familiar with the context of the Geneva

Convention?

A Yes, sir, I've had Geneva Convention training.
C Do your soldiers have Geneva Convention training”®
A I believe that was one of the classes, sir, that we

had before we mobilized--or deployed, rather.

9] Are you able to articuliate the context of the Geneva
ConvenLicr that would make you culpable to war crimes if you
viclate such provisions of the Geneva Convention?

A Yes, sir, and I know that there’s crimes--a code as
far as théet goes

C What 1s typically associated with the Geneva
Ccnventicr and the handling of prisoners®

F Abuse, from which 1= one kind, stealing of trophies,

crisoner’: belongings, the administering of punishment, things

L]
i
rr

goes beyond that, as you know, cruel and inhumane
treeument, what 1s allowed, 15 nct allowed.

A. Yes, sir

G Have you seen any cf ycur guards parading any of our
detainees without their jumpscits or their clothing®

A No, sir.
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C Have you had any knowledge, whatsoever, that things

~:ke this----
A Just what I read, sir.
C Just what you read? Have you heard any rumors

associatec with that?

A No, sir.

0 What about the use of force relative to the handling
of a detainee getting preparec for interrogation?

A The use of ferce as 1n applying handcuffs and moving
ther fror one positicn to another? And again, your question

aga:r or that, sir, 1s am I aware of handcuffing the prisoner

anc movinc him?

< This 1s all part of an interrogation plan.
F Yes, sir.
C That basically stipulates what are those things that

are ccntained 1n an interrogatior plan as they relate to the
removal o! the detainee from his cell anc¢ taken to an
irterrogation room, being interrogated, returned back to his
ce.l, 15 there anything associated with any kind of post-
treatment® In other words, should that detainee be put on a
spec.&l meal plan? Or should that detainee be deprived of
sieep, for 4 hours every 24 hours to keep him awake? That he’s

only going to get 4 hours of sleep in a 24-hour period? Should
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he be shackled? Should he be stripped of his clothing® Shoulc
there be cther treatment? Are you familiar with that?

b I'm not aware of what would authorize that, sir, or
how 1t's rerceived or who makes that determination of what that
conduct--1s implemented I do know that certain prisoners are
placed on lack of sleep schedules, per se, but who makes that
determiration 1s, I assume, the MI and what their focus 1s on
rthat as far as what infcrmation they need to extract from a
prsoner I den’t know about them being paraded around naked or
things cf thils nature or abuse, other than as far as the sleep
schedule, I dc know that.

< What did you hear when four members of the 320th were

ne.d accountable for detainee abuses way back in May? When did

you :1rst pear about that”?

L When I was at ¥Fort Dix, sir
C When was that?
E In May, sir, I guess, I mean, 1t was--like I said, 1t

was wel. tnown. It diadr’t take long for it to travel back. We
had ore o!f my scldiers, I think, come back to Fort Dix in the
May timeframe for a back problem He was the one that made me
aware <f 1t

C. How would you characterize your relationship with your

Battalicn Commander, Colonel -
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A. I have a good relationship with Colonel _

Sir It's professional, yes, sir.

8: When you were not deployed and you were sticking
around at For%t Dix, were there any phone calls, whatsoever, or
emalris’

A I received a letter from Colonel _51r,
stating that he knew the predicament the six of us were in, that
he wished ne could do something about 1t, that has thoughts and
prayers are with us, thaings of that nature, sir. He knew that
a.. c¢I us wanted to deploy, but for certain reascons, we were
unapie--he didn’t hold that against us. He said that the
sclazexrs know

¢ Ever =ince you’ve been 1n that Battalion for the last
1 veers, row long was Colonel —jour Battalion
Commander up until the deployment time? How long was he in
command &rd you being his Command Sergeant Major? To what
ertent was your relationship with him, how long was that?

L Probably 7 months, maybe, sar

Seven months, did you know him before®?

Faa

In

No, s1r.

Was he assigned to the battalion before that?

Y

I+

No, sir

¢ So basically, 7 months worth of relationship----
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A I'd say that’s probably right, about 7 menths, sir. I
think sometime in the May timeframe, April timeframe of the
summer before that, we got mobilized.

C So you really didn’t establish a good solad
relationship with him, per se?

B We never performed at AT together, no, sair.

C So the first time you really performed together was at
mob:ilization®

A No, sir, we drill weekends and conferences tagether
and thzngs of this nature, but as far as performing a mission

together, nc, s.1r

" Nect in the collect.ve sense,

E Nc, sir

C Wrhat about any cther members of the Battalion®?

A The §3, sir, I've been on board with him for the whole

t1me

Who's the 537

4 So he’s been there the wholie time you’ve been there

ol ¥y

~

for the past 4 years?
F He was in the grcup, sir, the MP group that was here
1n the same building when I was at 367th, a group when I

origirally came on board, and then came and moved into the
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Battal-on Sergeant Major_, which 1s also & fulltime, an

AGR, he's always been as the Battalion Operations Sergeant Major

for the whole time I’ve known him.

C What about the XC, Major -
E The first time I laid eyes on Major - S1r, was

when T care here to Abu Ghraikb.

0 So you never knew him”
A No, s.r
C Headguarters Company Commander?

A Lieutenant -5 one cf my E6s, sir, back years
ageo I wes helpful 1n getting his direct commission to First
Lieutenar:--5econd Lieutenant, and eventually, now he’s a First
Liectenan:

Q Reporting detainee abuses or inmate escapes, OL you.
best knowledge, Sergeant Major, what are the established,
throuct S0P cr different doctrine, flield manuals and MTP, 1s the
procecure for repocrting that, documenting that?

ot The alert notification, six, to the TOC, the
summorsin¢ of tne IRF and the QRF, 1f 1t's a mass escape or 1f
1t's an irdividual escape, a guick assessment and
accourzability, the overall tryino of the apprehension, the
facts +har gc intec 1t, that if he does get outside the wire, who

1s he” Is he going to go back tc certain areas and things of
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this nature? Was there weapons involved? Are there injuries?

=

lt's pretty much along that line there, sir.

Q When you first heard that the Bucca incident occurred
and you said 1t somewhat demoralized the morale of the
battal:on, did you prov.cde any advice, whatsoever, to the chain
of commano or perhaps ever. suggested or recommended to get the
Battalion back on 1ts feet”

A Sir, I wasn’t here when 1t happened.

o Well, through your intermittent contact with the
Batta..crn’

A I never had much contact with the battalion, sir,
cther tha- the soldiers that were coming back through Fort Dix.

L Ancd what about the note, memoc or contact with your
Battalicr Commander--other than the letter that you got----

P No, sir. They pretty much had their--I wouldn’t say
the Battai:on did, sir, but pretty much--mind was made up that I

was golrg to be medically discharged from the Army.

g Are you still suffering from diabetes®

L I feel fine, sir I mean, 1t will eventually kill me,
put “hat’:s not today or tomorrow That wi1ill be somewhere down
the rcac,

¢ Competent medical authority cleared you for

deployment
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A

Yes, S1r.

Are you on medication now?

Yes, sir.

And your leadership knows that”
Yes, sir.

Tne 800th MP knows about ait”

Well, I don’t know 1f the 800th knows. I mean, they

knew that 1 was a medical hold due to diabetes, sair.

Q

But you’re not aware whether they know..
What type of medication I'm on, no, Sir.
All of your medical conditions....

No, s1r

Have you made that knowr cor made any attempt to

ccntaci--- -

A

Q
A

~ !

s1r, I

ceremony,

Ng¢, s.r.
When was the last time you saw General Karpinski?

The mcrning she came cut to Abu Ghraib, sir--well,

worry, 1 stand corrected, or the change of command

no,

sir, here on the 3is:t of January--the TOA, I'm sorry,

the LransZer of authority.

m

&
A

Q

The first time since ycur deployment?

No, sir, that’s the last time I saw the General, sir.

When did you see her before that?
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A. She came out right after this incident occurred,
talkec tc the leadership at their staff meeting that morning.
The time kefore that was Christmas Day, I think, sir, she came
out to visit the troops And the time before that, I met the
General here c¢cn Camp Victory

¢ Dic¢ you say sometrhing, converse, or was it just a
matier of meetings and things of that nature.

F Yes, sir., I apclogized for my Master Sergeant
ema>..:ng the General direcht.y with & matter, sir. That's when I
f1rs: got oh board, sc I‘m not sure whether that Master Sergeant
knew . wa+ or the ground, tecause she’s stationed down at Camp
Ar.ijar > didr't come through Camp Arifjan on my way in, I
came .r tnurough Camp Wclf up toc here

C Fow woulcd you characterize Colonel “
leadersniz style”

a Very approachable, siz, very soldier-oriented, to the
needs ¢l cChe soldier, very hands-on, he leads by example. If
the scldiers are stringing wire, he’s stringing wire. If the
sc.iClers are getting rainec on, he’'s getting rained on. He
.eaces from the front, siz The soldiers love him. I know my
kid=s dc 1n the 320th They're pretty well upset that their

Cclonel 18 over here and not back at Abu Ghraib.
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C When you arrived and he was the Battalion Commander
and based on your observations up until the allegaticons were
made, <hus removing some of the soldiers from their position,
how did you characterize the interaction between Colonel
Phillabaum and the rest of the soldiers?

2 Colonel — 15 always respected by his
scldiers, sir The soldiers, I guess, at the subordinate
company :evels didn’t know him as well as we know him, just like
I der’'t know their commanders or first sergeants as well as they
do becaus: of the different geographical areas. They're not
organ.cal.y assignec to us That’s one of the problems 1n the
Reserves, we don’'t know what we're getting until we show up and

de hacd one escecrt Guard Company that was organic to us

«Q
D
—
[
cr

k4

or & gccd number of years, the 305th Company out of West

™~

Virgiriz, and those kids were ¢great and we had a great working
relationshtp with them They’a come tc AT with us and do theur
posrtion c¢f the mission, which was the towers, the escorts of the
prisoners, and things of this nature. And for some geographical
reascn, where Ashley, Pennsylvania, and Wheeling, West Virginaia,
ana B_¢ Fend, West Virginia, are located, they decided that we
coulid~’t crovide the gulaance that they needed and pulied the
company from our control, which when they reassigned the

company, there was only another hour difference, 4 hours as
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opposed tc & hours of travel time And they assigned 1t to an

Ordrarce group, which makes nc sense to me.

C Sergeant Major, what would be your recommendation tc
help obv.ate some of the situation that your Battalion 1is
currer*ly undergoing?

A Well, sir, we have tc realize that this incadent right
here was no reflection on my Battalicn. This 1s not my
Battalicn of soldiers. These soldiers are from the 372d
Compary My Battalion has taken the hit, sir, from that Bucca
inc:dent, which we brought cn ourselves with the conduct of
trose fou- scldiers. These are not my soldiers. We 1nherited
it because of this operat:cr, and I'd like that to be known. I
digr't sese these soldaers befcre I got or the ground, therefore,
I didn': <row what type of soldier I'm getting If this 1s a*
irternal problem with the >72d that has peen existent for a
grezt perlod of time, I'm not aware of 1t., Onee again, sir,
this :1s echelons above us as far as who we get to do the job
wWotr I think maybe perhaps a problemr of this nature could be
elimirated :f somewhere 1n the future we knew what we were
werking with As I mentionec in the case with the 305th
Company, we knew what those kids were about. I knew who had

heart proklems I knew who had these kind of problems and

thirngs of this nature. They would know me. They came from the
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poorest part of the country anc the poorest states, those kids
down there. The biggest employer they had was the Army
Reserves, and they get to know these kids. But you don't get to
know thern when you never meet them. Sc the leadership has to
get down there. But 1if vou don’t know what you got until you
get here cr the ground, you're never golng to meet the
leadersh_r and they’re never going to get a chance to trust you
unti. you get 1n there to interact with them, and that takes
Zime, si-. It's not something that's developed from the first
tlme these units get on the ground and say, a day later or 48
ours lazer so ycu have to get to trust these guys. It doesn’t
napper R4t way, Slr.

recommending that the 372d fix

g S5¢ you are basically

therr own probklem?

£ I'm not saying ctnhat they have to fix their own
problem, «1ir I'm saying that that problem they had with those
individua_.s shouldn’t be & reflection on my soldiers from the

T

Battalion Like I say, s1r, we shot ourselves =r the foot at
Camp Bucza with the conduct of those soldiers, and we’ll take
the ni1t fer that. But this here, we didn’t do, sir

0 Was the 372d, just sc I'm clear in my head, was the

7Zd part of the 320th at Camp Bucca?

& Mo, sir,
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g They were not Who were they assigned to-

E I'd like tc say, sir, the 530th, and I can’t be sure
of that I believe they came 1in country in the May timeframe,
which 1s right arcund the time the Bucca incident happened. But
who they were with down here, sir, I wouldn’t know.

G Sc the 372d was assigned to another Battalion at Camp
Bucca

I'm rot sure 1f they were at Camp Bucca, the 372d,

T

sir
v They were.
£ They were somewhere--ok, they were, cokay. I wasn’'t
aware 27 *hat

0] And wher everybody Ifrom the 800tk got their mission,
I'r rot sure to what extent the 372d was reattached or
reass.gnad t¢ anotner outfit in the 800th, other than that the
800th assumed the mlssior here that was assigned to the 320th

that trhe 372d was then made part of Okay?

A Yes, sir.
Q Do you have anything else you want to add?
) No, sir

iCommard 3ergeant Major -as duly warned and departed the
interview area. The 1nterview terminated at 1630, 9 February

2004 ,
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Oon 14 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major
General Antonio Taguba, conducted the following interview.
Major General Taguba was appointed as an Investigating
officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by
Lieutenant General David D. McKierman, Commanding General
of the Coalition Forces Land Component Command (CFLCC), to
look into allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghraib,
also known as the Baghdad Central Confinement Facility
(BCCF) The panel also inquired into training, standards,
employment, command policies, and intermnal policies,
concerning the detainees held at Abu Gharib prison.
Flnally, the panel locked into the command climate and the
command and SUpPervisQory presence

The following persons were present:

MG Antonio M Taguba, DCG-CFLCC, Interviewer

COL ' Lackland AFB, TX, Member

LTC CFLCC-SJA, Member

SFC U 8§ Army MP School, Member

MSG er

The interview is summarized as follows.

I'm Sergea social security
rumber 13 am the Interim Brigade CSM, and
by MTOE I'm still also the Brigade Operations Sergeant
Major

I reported to Uniondale New York towards the end of June
last year, 2003 August 3, 2003 I arraived in Kuwait, and
was assigned to the 800™ MP Brigade. T was an Individual
Replacement, and I replaced SGM -who retired either
April or May 2003 as the Operations SGM He retired and I
was sent here to replace haim. I was not associated with
the 800" MP Brigade prior to this assignment. I worked up
at Garrison Command at Fort Leonard Wood ain the Operations
Section there

My MOS 1s 31B, and I have not worked with any unit like the
800" MF Brigade, nor do I have any experience with
Internment and Resettlement Operations My preparation for
this assignment consisted of reviewing the IR FM, 3-14-90

I was not given any specific guidance as to my
responsibilities and duties from anyone in the B00" MP
Brigade As an Operations Sergeant Major I knew what my

 TONY,
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skill sets were. -My immediate supervisor was Major
eESW® I met with the Brigade CSM and we did not
discuss my duties and responsibilities. We discussed that
he wanted me to keep him informed of issues concerming
soldiers and any serious operational issues such as
soldiers being injured or anything he could help out with.

Major NN did sit down with me once I got up to
Baghdad. He discussed with me that he wanted me to provide
oversight on the NCO part, and I helped draft up FRAGO's,
and he told me to perform the Sergeant Major job.

I used every opportunity to assess my duties and
responsibilities as it related to the 800" MP Brigade. I
knew that there had been a previous case of detainee abuse
at Camp Bucca, as I heard about that as I was in processing
at Uniondale in New York through conversation with other
members of the unit as well as the local newspapers.

I knew where the battalions where and what their jobs were.
The battalions were set when I arrived in theatre. There
were a few battalion moves between August and January. I
was not involved with their moves. It was already set
before I arrived. Major SUENNENENMR and his assistant OPS
officer did the planning and executicn. I did not get
involved with the orders preparation or planning Sessions
that Major R was 1nvolved in. I was not personally
involved from one mission tc the next with the battalions.

A lot of the mission of the 800" MP Brigade was related to
Internment and Resettlement Even though parts of the
mission was not doctrinal, there are certain references,
peolicies, to which the units most abide with. Some of
those are the treatment of humans, human rights, Geneva
Convention Codes, proper treatment of prisoners per the FM,
ané standard Army pcolicy regulations, and Army values. I
am vaguely familiar with AR 190-8 I am familiar that the
Geneva Convention needs to be posted where it i1is wvisible to
both guard and prisoner and ir the language of the prisoner
or detainee

I am familiar with the established SCOP called Detention
ROE I was not here, but I'm almost positive that there
was ROE training before I arrived Saince I arrived to the
800" MP Brigade, at least one modification to the ROE, and
1t was around the November timeframe. It was disseminated
to all of the units via a FRAGO. A new ROE was sent out



and we created some vignettes to go with the new ROE. The
units were instructed to train all personnel in the new ROE
and vignettes, and to ensure that they were posted in all
their guard towers and facilities.

I interacted with each of the battalions Operation
Sergeants frequently, some battalions more than others.
This was due to some battalions Operations Sergeants being
only involved in just tracking movements, and their
officers were more involved with the actual movements. I
was involved wath the receipt of reports from the
battalions to the brigade The principal reports that were
required by the brigade were: SIR’s or SALUTE reports, and
these were forwarded up to CJTF-7. Also, Troop to Task
reports were used for the S-3.

Reports 1nvolving detainee accountability and management
were rolled by the S-1. The S-1 handled this because it
dealt with personnel not necessarily operations. This may
not be the right answer, but that is the procedure that was
in place when I got to the brigade. Most of the SIR
reports that were submitted involved- IED's, mortar
attacks, pDrisoner escapes A ballpark figure of prisoner
escapes that happened from the time I reported to the
brigade was maybe 16 reports of escape. Once I received
those reports the staff would be briefed and it would be
sent up o CJTF-7, and then a subsequent report would be
prepared Scometimes General Karpinaki would launch a 15-6,
or an inguiry I can’'t recall getting any reports of
detainee abuse The repcorts were filed on email.

My appointment as the Interim Brigade Command Sergeant
Major was due to CSM oill® becing suspended and later
relieved of duty. General Karpinski asked me if I wanted
the job as Interim CSM, and I accepted I did not read the
report on CSM willm, but I knew the circumstances CSM

made gome falge statements under cath, and
allegedly had an 1llicit relationship with a subordinate,
and possibly misappropriate of a government wvehicle
General Karpinski told me cof this when she asked me to be
the Interim CSM. General Karpinski told me to make sure
that soldiers were taken care of and do some of the things
that her previous CSM hadn't done te include training and
mentoring soldiers and NCO's

I went to all the battalions and had an NCO call with their
CSM‘s and all available NCO‘'s I told the sBoldiers that I

(%]



was the new Interim Command Sergeant Major. I did not go
into detail of the circumstances of CSM i’ relief.

1 told some battalions that csM M was relieved.

When I did my NCO call, every battalion had a CSM. 1 asked
General Karpinski why she picked me over some of the other
genior battalion CSM’s. Before General Karpinski asked me
1f 1 wanted the position, I thought CSM Scanlon was in the
door waiting to be the brigade CSM. Her decision to choose
me caught me by surprise Even CSM «jlllll®@ had mentioned
to me that General Karpinski had mentioned to him that she
asked him to be the brigade CSM. General Karpinski told me
that the 530%" MP Battalion had moved from Camp Bucca to
Ashraf and because of the mission up there, their kattalicn
commander told General Karpinski that he really needed CSM
Scanlion up there She also told me that their battalion
commanders needed the other CSM’s, and that there were
several that she diad not have full confidence in to gave
them the jeob as brigade CSM.

I do not recall any extra emphasis being given to the
brigade with regards to directing improvements with the
conduct of senlor leaders eliciting sexual acts with junior
subordinates. When I went out and did my NCO call, I had a
few subjects that I went over One such subject was about
NCOER' s Another clags was on awards, but the key class I
gave was on conduct and discipline, and making sure that
soldiers were doing the right thing As the Interaim CSM, 1
did not get out to the hattalions as much as I wanted too
The 5-3 wag short handed During the two month that I was
the CSM, I visited the ba.talions at least once, and some
of them more than once I was the Interim CSM and I also
helping out in the OPS SGM position The OPS section was
short of enlisted and officers I continued to help them
when I could The S§-3 was authorized six total folks and
we averaged six folks

General Karpinski did not indicate that being the Interim
CSM would be my principal duty, but I know she wanted that
to be my principal duty As much as she and I wanted it to
be my principal duty, I couldn’'t always make 1t my
principal duty I told Major Cavallaro that I was now the
Interam CSM, and he was not happy about that due to the
cshortage of personnel in the 5-3 section He was happy for
me that I was given a leadership position. Major Cavallaro
did not go to General Karpinskil and ask her to allow me to
work both jobs Anything that was Brigade CSM focused was
always f:rrst, and that was clear with Major _ 1



don’'t recall having a talk with General Karpinski with
regards to my sharing my time between working as the §-3,
OPS Sergeant Major, and the Brigade CSM. I should have had
a talk with General Karpinski about this. I think I did
moxre in the two months that I was Interim CSM than probably
was done for a long time. I had NCO Call, I had a
promotion board, sent soldiers to PLDC, got projects built
inside some of the battalions to improve soldiers health
and welfare. My priority was the brigade. When I wasn't
actively doing something for the brigade, working for one
of the CSM's, working on a mission, I would walk over to
the §-3 section and help out if I could.

When I made my visits to the battalion I went back and gave
my observations to the entire staff. During the 1700 Staff
meeting I would stand up and give the pulse of the
battalaion I would tell of any infrastructure problems
that the 5-4 needed to work on. I would talk about any S-1
prcblems General Karpanski and I talked about problems
that arose in the battalion on several occasions. I didn't
think everyone in the battalion was happy, but I thought
there was a lot of good information going up and down

Most of the time morale wasn‘t high. I would go up into
the towers and stand and talk with soldiers for up to 45
minutes Scldiers told me that they were tired of being
there, tired cf being in towers, tired of being short
handed, tired of seeing peopie being REFRAD due to the 24
month rule and no one comes to replace them. Some of the
positive comments were that the facilities were improving
daily, Internet café, and heat in the rooms, among others

I would describe General Karpinski's leadership style as
direct. She 1s an authoraitarian, neot a passive leader
When 1ssues are brought to her she 1s direct General
Karpinskl reemphasized the treatment of detainees in a
poiicv letter I am familiar with the two policy memo's,
one dated 5 October 2003, titled, “"Proper treatment of the
Iragyl people during Combat Operations and the other dated
12 December, 2003, title, "Dignaty and Respect while
conducting Operations I don’'t recall that a command
directive to tell the units to read tc everybody those
memo‘’s nor do I recall anyone telling us to post them for
all to read It may have been done though When abu
Ghraib became an enduring camp everything started to flow
in As to livaing conditions at Abu Ghraib, a lot of the
soldiers were living in the cells We wanted to get



rrailers for the soldiers. This was hindered by the mortar
attacks A mess hall has been put in as well as a MWR

TOOMm

I knew that the 205%" MI Brigade was directed to be the FOB

command for the Abu Ghraib prison. It did raise my
curiosity as to why that happened We had a Battalion
Commander there that was in charge until a full Colonel was
moved 1n with the 205%™ MI Brigade. I did not make an
effort to meet the 205" MI Brigades CSM. I used all my
efforts to meet with the 800" CSM‘s and its soldiers.

As Far as knowing the operational status of the 320" MP
Brigade, I made as much an effort as I could to deal with
issues when they came up I know the importance of Abu
Ghraib in relation to the other Battalions in the 800" MP
Brigade We needed more force protection at Abu Ghraib.
Thais would have had to come from CJTF-7.

I was at dbu Ghraib visiting the Battalion there more time
than any other Battalion. I am familiar with Cglonel
MV ] had met him several times. Right now the
moraie 1s lower in the 320°" MP Battalion than it was

before  Overall morale of the battalion was maybe

"medium “ I knew that the 320 Battalion was the battalion
involved in the detainee abuses at Camp Bucca.

I was out at Abu Ghrailk several times and I met with
General Karpinsk: about some of my observations. One of
the observations had to do with meeting SFCewsilllla when he
came downn and did his assessment with General Rider. We
discussed weapons out in the compound area. I did follow
ups with regards to this issue with weapons. Weapons were
st1ll 1n the compound because that was the decision that
was made For weapons to stay in the compound tents. I
recommended that weapons be removed. The battalion
commander and his $-2 officer said that the only thing that
keeps 1nmates from coming over the wire into the compound
tent during mortar attacks was them being able to have §
miis They went and spoke to the CG behind closed doors,
and came to a compromise where they could still have their
weapons but they must carry them in their cargo pockets.
The weapons had to be concealed If it was my decision, I
wouid have went without weapons



[The session recessed at 1306 hours, 14 February 2004.]
[The session resumed at 1326 hours, 14 February 2004.]

The other Sergeants Major told me they were supportive of
my assignment, but I know that they would have reservations
without telling me I spoke to each of them individually
and all of them said they were fully supportive. I‘m sure
there was some resentment inside. I would probably feel a
little slighted 1f I was a CSM and an SGM was the Bragade
CsM.

Accountability of detainees went up through the s5-1
channels unless they come up shorthanded. Then they would
send 1t up to operations with the circumstances. There is
a Brigade TACSOP but it doesn’t go into detail about
detainee accountability. General Karpinski is confident
that her commanders have good policy for headcounts. 1
would ask on my visits how they did their headcounts and
all of them were by ISN at breakfast, lunch and dinner.
The jails run by the Irag: Corrections officers did it
themselves.

The 5-1 maintained a database by numbers by each facilaity
and on a daily basis. The report broke down the raw
numbers in several ways. The database was massive. Major
Garrity worked late each night updating i1t. The reports
were forwarded to PMO and they may have forwarded them to
CJTF-7, out 5-3 did not Same for SIRs, and they would go
to the LNO

I helpecd resource getting soldiers up for additiconal
training the SrCc ANEEN was providing as a refreasher
course SFC GNNNNNRR ccar selected specific days that they
could be available and we sent out the information to all
the battalions so they could send representatives to this
training The battalions sent their representatives so
that they could go back and train the trainer. I don't
think there was an establ:shed deadline tc have the
training completed. There was arn initial directive telling
the battralicns about this training There was not
validation process with the training There should have
been I don’'t recall any validaticn process with any of
the battalions to see if and when the training was
completed.



With regards to the 320" MP Battalion and morale problems
no special or specific instructions were given to me by
General Karpinskl to pay more attention to this particular
battalion than the rest. I do not know if any special
training of instructions were given by the §-3 of the

Brigade, Major— right after the incidents.

As the senior enlisted advisor, there was a bond between
the brigade commander, General Karpinski and me. She
trusted me, and I trusted her. This was a good command
relationship. I know that General Karpinski did not have a
great deal of respect for the former CSM of the brigade,
csM il This was because of the allegations about
him, and the fact that he was never around. It was obvious
to everyone that there was not a good relationship there.

With regards to the alleged abuses of detainees at Abu
Ghraib prison there was not an effort to canvas the
brigade, or to try and quell rumore. There was not a
special mission to do that. I spoke with all of the CS8M's
and let them know what was going on. Because thls was an
ongolng i1nvestigation we did not talk about it to the whole
brigade. I personally didn‘t go to talk to scldiers about
this because I was told not to talk about it by General
Karpinski, as 1t was an ongoing investigation.

I have knowledge about the detainee abuse. What was
relayed to me was that there was some horrific things done
I was tolé that there were nude detainees, bags over their
heads, MP’'s in the pictures, that sort of thing. I 4id not
see any pictures, or CD's about this.

Everyone saw or knew that the people in the senior
leadership were suspended or relieved. Some of the
individuals were Colonel — SGM NENEENp 1SG of
the 372™, and the SFC NCOIC of the night shift at Abu
Ghraib, and the Company Commander I had no knowledge of
any follow on information about the suspension of these
ind:ividuals by General Karpinsk: The initial time that
she briefed the staff that there was an issue, I was not in
that meeting One of my NCC's let me know that there was
an 1ssue and the CG talked about it As far as giving
particular guidance about the incidents she did not give
any Shz did bring it up once or twice more at another
staff call I have no knowledge whatscever that she
instructed the brigade leaders of the battalions to check
their soldiers to prevent further abuses of this nature. I



do know that she put out a policy letter right after the
incident which discussed detainee abuse, and that was
disgeminated.

I would not consider myself as part of the “tight knit”
group of the senior leaders within the BO0™ MP Brigade. I
am the new guy. Peer staff officers call each other by
their first names. A “go to” person in the 800" MP Brigade
15 a hard question. Maybe the Chaplain, maybe Colonel
MR, mayvbe Colonel WM. I do not have a “go to”

person. I do not go to the CG with my personal iassues.

The one recommendation that I would make would pe
reinforcement type of training. I also atressed standards
and uniformity when I went up to the battalions.

I would like to add that as far a prisoner escapes and loss
of accountability as soldiers, there is no excuse for
prisoner escapes. The brigade had over 32,000 prisoners
and only between 16 and 20 have escaped. Total adds up to
about 35, and this 15 less than a decimal of a percent. I
think overall the brigade did pretty well at maintaining
accountability. Some of the escapes happened under the
Iragql corrections officers watch I feel deeply saddened
for the entire brigade and every soldier who was called up,
deployed over here and built up camps from nothing and
working hard all year long for these two incidents to
completely tarnish everything they and the brigade has

done This includes building a corrections system from
nothing to where it‘s at Vdday I think it’'s unfortunate
that soldiers and some leaders make some terrible decisions
that steered the course of our successful mission to
overshadow that by a couple of incidents

Those who committed need to be punished, and I guess there
1s more that we could have done at brigade level to help
prevent that There 1s always more that we could have
done I wish there was more that I could have done, and
there probably was

MG Taguba warned the regpondent not to discuss his
interview with anyone and let him know that he was subject
to being recalled.

[The session closed at 1408 hours, 14 February 2004.]
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On 15 February 2004, a team of officers, directed by Major General Antomio Taguba,
conducted the following interview. Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D McKiernan, Commandmg General of the Coalitton Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Gharib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF). The panel aiso mquired mto traiming, standards,
employment. command policies, and internal policies, concerning the detainees held at
Abu Ghanb pnison  Finally, the panel looked into the command chmate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present:

MP, CFLCC - PMO, Interviewer

A, CFLCC - SJA, Interviewer

705" MP Battalion, Interviewer
 310™ MP Battahon, Interviewee
7D30, CFLCC - SJA, Recorder

The (nterview i1s summarized as follows

My name 1 My social secunty number 1o EDAR | am
the Battalion Command Sergeant Major with the 310" Military Police Battalion. I am

Reserve

1 was assigned as the Battalton Command Sergeant Major on 8 July 2002 Before this
assignment [ was detachment Master Sergeant for the 98" Division. 1 was the reserve
liaison between Connecticut National Guard and the Army Reserve for NCOES

My role as the Battalion CSM mainly 1s the semor enlisted advisor to the Battalion
Commander on all enlisted matters. [ assist the Battalion Commander in any official
function that he requests my presence at, ceremonies things of that nature I monttor
troop morale, ensure NCOER's are processed correctly, mentor and counsel senior
enlisted to make sure they are taking care of their troops, uniformity, and all other aspects
of enhsted needs.

I have seen several problems with the command, but it 1s nothing that can't be fixed The
rclationship between officers and noncommissioned officer, I think more emphasis on the
NCO’s be aliowed to do their job Some Officers should give the NCO's a little bit more
authonty to do their job. The morale problem with soldiers thinking they were going
home didn’t help the srtuation either

An example would be a semor NCO's trying to mentor a young soldiers by assigning a

task and then an officer undermuned the senior NCO, by telling the junior enlisted they
didn’t have to complete the task

Aarmen 78



I try to talk to the officers and the colonel the best way possible on the roles officers and
enlisted are suppose to play, and try to monstor and reemphasis 1t. The individuals have
to be reminded to follow the chamn of commard But, 1t continues to happen because the
officers continue to allow 1t

We amved here 16 December 2003 and we relieved the 724" MP Battalion, we were at
Die before that. We spent 49 days assigned to the 1* MEF, and then we were reassigned
to the 800™ and stayed there untti 16 December 2003

We are an IR umt, we were specifically trained for the misston that we have here We
were probably at about 52% strength when we recesved our orders  We were cross-
leveled and we recerved personnel 812™ MP Company from New York We arnved 1n
country on April 12" We spent 32 or 33 days 1n Anfjan, and then we moved to Dle
with 1¥ MEF

The 1* MEF took care of us In my 2!yrs in the mihtary that was the best that a unt |
served with had been taken care of We actually had more support from them than
anyone etse The difference 1n leadership between the 1™ MEF and our unit was an
exireme difference The mannes followed their rules and regulations; they used common
sense, and allowed leeway in regards to UCMJ actions They gave warmung, then
counseling, and then on to the next step  They always used the cham of command when
1t would only reach therr staff sergeant level As for the Anny problems would make 1t
up to the Battalion Commander before the 1ssue got resotved

The standards fell once the mannes left DIE  Disciphne, uniformity, and work ethic are
some of the standards that fell We immediately attempted to resolve the falling of the
soldrers standards any lower, and 1t's still an ongoing 1ssue I think it improved because
soldiers are fully employed here, and also the effarts of the sermor NCOs and myself to
keep morale high There 1s no saluting on the compound

The unuts that are assigned to the compound are 310" Military Police Battation, 977"
Milnary Police Company, 988" Military Pohice Company, 998" Quartermaster, 151
Signal Batialion, 161" Medical Company, 806" Postal Company, and 2 dog handiers
whose units 1 can’t remember right now

When Gen karpinski armived she basically stated she was the new commander, and
briefed us on the basic commanders guidance Some topics covered were getting
evervone home safe, and keeping morale up

We haven't had an 1ssue with NCOER's because about 99% of them aren’t due, until
they redeployed There are some that we had to submut, they were kicked back, but only
for some minor mistakes All of our ARCOM's have been completed, the were some
bronze stars that were submitted and were kicked back three times, the last ume I had 1o
getinvolved | had to speak to LT {iJR. to find out exactly what they needed



We have had ] escape since we took control of the prison, it happened during extreme
heavy fired when we had to have detamees low crawi out of the compound. We account
for detainees by an ISN/picture count, and a headcount which we do both twice a day
The count 15 verified by a manifest.

The compound 1s responstble for collecting the counts for both Abu Ghraib and here, and
submittng a consohdated report to higher We had MAJ 4l domng the camp counts
before she left

My understanding of comments made by the 724" MP Battalion 1s they attempted to take
over MA} function as a Battahon function She was left here to continue to
handle that job Under nonmnal circumstances an 8-1 shop would handle thet task and an
E-7 would be 1n charge of it

The 310™ 15 a Military Pohce Bartalion It1s aiso an IR battalion The umform authorized
here are DCU's, BDU’s and PT Uniforms  Fhp-flops are authonzed to and from the
shower There are deviances for the Nauonal Guard soldiers that weren't 1ssued the new
PT unuforms Anyone that was n close contact with detainees was requred to wear the
interceptor body Armour, and Kevlar helmet Weapons could be secured if soldiers had

1o come tn close contact with detainees

The Battalions soldier individual task under the Barttalions METL have been 1dentified,
1t's an ongoing leadership duty from team leader on up the chain  Qur METL had
changed upon our arnival here, but now 1t has changed back to the orginal plan Most of
our training to was OJT The individual tasks were working an interior tower, employ
non-lethal weapons, basic use of force, and escort of detamnees It was the responsibility
of the S-1 to make sure the Geneva Conventions training was distnbuted and preformed

The soldiers’ standards that were lacking were n the common soldrer task area
Specifically the standards lacking are discipling, customs and courtesies, and the basics
that would allow the soldier to perform at their best. If everyone 1s not enforcing the
standards 1t’s like shoveling sand against a ure

Sir, | have no problems being honest, but I'm a hittle thrown off by the scope of this
nlerview | can give you more detail, whether I feel comfortable about 1t 1s another
storv Like | said before, the suppon of the officer’s piays a big part 1n the role of an
NCO The NCO can work lus hardest, but 1f the support from the officer 1s not there the
NCO loses hus credibthity Where 1 came from before that 1s not allowed to happen, so
that ts why 1 try may hardest to not that let that happen here, but you always have one or
wo

Recently we had an E-7 flat out disobey a tasking given out by an E-8, The statement the
E-7 made was; he was not doing 1t, do what you want to me, a counseling statement,
Aructe 15 Letter of Reprimand. [ don't care There were 2 or 3 officers within an
earshot of the conversation Statements were prepared, an Article 15 was recommended.
The Article 15 went up to the Battalton Commander 1 gave mput to the Commander on



what | think the disposition of the Article 15 should be The E-7 only received a letter of
reprimand. | was told prior to the disposition of the Article 15 that 1t would be a letter of
reprimand, and I voiced my disagreement and it still took place anyway The E-7 is SFC
@l and the E-8 1s MSGUIP STC g ratcr is CPTUIW SFCEEER was
clearly disrespectful towards MSG D

We are very extremely short on personnel  We only have one individual who is the
movement control NCO who resides back at Camp Arfjan  We have been making our
personnel shortage well known since we knew we would be losing bodes

When we arnved here the 724" MP Battalion had a no salute policy We discussed the
policy, and decided to keep it the way 1t was because we had EPW security detainees in
the area That was a mutual agreement between the Battalion Commander and mysetf

MG Karpinski’s battalion prionties were to keep soldier’s safe, get everyone back home
safe, get the job done, keep morale up, and focus on leadership. It was the standard
speech a commander would give to his command

There were reports of detamnee abuse by soldiers of the 310" MP Battalion There were
two reponts that | know of The first soldier received an Arucle 15, which was finahized
today It was a Battalion level Article 15 1 was not present, because the soldier
requested MSG Lombardo be present

****(Remaining portion of mnterview not captured on recording due to technical
difficuluies)

Tape 2 bepins

AR 190-8 covers the treatment of detainees, what you are allowed and not allowed to do.
The detainee count 1s reported to the Battalion TOC and the S-1 The count is then
verified to the camp manifest There have been discrepancies in the detamnee count
When discrepancies are found there ts an immediate recount, The only tunes the recount
didn’t match with the camp manifest 15 when there were escapes.

The bantahion submits a USR, shortages of personnel was presented in the USR

****(Remaining portion of interviewed not captured on recording due to technical
difficulties)



SWOHRAN STATEMENT
For use of this form seg AR 19045 the proponent agency 1s ODCSOPS

PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

AUTHORITY: Trle 10 USC Section 301, Title 5 USC Section 2851, £ 0 8387 dated November 22, 1843 (SSA)

FRINCIPAL PURPOSE  To prowide commanders and law enforcement officials with means by which intofmabon may be accurately identfiea
ROUTINE USES, Your social securnty number 1s used as an addionavaliernate means of dentficauon 10 1acinate 1iing ana retneva
DISCLOSURE. Disclosure of your social secunty number 15 voluntary

1 LOCATION 2 DATE (YYYYMMDD) 3 TIME 4 FILE NUMBER

Camp Bucea, Iraq 2004/02/17 1522

5 LAST NAME, FIRS] NAME MIDDLE NAME 6 SSN 7 GRADE/STATLS
d o E-9/USAR

8 ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
310th Military Poitce Battalion, Camp Bucca, lraq 09375

9
. S WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

On 17 February 2004, at approximately 1300, I was mterviewed by COMEEERE, LTC \upp-nd L TC fililresarding an
ongoing invesuigation mto the 800th Miinary Police Brigade At the complenon of the merview, I was mstructed by LTC o
prepare a Sworn Statement, (DA FORM 2823), and to answer the following questions 1n my stalement

1 Describe the differences that the unit experienced berween the 1st MEF and the 800th MP BDE  For example, UCM]J actions
taken, uniform standards and policy, and the no salute policy?

ANSWER The differences that I nouced regarding UCMJ actions were that the majonity of the 1ssues encountered bv the Marines
were handied at the NCO level, only the necessary issues were accordingly dealt with at the hugher level In my opimon this was
due to the fact that the Marine Command structure allowed therr NCO's to do their job, and supported the NCQ's by enforcing the
"chamn of command™ The Mannes were not pronz 1o a lot of UCM]J acuon because the NCO's had the respect and authority of
thear troops, and this came from the support of the Officer's within  Thus was visible m the actions and performance of the vartous
Marine umts  As far as the 800th, more specifically the 310th, this respect and authorty 1s not there to the level that it should be
Thus 15 due to several reasons, the Officers keeping the NCO's out of the loop, Officers not backing the NCO's on vanous
decisions, Officers allowing Enlisted Soldier's to go directly to them with 1ssues, and Officers reversing an NCO's decision
withowt ever informing, or discussing, the circumstance with the NCQ  Regarding the uniform standards and policy there 1s not
much difference 1p our current policy as there was when we were with the Marines The enforcement of this area 1s a basic NCO
responstbihity, and was enforced ai all hmes The no salute policy was in effect far the Camp, by the Mannes i Ad Diwamiyah
When we amived at Camp Bucca, the 724th MP BN had the same policy o effect for thus Camp Upon Transfer of Authornty to
the 310th MP BN, the Command staff dectded to keep that policy 1n effect due to the presence of EPW's/Securnty Deramees

2. Describe the accountability process for detainees and escapes?

ANSWER The accountability process for detanees 1s to conduct two "Roll Call” counts each day, one at mormng meal, and one
prior 10 curfew  Roll call counts are conducted by venifying the ISN with the corresponding detainee, then with the mamfest
There are also t(wo "Head Counts™ conducted each day, "Head Counts™ are done by counting the total number of EPW 's/detainees
1n each compound, then verifying the total with the mamfest One "Head Count will be conducted a1 the evemng meal, and the
second one at random during the 24 hour penod  If a "Head Count™ 1s interrupted for any reason, a “Roll Call” count will be
conducted immediately

When there 1s an escape, or suspected escape, the facility 15 immediately "locked down"  All compounds conduct an immediate
"Head Count” and forward this count to BN Operations BN Operations consohidates the counts from all compounds and verify's
the total count  After secunty 15 established and mamtained n the compound's, a "Roll Call™ count 15 also conducied by each
compound

3 Describe the Baitalion process to bring Compames up 10 METL standards for GPW?

ANSWER Thus process staried on 09 Jan 2004 wath the arrival of the 977th Mititary Police Company, and the 988th Military
Police Company at Camp Bucca Both Companes were briefed by the 724th Milntary Police Batialion, and the 310th Miluary
Police Bartalion on 10 Jan 2004 The mmial brrefing consisted of a welcome brief by both Battalion Commanders, and an overview
of the mssion at Camp Bucca Over the next 2 days, both Companies were given guidance on thewr new mission as a Guard
Company, 1n support of an EPW Camp The Companes were provided copies of the Geneva Convention regarding GPW, AR
190-8, and FM 3-19-40 On 12 Jan , both Companies started their RIP with the unts that they were replacing and continned
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9 STATEMENT (Contnued)

10 recerve information o an On The Job Traiming status, (GJT) Trammng was conducted, and information was presented daily
covening the duttes and responsibilities of 2 MP Guard Company, and GPW  Daily Staff Briefings were held with connued
emphasis oo the Geneva Convention regarding GPW, 10 include examples of violations of GPW  In early January 2004 the 310th
MP BN requested the 800th MP BDE to provide tramng on "Use of Force™, and "Rules of Engagement™ Major Prieto of the
800th MP BDE provided this training to us twice, once m the beginmming of January 2004, and agan towards the end of January
2004 Battalton and Company leadership were directed to make on the spot corrections to ensure continued improvement in all
aspects of EPW operanons The Battalion efforts to bring the Compames up to METL standards 1s connnuous, but chatlenging,
due to the raprd mumnover, the OPTEMPO, and himited manpower avariable within the Battalion

4, Explain what has happened 1n detainee abuse cases?

ANSWZR | am aware of two mncidents that involved physical contact between detamnees, and U S Soldiers  In one ncident |
received word from Cap tha: SPC @iiPwas not allowed to return to the Internment Faciluy due to an incident that
occurred between mm and a detanee  When 1 asked Captan @Sl what had happened, he told me that there was muwor physical
contact between SPC ¢l and a detainee, and the incident was being invesugated [ was told that (s incident had happened
several days earlier Dunng a conversation with the Battalion Commander, | informed ham of what 1 knew abowm this incident

The other incident occurred during questioning of a detawee and involved SPC P, 1 was nformed of this mewdent by LTC
The details as [ understand them are that SPC Ml was questionmg a detainee and that there was also an nterpreter
present wn the tent during this questioning  Accordng to the mterpreter's statement, SPC il struck the detawnee m the face |
tume, he then grabbed the detainee by the shirt and shook him, and also struck the detainee m the back [ was also told that the
detanee had reported this to the ICRC, and they informed LTC @SSR 1 understand that there were 3 other U S Soldiers i the
area of the tent, but they were outside of the tent I was told by LTC jjgusiiiilftha: he had directed Captain to conduct an
ivestigation 1nto the matter At the completion of the nvesuganon, LTC ¢l howed me the statement that was given by the
interpreter  The statement was in a quesuon and answer format with Captain @l asking the mterpreter the quesuons The
mterpreter mnally stated that he knew nothung about aay Soidier beating a detainee, but then supported the accusanon LTC
told me that he had statements from 3 other Soldiers and they stated that they did not see or ything LTC
then informed me that he was gong 10 admuuster Article 15 proceedings on SPC LTC tated that he had
decided (o reduce the Soldier 1n rank, take some pay from hum, and give hun extra duty LTC Wil aiso said that he was not
sure how much rank or pay he was going to take but he would not wreat the smuation lightly I was informed later that S
accepted ms Article 15 and the pumshments imposed were, reduction from SPC 10 PFC, 1/2 months pay for | month, 2 weeks o
extra duty, and suspension of his Secunty Ciearance for one year

5 Articulate what the umit did to request the need for additional forces?

ANSWER The urut has requested the need for addittonal forces on several occasions through the 800ih MP BDE This was done
through E-mail correspondence, voice commuscation, and face to face conversation These requests came from several different
peopte to include, LTC NI, MSG m}m At least rwo different imes MSG JRuSSR®and | wen( to Baghdad io
the 800th MP BDE TQC and spoke to Major d told lum that with our current manpower, we could not safely and
effectively perform this mission  Major 4P tated to me that we would be getting two full strength Combat MP Compantes
for the mission at Camp Bucca and that would be enough to do the mission At various different umes | notified CSM il and
SGM f these same concerns When we were finally told which Companies we were getung, we found out that one was
close to full strength, and the other was 52 Soldiers short of full strength  The unnt also continuously attempted to acquire the
Soldiers that we left belund at Fort Dix due to medical holds To perform our current mission we had to OPCON 12 Soldiers from
the 988th MP CO o fill the manmng requirements for the Compound Control Teams USR Personnel Data continues to be
reported to the Brigade on a monthly basis /1212417011111 18111ITNOTHING FOLLOWSH UL TR LT
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STATEMENT OF —_— TAKEN AT _Camp Bucca, lraq  patep 2004/02/17

9 STATEMENT (Continued)}
I TR L EINOT USEDH IR )

AFFIDAVIT
L, , HAVE READ CGR HAVE HAD READ TO ME THIS STATEMENT
WHICH BEGINS ON PAGE 1, AND ENDS ON PAGE i FULLY UNDERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MADE

BY ME THE STATEMENT 1S TRUE 1 HAVE INITIALED ALL CORRECTIONS AND HAVE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGF
CONTAINING THE STATEMENT | HAVE MADE THIS STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFIT OR REWARD WITHOLT THREAT
OF PUNISHMENT, AND WITHOUT COERCION UNLAWFUL INFLUENCE, OR UNLAWFYIL IN

{Signature of Ferson Making Statement]

WITNESSES Subscnbed and sworn to bafore me a person authonzed by law 10
admuruster caths, ths 44 Ty day of fe Amas et ooy

at o -

ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS {Signature of Parson Adgrmuinisteting Qath)
ame nng Oathl
CRGANIZATION OR ADDRESS fAuthonty To Adrimster Osths)
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SWORN STATEMENT
Fot mse of ths lerm, s2¢ AR 180-45, the proposen ageacy 8 0ICSOPS

PRIVACY ACT STATEMERT

"THORITY Title 10 USC Soction 307 Tithe § USC Section 2051, E.0 8397 datad November 22, 1843 (5S4

ANCIPAL PURPOSE To powde tommanders and law enlamement atficialt with means by whch miennston may be acoerately dentified
ROUTINE USES Yulr so5al $eCOMY numbdr IS tsed 31 30 aoditonalishtemale means ol Wentiication to teciate fing and ratneval
DISCLOSURE Disclasura of your social s6cumy number is vohntary
1 LOCATION 2 DATE fYYYYMMOD) J TIME 4 FILE NUMBER
Camp Bucca, Iraq APO AE 09375 Qe io2 20 roce

] 7 GRADEfSTATUS
AST HAME FIRST HAME NAME b 85N - ESET.ngCT]VE

8 OR A ADORESS
977th Milnarv Pohee Company, APO AE 09375

]
| _ WANT T0 MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

General command climate with regards (0 support, mssion, trammg, Hague and Geneva Convention and Milutary Cuswoms and
Couriesies The mam body of the 977th Military Police Company amved on 9 January 2004  Smce our armval the support from
the 310th Miliary Police Battalion has been good with relauon to QOL  Camp Bucca has had the best hfe support of any location
we have occupied the last six months  Since our arnval the camp has continued to improve adding another MWR nternet cafe,
equtpment wn the gym, a barber shop, and has held numerous bazsars  As far as mmsston support, we bhave been able 1o make any
changes and or improvements we deemed necessary to 1mprove our ability to accomplish the nussion We started out on twelve
hour shifts but were able 10 wansiuon o eight by realinging our troop to task  We have designed and started upgrades to the
securiny of the ECPs  We have made unproverents to the towers and suggested more improvements and our awaing approval
for plexiglass The S2 given here has been very himuted We were used to get all INSUMs posted by the 18th MP BDE and the
MNDCS Normaliv the briefs are limuted to the local area, because we travel 10 both Baghdad and Basra we need or m-depth
hnowledge We would have 1o ask for that specifically 1o prep for our mussions Our mussions daily mvolve convoy escons o
NAVSTAR. force protectton of Carnp Bucca nself mcluding eight stauc posts, area secunity patrols,and a QRF  We also conduct
the detawnee escarts 10 BOCF, the Schieba Military Hospital, or to Basra Airport  We also operated the two ECPs on camp  On
visitation days, we provide additional security at the ECP for visitor entrance and ai the visiauon site ttself We also assist with
*he searching of the visilors priof [o entrance 1nto camp We also augment the Fog Plan by providing dismoumed suppon to the
ith side of the [F and mounted support by pulling the ASO parrots and QRF 10 positions outside the IF where previous escapes
ve occurred The patrols also search the area exterior to the JF  As far as traiming, we have been conduction most these
TMSSI0N through out the deployment The detamnee escort has been the ondy umque mussion  Prior to every mussion, the platoon
mvolved conducts in-depth reassures on the required acuons dealing with the detainees from search techmique and the use and
hand and leg 1rons 10 achions on contact We have conducted searches all through our deployment during our law and order role
in Ad Dwaniyak, lrag  Poor to jumping to Camp Bucca we had eight NCOs assist on & detamee escott mission to BCCF  They
provided sigmficam train the wamer tnstrucuon (o our Soldiers on the nuance of the nmussion Durnng the RIP, we were assisted
on our first miss'on bv members of the umt we replaced We conducted refresher traimng on the ROE parucularly how 1t
pertains to the IF ang detaunees  We review the ROE weekly, as we have since our deployiaent The 716th MP BN our previous
higher required weekly ROE reviews and we have continued that pohicy here  The CDR and | also conducted an m-depth ROE
class 1n December 03 Although each Soldier does not currently carry a ROE card, we did not have enough, the updated ROE 15
posted i each tower and ECP The Hague and Geneva convention standards are posted at the IF We have not conducted any
specific tramiii in the Hzgue and Geneva conventions since our predeployment tramming m March 03 We did brief our Soldiers

on General letter dated October 03 ref 10 proper treaunent of detainees Contrary to my verbal statement, 1t was the
ROE tramning and how 1t pertams to the IF that we conducted Do to our limuted contact with the Detamees, we had not
conducted any Hague and Geneva training  We have now mandated that published a class on the Hague and Geneva Convenuon
and will brief the umt  Munary Customs and Courtesies has been lacking here at Camp Bucca Particularly evident by the lack
of saluing We have been saluung in base camps since May [ was surpnised when we did not salute here  Imuially our Seldiers
conunued to salute as we had been doing 'We were corrected many umes The 724 MP BN and 310th MP BN ordered that s
would be a no salute atea We conunue to salute just our officers, | was agan corrected and told to have our Soldiers to stop
saluting The double standard of who to salute and who not to salute was confusing to the Soldiers so we stopped | also found
uniform standards to be lacktng  Civilian clothes were aathorized 1w the gym and 1o the MWR room on Fniday and Samrday
mghts both counter to the theater policy Soldiers umforms were also mcompleie mussing patches  Lots of "do rags” were being
worn and uniforms were worn incorrectly 1 € no headgear, unauthorized sunglasses, 1d card holders worn on the arm sunglasses
on the top of the head sleeves improperly worn rolled up = few turns, and numerous other small violations  Alse nobedy was
carrving personal weapons Our unit maintamed ours despue what everyone else was domng We were never corrected on this
point
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sweere (I —— — vov  CompBuce lmg  pm

9 STATEMENT /Conticuved) -
The reporing of Detamee Abuse would be handled i our unit by reporting 1t from the lowest level through the chain of commanﬁ.
1o operations cell  From our operatons cell, we would report the simaton to 310th BN operations, our higher headquarters and
Camp Commandant QOur Soldiers also knew the [G could be used to report abuses or problems Our contact with detanees was
itmuted 10 their transport and security between Camp Bucca and BCCF or o exchange and release sites  For these missions, we
search the buses and detanees and also place them m leg wrons prior to loading them on Buses, We secure them on the buses unty
the are off-loaded at BCCF or the release or exchange site  Each bus 15 manned with an NCOIC, end two Soldiers Dunng the
Fog Plan cur headquarters until 15 place on the South Side of the IF,outside the mdividual compound wares but withm the IF wire
uself They are unarmed They roll is to provide additional vimbility duning the umned visibility period. Our ASO patrols and
QRF patrol the exterior of the IF concentrating on areas where escapes have occurred previously They patrol the areas just
outstde the IF wire and berm. They also conduct searches for prisoners in the area surrounding Camp Bucca if an escape occurs

AFFIDAVIT

; q HAVE READ OR HAVE HAD READ TO ME TRIS STATEMENT
WHICH BEGINS ON PAGE | AND ENOS ON P 77 . )FULLY UNOERSTAND THE CONTENTS OF THE ENTIRE STATEMENT MACE

BY ME THE STATEMENT IS TRUE 1 HAVE INTTIALED ALL CORRECTVONS AND HAVE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PAGE CONTAMING THE STATEMENT | HAVE MADE THiS
STATEMENT FREELY WITHOUT HOPE OF BENEFI™ OR REWARD WITHOUT THREAT OF PUNISHMENT AND WITHOUT COERTION, UNLAWFUL INFLUENCE, OR UNLAYEFUL INDUCEMENT

'erson Makwg Statemant)
WITNESSES Suvbicnoed and swom ta belarg me, & on euthonzed by Igw 10 '_} .
semtpLonths 1 dayo  Fe ) C f_
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On 18 February 2004, a panel of officers, lead by Major General Antomo Taguba,
conducted the following mterview Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigaung Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D. McKiernan, Commanding General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look into allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghraib, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also inquired nto traiming, standards,
employment, command policies, and 1nternal policies, concerning the detainees held at
Abu Ghraib prnison. Finally, the panel looked mto the command climate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

DCG-CFLCC, Interviewer

ckland AFB, TX, Interviewer

CC ~ SJA, Interviewer

, U.S. Army MP School, Interviewer
320th MP Battahon, Respondent

MG Antonio M Taguba,

The interview 1s summarized as follows:

I'm * Sergeant Major, 320th Military Police Battalion Operations
Sergeant Major My Soctal Security Number Isﬂ

CPI-then swears the Sergeant Major, and the mterview continues

1 arnived to the 320th MP Battahion tn June of '99, and I' ve been there ever since I've
been Operations Sergeant Major at several different units. I am an AGR soldier, so I've
been transferred about I never had any dealings with the 800th, before I got here We
deployed out of Fort Dix to Camp Anfjan Kuwait

There, we had traning 1n NBC defense posture We had some training in platoon
element type traiming  We had an event, the MRE It was postponed, and then canceled
at the last moment We had a Post Mobthzation Plan, but 1t pretty much went out the
window There was another training plan force fed to us, when we got there. Someone
from the 77th RSC did the validauon We did not do much training on Combat Support
Tasks Basically, we trained on common tasks, and very limited I/R Battaljon Tasks

We amved 1n Kuwait on 14 March, Sir [ went across the border on the 22nd of March
with an ADVON from the 800th MP Brigade We accompanted the MEF northward, to
put up theur first hoiding area It was north of Talil, and Nasinyah. They determned that
1t was too hot an area, so they brought us back down by Al Jazir That was too hot, and
they ended up telling us we had to take over the holding area the British were running at
Umm Qasr, Camp Bucca

Awvney S0



Qur traiung prior to going to Umm Qasr was very himuted We tramned on NBC Defense
Posture Methods. Everyone received the CFLCC Rules of Engagement. The
Commander went through 1t kine by ine  Our Rules of Interacuon 1s in our TAC SOP,
and that was gone through with all of our people It’s a standard TAC SOP. We did
update 1t for Iraq, prior to our leaving Fort Dix, and we had it republished at Fort Dix

I would be surprised, if the 724th and 530th didn’t have the same Rules of Engagement,
because I remember the 800th gomng through 1t battalion by battalion, and I remember the
changes First 1t was the CFLCC Rules of Engagement, then the 800th’s Rules of
Engagement Now, 1t’s back to CFLCC Rules of Engagement

The tramming was conducted at the platoon level, Sir  Our Platoon Sergeants did that
The Platoon Sergeants were pre-trained by and myself 1don’trecall if
we had a sign-1n roster, but we sat down with the entire platoon present, and because the
platoons are so small, we knew 1f everybody was present

We were bniefed on the Geneva Convention, back at our home station, and we were
briefed again on 1t at Fort Dix | remember, prior to us going across, getung another bnef
on this Treating all detainees with humanity and dignity 1s what the Geneva Convention
boils down to, also safeguarding them, the 5 Ss, conducting operations 1 a humane
manner, and giving them proper care, clothing, and food 1 also recall that they have a
right to Red Cross presence, and mail

After the incidents of detarnee maltreatment, we retrained everybody We trained them
by platoons, after we reorgamzed the platoons, because all of them came out of one
platoon We put sentor NCOs 1n with the platoons, as well, to ensure there was always
somebody there, durtng mussion operauons Al every shift change bref, at noon and
rudnight, I led the traiming It was NCO dniven  Running the compounds was NCO
business The Battalion Commander would have his own staff bniefing, and give us the
information he had to put ont, and 1 would take that 10 the Shuft Change Bnef.

I' ve never recerved disciphinary action from BG Karpinski  She has approached me to
tell me I was no longer the CSM, just the Operations Sergeant Major I would like
somebody to tell e why

Who's 1n charge of traing the 372nd? The Company Commander.

We don't have Guard Mount We have Shift Change Briefs Shift Change Bnefs
happened every 12 hours You’d take ail the information from that day to the brief, and
you'd have the off coming shift, and the oncoming ones present The senior NCO
leadership would be present

The Sergeant of the Guard was by company, so, i some cases, we’d have two companies
with MPs present 1n one compound So, you would really have two Sergeants of the
Guard



I was 1n the compound, at the tume of the not The NCOIC of Compound 4, where 1t first
started to swell up, called the TOC. MAJ was 11 the TOC at the ime PFC
probably answered the radio  The 1nformation was logged, and grven to the

responsible person 1n the TOC, 1n that case MAJ-or probably the Battle Captain,
probably _, that day He would have given 1t to MAJ SS

15 one of our assistant Operations NCOs He ran the afternoon s They called
for the IRF to be on standby Personnel from the 229th MP Company were manmng the
IRF. 1L was the Platoon Leader The Platoon Sergeant probably was SFC

Under the Rules Of Engagement for the Mihitary Pohce, at the time, 1f any prisoner went
through the wire, the extenor wire of the encampment, the pnsoner would be told “Halt”
three times, and 1f they did not halt, they would be shot

The guard would have gone into hus On Guard weapons stance, and they had shotguns
with non-lethal ammunition at the ume SGT was the first one to fire, that I
recall with non-lethal ammumtion MAJ would have given the order to
progress It's the S3’s job to run the compound LTC esponsible for the
overall picture  The S3 owns the compounds All the MPs work for the S3 They are 1n
their direct chain 1n an I/R Battalion The word came down from the TOC, and 1t kept
progressing and elevating It was to the point where 1t was hterally a hail of rocks, and 1n
order to protect MP’s lives, the word came down from the TOC to fire lethal ammumtion
There were a few shots of lethal ammuninon fired, and indeed we shut everything down

1 don’t know where the Battalion Commander was, at the tme I had moved from
Compound 4 down to 1 I called the TOC, and said, “Get all available MPs down here "
We need every available soldier down here " As they came filtering down, SSG-
formed them tnto platoon-stzed elements, and sent themn to areas, where we needed
support | was keeping the runway open, so people could come through, aganst
Compound 1, otherwise they would rock them so bad they couldn’t get through

The uniform, at that ime, was the DCU, the flak vest, and the helmet That's all that we
had We didn’t have face shields There were some shotguns, nfles, and pistols Inside
the wire, we take off our helmets and our flak vest, and go in with no weapon We
depend on the MPs in the towers for protection We wear a soft cap, and an orange, PT-
type vest The Bnigade Commander approved of that untform I've probably spent more
time 1n those compounds than all the rest of the MPs put together I didn’t feel
threatened There's always a danger, but you have to depend on the MPs 1n the towers
haven’t checked all their marksmanship records, but they better be able to shoot from 50
yards away They have standard ball, 5 56 The shotguns were on the ground, and they
were used for roving In the towers, they had M16s and 1 saw per compound The rules
were covered n every Shift Change Brief In the tower, they would shoot, to protect life,
whether 1t was another MP, or to protect an inmate’s life  There are no warning shots
I'm sure The Rules of Engagement are posted 1n the towers



There are towers for the exterior wall. MI took those towers. Those guys were locking
out, guarding as force protecuon Inside, the towers looked 1, guarding against anything
that might happen with the prisoners Those looking in are only MPs We were taken
out of the force protection role, and told to leave that alone We had no more business
with force protection

We were told the MI Brigade was coming 1n to do C2, Base Ops, and we would handle
all Military Police 1ssues  That's what I heard several tmes from my Battahion
Commander in meetungs It was my understanding that all detainee operations were still
to be conducted by us, and there was no intermingling or association by the MI Brigade

The hard site, Ther 1A and Tier 1B was guarded by the 372nd MP Company, at the time
1t would be hard to say how often 1 was there, but 1t was probably once a week MI came
to us, when they first came here, and said they wanted our MPs to do such things as Sleep
Depnivauon Program, and thus type of thing They wanted 1o have segregated umits, and I
said, “Stop nght there We don’t have the capability to segregate . As far as doing
things like Sleep Deprivation Programs, my MPs are not trained in that, and will not do
that ” The next thing that I knew, maybe two months later, I heard that our MPs were mn
fact doing things like escorting people with bags over their heads, doing the Sleep
Deprnivauon Program I went to the Battalion about st, and was told our Battalion XO
said we had to do 1t The Battalion Commander wasn’t there at the ime 1 did go to MAJ

and he said, “Thus 1s just the way the program works ™ I don’t know 1f there
was anything 1n wnting on 1t Once the MI people took over, thungs just kind of
developed along thetr line of thinking, especially in Camp Vigilant, and the hard site.
The MI had control, including control of the guards

I didn’t raise the 1ssue with SGM* I saw him out there only once. He was the
Operations Sergeant Major 1 didn’t see him 1n his capacity as the acting Command
Sergeant Major CSM anae to see e maybe twice [ had interaction with
CSM only a couple of tmes 1 saw him more often at Camp Bucca 1didn’t try
calling him It would have been useless to talk to um He had nothing to offer you
Guidance would come down from Brnigade, but we got very littie guidance 1n the NCO
Channel from CSM

I’'m not sure who was in the TOC, during the rtot It could have been SFC

or SSG_ A report was provided to the 800th MP Brigade TOC 1n SIR
format I'm not sure 1f it was done telephomically 1 would be surpnised, if all of the
reporting was through the 205th MI Bnigade TOC

1 learned ot the shooling, that happened that same evening, around mudmght ~ 1 o'clock
I'wasup Idon’t know if ] was inthe TOC I'm everywhere It depends on where the
1ssues take me It was common for me to be all over the place I didn’t have any junior
NCOs to delegate those responsibilities to It wasn’t a matter of trust

A Troop to Task was always being done It was a living document We had twelve
drfferent compantes throughout the ume we were there We might lose a company that



had erghty-etght men, and get one that was sixty-six. So, we were constantly dealing
with Troops to Task 1ssues.

HHC 1s all LSA activiies. Detention Operations belonged to S2 HHC personnel are the
medics, the motor pool people, and the cooks Five different dog handlers came 1, two
Army ones, and three Navy ones There was an imtal discussion over who owned them,
because the 205th M1 said, “We requested three Those are the three that we got, the
Navy ones.” The Battalion said, “We requested them all, 5o we get them all.” Fnally, 1t
was decided that all the dog handlers would work for the S3, exclusively

They are supposed to do a walk through the compounds, for demonstration persons

They were supposed to be on call i 12-hour shifts, 24 hours a day They were supposed
to walk through as a patrol measure They were supposed to use to quell down nots or
fights 1n the compound They were good for searchung tents for knives or those types of
items They also accompanied the IRF 1n crowd control I don’t remember when the
SOP was wntten We do have an SOP I helped MAJ write SOPs 1 referenced
FM 19-40, 3-19-1, all of our higher operations manuals, We had one, I don't recall the
number, on nulitary working dogs Mulitary dogs were new to us

1 don’t know 1f the dogs were used for interrogation purposes Three of them are
certified bomb-sniffing dogs Two are narcotics dogs We used them all for patrol, but
we ined to utihize the bomb dogs out at the ECP for the searches, there 1 don’t think the
advisement of the dog handlers was taken all that much, when they wrote the SOPs 1
was present on ane occasion, when CPT — and an Army dog handier got into a
discussion about therr proper roles and uuhization There were disagreements about that.
I don’t recall the names of the dog handlers I know SGT-and there’s a
Specialist, but I don’t remember tus name I did hear that a dog bit somebody I was at
Victory, when that happened

There was somewhat of a conflict between the NCOIC for the Army dogs and the
NCOIC for the Navy dogs There were disagreements on how the dogs should be
utithzed The NCCIC from the Navy was cooperative, and SGT-vas much less
cooperative 1 did not know SG was a suspect 1n detamnee abuses

MG Taguba hands SG a document listing the Interrogation Rules of
Engagement, and directs SG attention to the hst of items 1n the right hand
column SGM-respon

I've never seen thus, Sir These are not the functions of the MPs, Sir I wouldn't know
how to go about downg that, and I'm a Senior MP  I'm certamn my yumor MPs wouldn’t
We're not tramned for that, Sir

AR 190-8 covers the proper treatment of detainees Extracts from the Geneva
Convention were posted 1t was npped down We ended up grving the books themselves
to the Compound Reps, so the wouid have a copy. A Compound Representative 1s a
pnisoner appomnted Mayors  All but one or two could speak English, and they had



assistants who could They had compound speakers, English speakers that would assist
the Representatives with the language between the Compound Commanders and the
pnsoners It would have made sense to post 1t 1n a language they would understand It
probably wasn’t posted out of frustrauon, because everythung was torn down

We did give the book to the Compound Reps, we met with the Compound Reps several
times a week, and talked about all the 1ssues that were 1n there. We went through them 1n
the books They had meetings with thetr tent representatives. Each tent had a
representative. They went through that with them. So, everybody was made aware of 1t
All the prisoners and detamees are aware of all therr nghts. We’ve been through 1t with
the guards

Sir, they didn’t break those rules, and treat pnisoners inhumanely because of lack of
knowledge They did that out of their own choosing It was their indrvidual choice.
They did have proper traimng and leadershup

We had an After Action Review for the not Some basic changes were put mto place
Such as, keeping vehicles out of the runway, and putting them on one end We would
keep four vehicles on the other end, 1n case we lost the compound and had to evacuate
Another part of 1t was only the TOC could authorize non-lethal There was a plan thai
was put on paper It was briefed down to the lowest Private in the Battalion. They all
had to sign Then, we had train up scenarnos on that. I'm not aware if this was shared
with the M1 commumty

1 was made aware of the incidents of detainee abuse that resulted 1n the apprehension of
some of the soldiers from the 372nd MP Company on, I think, Friday the 17th of January
MAJ “ advised me that | would no longer be operating as the Ops Sergeant Major
on Sunday evemung, the 18th of January He just said that this was direct from the 800th
Bngade, and to bring enough clothes for a week, and show up there No one has told me
why I was suspended I've had discussions with my Battalion Commander about things
that led up to the mncident

I constantly interact with the NCOs from my Battalion 1don’t know about SSG
background I interacted with SSG a little bat SFC‘was the Platoon
Sergeant, there I've had interacuons with I think he's a team leader, 1
didn’t interact with CPL other than to give the greeting of the day, “How are you
doing?” this kend of thing I know SGT ﬂvas the one that was shot, but I don’t
really know him Iread the SIR on 1t 1 know that the individual had a weapon and shot
him  Luckily, he was weanng his vest He returned fire with non-lethal

The command chmate wavered between good and bad It never really got to bad, but 1t
was never a really good command citmate either Our NCOs ralhed around each other,
and supported the rest of the soldiers in the Battalion on this thing We're not going to let
one black mark take us down You’'ve done a good job  You’ve worked and soldiered
hard Now, we’re going to continue on and drive on  LTC ~wamed the



soldiers to know he was_proud of them, and he wanted them to be proud of what they
accomplished.

1§ very quet. Sometimes, he would lay back too much I went to MAJ

or gwdance on a regular basis. At times, he would say I run thus Battalton He
had the LTC's ear He definitely could get the LTC’s support on whatever was his 1ssue

at the tme

LTC

The LTC had been pulled down to 800th Brigade He suspended or rehieved, I don’t
know which, for a period of two weeks He came back LTC-was 1n there, at the
time CSM came at that time for a two-month pertod

Str, I've never seen a Brigade operate like that 1n my life It wasn’t cohesive. It just
seemed like a conglomeration of people doing what they wanted to do. It didn’t seem
like everyone 1n the traces were pulling the same way

Sir, we should definutely increase training, increase awareness, Increase Supervision on
soldiers Impart to the soldiers that they are responsible too, from Private on up I think
that’s the answer more than over-supervising That’s just saying we don’t trust you
Building a trusting relationship amongst the soldiers, and teamwork that’s what 1t’s going
to take I thunk the trust kind of split, when we had the first incident at Bucca, Sir 1
don’t know 1f the trust came back 1n all those areas. In some platoons 1t did In some
platoons 1t didn’t

Well, I think the leadershup needs to answer for why 1t occurred, and how 1t could be
prevented, and how to ensure 1t wouidn’t happen agamn I also thunk indrvidual soldiers
should answer for thewr own activities

I’ve only heard pieces of all that happened, there 1don’t know 1f I ever will hear what
transpired 1 thunk some soldiers were pulled out that did some very hard work, there
They were loyal to this Battalion and worked extremely hard 1've preached dignity and
humane treatment to all of my soldiers, since day one I read General

documents, addressing respect and dignity, in treating Iraqi citizens and detainees, to my
soldiers duning Shift Change Brnefs

The mterview complete, MG Taguba reminds SGM -to not discuss or reveal the
contents of the mterview, and he 1s released subject to recall



On 10 February 2004, a_panel of officers, directed by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the following interview. Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investugaung Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D McKiernan, Commanding General of the Coaliion Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look 1nto allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghanb, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) The panel also inquired into traiming, standards,
employment, command policies, and internal policies, concermng the detamees held at
Abu Ghanb pnson. Finally, the panel looked into the command chmate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

, CFCC - PMO, Interviewer

» JA, CFLCC - SJA, Interviewer

) 705th MP Battalion, Interviewer
, 372nd MP Company, Respondent
27D30, CFLCC - SJA, Recorder

The interview 15 summartzed as follows

My full name 1- social security numberF?an Military
Police Company, US Army Reserve, Cumberland Maryland. The company 1s currently
located at Abu Ghanb Prison Myself, along with a few other individuals, since 19
January, have been here at Camp Victory Pending further investigation, I've been
suspended from First Sergeant duties at the 372nd Malitary Police Company I don’t
really know the full circumstances behind 1t, Sir I just know, whether 1t’s a pohitical

1ssue or not, based on the individual actions of some soldiers, they felt that the leadership
should be removed, pending the investigation

My role as 1SG 1s nothuing very complex Really, it’s looking after the morale, the health,
safety, and welfare of the soldiers in the company Taking care of the soldiers 1s the
bottom line to 1t

Company level, CPT. and 1 shared the same room at our former assignment, but
here we have 2 different rooms. We see each other everyday On a battalion level, I do
attend the battalion briefs 1n the mormung I had very little contact with the Bnigade If
they were to happen to come by the facility, and just happen to be in the neighborhood, 1
rmght bump 1nto one of them Ihad a CSMENEEEEPcome by once or twice The only
time I really interacted with them with some work was when a water pump at the prison
facility needed to be replaced We worked pretty aggressively to get try and get some
money to replace the water pump I got most of my support from the battahion level [
don't interact drrectly with the Bnigade This was an exception

My chain of command consists of CPTellll, the Company Commander, LTC
- the battalion level, General Karpinski was the Brigade Commander, and

A-N:uf_y %!



CSM Clements, the Coromand Sergeant Major, at the tme CSMeSUJRwtook his
place after he left COL Pappus? I never really had a whole lot of mteraction with lum

The 205th were the head They were above the battalion, but our leadership chain did not
fall under them, because they were the Ml crowd 1 did not see a whole lot of policies or
directives coming from the 205th, when they were 1 charge We went by the gmdelines
that were already presented, the Rules of Engagement from the 800th, the one back and
July, and then 1n November, the update. I don’t know whether our specific units had any
relationship

The first half of our element came up to Abu Gharib October 1st. Our mission was a law
enforcement mussion 10 Al Hillah, Iraq We had an Iraqi Police School Our soldiers
trained Iraqr secunity guards The entire city was broken up mnto 3 sectors. Each one of
our platoons had a sector, and we had one as a standby backup QRF type platoon The
Commander was very close to the Chief of Police. We had dual roles We mtegrated
mto 3 of therr sub-stations We had soldiers there 24/7, going out on raids, going out on
arrests, going out on warrants, gowng to and from local courts, and assisting m operating
the local jail

We're a CS Company We felt that we were more prepared for that mission, 1n that many
of the raids that we did were simular to the mount traimng that we often did Certainly
the highway mules up and down the road, getting around 1n cities and things lends us
more to what we knew how to do Being a Military Police Company, we have a lot of
law enforcement peopie, who have a littie more expertise than someone just going
through a Mulitary Police School

We tramned the Iraqis on search procedures, weapons handling procedures, how to
properly handle AK-47’s, Code of Ethics, getting them to understand that there 15 some
type of ethical system out there A police officer making $30 a month mught supplement
his income, by taking bribes and grafts from family members wanting to come 1n and
feed the pnisoners, or buymg their family members out It was a very rudimentary school

We fell under the 310th, when we came into country We were very uncertain what our
role was gomng to be Again, we're a combat support element Combat support typically
does not do Internment/Resettlement, Escort Guard, things like that During our Pre-
mobilhization and mobilization, we did not train on any kind of I/R mussion

We organized the company We targeied those who had expenence 1n the correctional
field, and put them nto key leadership positions, because they’ve operated prisons,
they’ve operated lock downs, they've operated cells Cumberland, Maryland has a
facility right next to it We also contacted the 320th, making sure we attended the
mandatory training on the Rules of Engagement, as laid out by the 8Q0th, on the not
control stuff, on non-lethal tratning I think there was a mandatory feeding observation.
We found out the requirement, to make sure we could run things as efiectively as we
could There was also a “right seat nide” with the 72nd MP Company That was more of
an OJT type of tramning



Our unit's been under strength We were supposed to mobilize with 180 soldiers We
only took 177 to the MOB site. We came to country with 163, with the medical holds at
Fort Lee. Through the exercise we lost soldiers to medical 1ssues. We had 2 with kidney
1ssues, there was a knee, another with a headache type of a ting.  One of our platcons
was tasked with a protective service mussion with the CPA, 1n and around Hillah and the
four ciues 1 guess So that drops out 28 soldiers nght there.

Our soldiers have 3 pnmary missions We had the hard site, which has Irag: criminals,
pre-inial and post-trial  We had Camp Vigilant, which has secunity detainees living m
tents, somewhere 1 the neighborhood of 500 We also did convoy escorts

Initsally, we cidn’t have to use support personnel, with the numbers we had on the
ground. We had enough MP’s to cover the mission requirements Our low-density staff
would do their normal activiies  To meet force protection requirements we would pull
from our low density MOS’s  As we integrated the soldiers into the prison, we made sure
they had the same mandatory training we had early on

The commander was involved tn the management of stuff He participated 1n some of the
traimung, but traiming function does not necessanly rest on his shoulders. SFCAENIEywas
our Force Protection NCO, so he designated what training, and we coordinated through
him Former Corrections Officers were integrated as tramers  Sergeant §Jllirhe works
at a correctional facility He directed the ot control traming ' We have several

indrviduals, Sergeant (. Screcant SHNNGEK, Scrgean @I who we tried to

plug mto key positions at the site, even before we hit boots on the ground

Yes, Sir It 1s alleged that some of my people were 1nvolved in pnisoner abuse From
second-hand information, 1 know there were photographs, possibly a video, of some of
the things that were gomng on  Firsthand. 1 did not observe, or witness anything they are
being accused of They were trusted individuals

Right now, Sir, morale 1s 1n the tollet 1 personally felt cheated, exploited, and stabbed in
the back People that have served many years in this unut, feel that there's been a lot of
good years, and a lot of good people have come through this unit, and now the unit
hustory’s gone down the tollet We will be remembered as this event, not the tustory had
in World War II, Desert Storm, and the Bosnia rotaion  We have a very colorful, very
active reserve listory One “Aw shit” elimunates a lot of “Atta boys ™

I wasn't aware of the specific tactics that MI used, or what their ROE was for that 1
really can’t speak toward that onc [ don't think our soldiers were aware of the MI ROE.
We didn’t train our soldiers on that MI was 1n charge, and maybe gave direction and
guidance to our soldiers, as needed, but I don’t think our soldiers had a list of what was
going on

Speaking to that, I don’t think that anyone would prescribe or write that on any piece of
paper for therr Rules of Engagement or “softening up,” because 1t would not hold up It



doesn’t pass the common sense test or any kind of correctional test for treatment of a
human being

Each shift had a shift supervisor, who coordinated activities with the scldiers who were
working withun the hard site or Vigilant

I don’t know what the Ml mstructed them on, specifically. At the company level, we did
not know of separate rules of engagement for the pnisoners The soldiers may or may not
have They had more of a daity interaction with the MI's, the interrogators that would
actually give them 1nstruction on how to prepare a prisoner for an interrogation

I think the program we set up, when we first hut the prison, was an excellent program

We put key individuals 1n place, and those key individual soldiers, at some point 1n time,
maybe took it beyond what the M1 softeming program was The MI may have given them
very liberal mstructions, as to what to do, and they took the ball a httle further To
prevent that, I thunk 1t’s getting to where 1t's gotten to now — individual contracts with
mdrvidual soldiers You will read the Rules of Engagement, you will read the 3 pages on
how to wear the Army untform, you will not think outside the box, you will sit 1n that
chair If someone wants a glass of water, they will ask you for a glass of water I think
that’s going to defeat any kind of motivation, any kind of imtiattve, What to do
different? Ithink we had a very good plan 1n place I think that the problem with the
plan 1 place 1s that there were individual soldiers, who had warped, demented mnatives,
and took advantage of an opportunity, when the opportunity presented 1tself, a small
block of window 1n the muddle of the mght 1 carried myself through there a number of
ttmes SFC{ was there 18 hours a day They had there own opportunity

SFCAIEp v as the NCOIC of the hard site  The shift change at the hard site was at 4 1n
the morning So he would roll m there at 10 - 11 o’clock tn the morning, and stay there
unul 11 - 12 o’clock at mght, to try and cover the 2 shifts SGTWjJipwas the
correctional officer, daytime, SSG-vho was a correctional officer in Virgima,
mghtume shuft We had SSGElile who was law enforcement Agamn, we really stacked
correctional people in the facihty There didn’t seem to be a whole lot of need to mucro-
manage what was going on there The bnefs we received from LTCEijf spoke very
highly of our soldiers, the work that they were doing, the accomplishments and success
that they were having There were no indicators that anything outstde the outstanding job
our soldiers were doing was happening We had 24-hour coverage with the soldiers we
had 1n place

I don’t think having an FOB made a bit of difference  When I talked to my soldiers, they
were short things They need clothes, they needed food at the confinement facility All
that stuff was handled through the S4 1 don’t know whether they were handling that
stuff through the 205th, of 1f they were handling 1t through the 800th It was a challenge

MA] 4R orked the man to task type set up We lost 11 soldiers in November,
because of REFRAD’s, due to 23 - 24 month deployments Another company may have
lost the same thing So frequently, he would do task to manning standards Qur mission



collapsed 1n November In November, we looked at our 3 mmssions, escort, Vigilant, and
the hard site, and we said, we could no longer do the escort  We do not have the soldiers
to do the escort mission, So, that collapsed our mission ['m sure they were domng the
same thing for others We assumed other towers Other units assumed other
responsibilities, as well. As the 870th moved 1n, they picked up 2 compounds at Ganct
There was a conttnuous rotation of allocation of resources, as best as I think they couid

do

I don’t think one quick answer can make things nght Logistics has been the brggest
letdown of anything we have Why are begging for oil for light sets, to keep electric
lights on? Why are we running vehicies that may very well be deadlined, because we
can't get parts to fix them? Honest, this 1s a true story — If vou have a bad CV boot on
your front shatts of your HMWWYV’s, a corrective measure 1s to take an MRE bag, and
wire tie 1t around it, to keep the dirt and debris out of it That’s a corrective measure to
fix a CV boot? I'm sorry, but parts are falling way short 1 thrnk the mihitary has
contracted so much out They can’t function independently We are so nterdependent
upon the local nationals to provide support, to provide parts or labor, or something 1n
between 1 work 1n the private industry for a profit orgamzation, and I see the military
leaning toward operating as a profit organizanon Just 1n tume 1nventory

We took a mortar attack 3 weeks ago We just lost our fuel truck How do we replace 1t?
What mechanisms 1s there, to DX that one, and get a fuel truck, now? We had a vehucle
accident in early June We lost a 998 truck We stripped 1t for parts, because we couldn’t
get other parts comung 1n to service Where 1s that truck, now? Has that truck been
replaced”? Noithasn't Could we use that 998, to transport prisoners, rather than
transport prisoners 1n the back of a Deuce, that you can’t manipulate through some of the
serpentunes around”? Sir, I'd just burn your tape up on that type of an answer The
bottom line 1s - I think the mulitary should be independent for the soldier’s health, safety,
and welfare We need to depend on the mulitary serving us {ood, clothung, parts, and
labor, to mununuze the nisks that we know are out there  We’re allowing hundreds of
dumpsters to come 1n a day How effectively can we search those trucks? Do we know
what's under those 17 tons of rock” It's all a pile

The panel stopped, to discuss 1SG §jjJJ Il statements

The LTONNMSSENNEERD 125 more questions for 1SG M which he answers as
follows

I’ve been the 1SG since March of 2001 I've been with the company since June 1986
Behavioral 1ssues? I think more control 1s 1n corrective measures I don’t think you can
change a person's behavior Their life expenences have made them what they're going

to be You can control 1t by, maybe increased supervision, or whatever

MI 1s responsible for 1A, 1B QOur soldiers monitor the care, welfare, and food of the
detainees 1had norole atall at 1A, 1B My concern 1s 1n the morale, safety, and welfare



of my soldiers Wherever my soldters were, my question to them 1s — Is there something
I can do for you? Is there something you need? My function 1s to help support them n
their job Not necessanly to do there job, or momtor what they’re doing, but to try and
support them

Working 12 on, 12 off 7 days a week, a lot of the soldier’s trarming was OJT We leaned
on our NCO strength of corrections officers to train those soldiers As far as the trarning
role, I'm assets and resources

My first opportunity to know SGTallPwas through this deployment We’ve had our
run-ins He's always been a hittle more of an individual, but talking to his Platoon
Sergeant and his Platoon Leader, he's always performed his mission well Rught now
he’s a Specialist He was promoted to Sergeant. A month later he was demoted, not
through any fault of hus own His secunity clearance ran out. His mternim clearance ran
out He ganed Corporal rank during Homeland Defense, so he went back to that rank

I did walk through 1A, 1B, 2400 — 0030 Not every mght, but at random times I would
make my rounds I would see SFCoSllllin there, and he’s a capable NCO CPT

W v ould come get me, we'd be trymng to check out the generators, and he’d say
come with me, so we'd walk through

These things happened out of opportunity There are rooms that have an outside metal
door, and you can’t see mnside Someone has to allow you access Idon’t remember my
access ever being sigmficantly delayed

With LTC GeysuiSsER having no further questions, LTC Sllllkhen gave 1SG (A
a list of 1tems, to be addressed, and brought back on a Sworn Statement



SWORN STATEMENT

For use of this torm see AF 190-45, the proponentggency 1s ODCSOPS
COCATION | DATE ﬁns "FILE NUM3EF
CAMP VICTORY, PALACE I 200402/ | L TS

W NAME -_— [ SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBEF [GRADE/S  ATUS
-

ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESE
IT2ND MILITARY POLICE COMPANY, ABU GHURAYB PRISON, IRAQ, AP0 AE 08335-1322

WANT FO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT JNDER Of_\lH

[

!
Q What did vowr command do differently niter the incident at Bueea? [{ow did youn Company operale differenth *

A The situation at Bucca did pot atfect our Company s mission when we became aware of the mcdent 1n augusi 200° Our
Unit was domg 4 Law and Grder in the cuy ot Al Hillak. traq, whick was not any type of prison aperations  One ol the
accuscd soldiers went to Bosrua in 2001 with our Uit Some of us reflecied on his Lharacier and agreed he was o good mldm:’

mn Bospwa  Qur onlt information abovt Bucca came from the press  We were not very mtormed of the detands ol the meident

Q Who was m supervision controi of the MP s a 14 and 1B? |CPA, OJA(Other Government Agenciea) Mi MP]-

A 1 woulc sav that "Supenision control’ 1o 1A and 1B rested with the MP's  The Hard site mission wds one of our 3
aussions  The Hard site consisied of uers ! through 4 at hai ume  Working Mannmng 10 taskings were driven by MP
guidance Althougr "supervision controi” was handied by the MP 5 many of the specific detamee waskimgs and direcuon fo:
1A and 1B were directed bv Mi o1 OJA  Detamnees m that trer did et fall under the same gwidelines of the other lragi erimual
populanion in LergZednd [ was (old that M| or QJA verhally direcied sleep acnvity, exercise, or soldtion w prep lor
]I'l[f.‘l'l'Ogil.(lOl'} ‘

Q Wha' was the manner used by M1 for prisoner insiruction on Mi ‘no]ds‘

A Ml and O14 used verbai instructions when we assumed responsibility of the mission rom the 72nd MP Compary 1
October  Wnitter mstructiions began m late December  Qur soldiers were requestng this information to elim.aw coniusion

Q Knowmp wrat we know now, whal would you recommend Lo vour commander 1o do differently® .

A Recommend difierenth  This irission streiched our field of evoerise or experience. We are not 95C » but we pulled on
CIVI‘lar COTTeciion assels  With tie tme and manoower resources OPS deveioped o plan 10 couduct successiut 2ntssion
opetaltons  he plar calied tor usg ¢ *vihar Correctionai personnel i leadersnip posmons dat Vigihant and the Haid s
Addiiond) gencra poisor tainmg was conducted 1or e MP persounel

JUnknown vanabies  CPA, MI OJA, policies unc procedures waorkwng with lunned experienced iray! Correcuonal sttt
anc lraa/CPA Uperations

Recommendadions  la a perfect world | wouid recommend more specific mission defimiion  equirement 1n ardet 10 develop
snecific warung onwor to siart of missjon Tume energ)y, resources, necessiny  and acuvity determune how much ¢an be
accomphshed {Troop Leading Procedures) Gam more conrol of the unknown varabies  Hold the vamables (o specifics tn
wriling, with accouniabilnly without speciies no utervenuon basie life suppon operauons to detamnees, survival, suppon

stabiiize, and security, miniatc gdetamee jourmnal on activiles souner, accountability of procedures accountahuy of detainees
accountability of snidiers

¢ Describe Geneva'Hagpue rules iraming, when and where 1t occurred” ’
A Tae Geneva/Hapue bnefing 15 mandarory annual trammg  Briefings were conducte¢ 1 December 2002 and durmp

maobihizauon at Ft Lee Marcn 2003 The Briefing. were conducted i group sefngs lecture style  The Bricimgs 4 Fi Lee
wert conducted by non unit subject matter experts
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On 17 February 2004, a panel of officers, lead by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the followmng interview Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Army Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D. McKieman, Commanding General of the Coalition Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look 1nto allegations of maltreatment of detainees,
detamee escapes and accountability iapses, at Abu Ghanb, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF). The panel also inquired into training, standards,
employment, command policies, and internal policies, concerning the detainees held at
Abu Gharib pnison  Finally, the panel looked into the command chmate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

MG
COL
CPT
SFC
MSG

DCG-CFLCC, Interviewer

, Lackland AFB, TX, Member
CFLCC - SJA, Member

U.S. Army MP School, Member
, 310th MP Battalion, Respondent

The interview 1s summarized as follows

F My Social Security Number 1s — My rank 15
aster dergeant, and my position 1s Operations Sergeant Major, effective 3 January

2003. I deployed with the Battalion Generally, I deal with the day-to-day operations of
the Battalton Operations entail being aware of the current fnendly situation, direct
supervision of the NCOs and soldiers wathin my section, direct supervision of the
Compound Contro] Team NCOICs, at Camp Bucca, while I was assigned here,
developing certain standards and procedures, or TTPs related to our mission, as defined
by our higher headquarters, advising my S3 on operational matters; and enforcing
standards In an mdirect way, we are responsible for accounting for the detamees under
the control of the Battalion The primary responsibility would belong to the S1 section
The S1 submuts the daily reports on detainee accountability, through the S3 T have
knowledge of the amount of detainees within the facility

The basic standards would be uniform standards, the basic standards in the Geneva
Convention, the basic doctrine of FM 19-40, and basic standards within AR 190-8 Asan
I/R Battalion we follow FM 19-40 I'm not farmiliar with in provisions in there, regarding
interrogations Detainees have certain nights that you have to abide by They’re entitled
to mail, to contact with the outside, to read a copy of the Geneva Convention in their own
language, to recreation, and to food and lodging Our MPs need to know the provisions
of the Geneva Convention

The soldiers know the Geneva Convention through traming  The detainees would know
it, through berng provided a copy of 1t in their own language, according to the AR. The
posting of the Geneva Convention 1s required  All the MPs on this base camp conduct a
Guard Mount, prior to their shift  Shufts vary according to their element For example,

Anneyx 3ao



the Compound Control Team NCOICs, at Camp Bucca, conduct a Guard Mount one half
hour prior to their shift  Their shift would be a twelve-hour shuft. If 1t was 2460 - 1200,
they would conduct it at 2330. If it was 1200 — 2400, they would conduct 1t at 1130.

It 1s a wnitten 1n the Battalion SOP that guard mount will be conducted, as related to
Camp Bucca and /R Operations. It’s not directed when 1t will be conducted

1I'd have to refer you to the S1. I’'m not aware of the exact procedures for counting
detamnees. It’s generally run through a system called National Defense Reporting System,
but there are many variables to this Do you report an Iraq: criminal being tried by an
Iraqi cnminal court? That situation 1s 1n covered m any SOP  I'm not absolutely sure,
Sir I'm not saymng they’re not traned I’m just saying I’m don’t have the expertise to
answer that

At the ime [ took the operation over, from the 724" MP Battalion, detminees were
accounted for, at a standard nterval of two times a day. The count would be done in
vanous various ways One way would be to compare wristbands to the NDRS List
produced by S1, which I call a roll call Another way was to use a localized produced
mantfest by a compound NCQOIC, which marmed the NDRS manifest, which was broken
down by tent assignment to expedite the mamfest That 1s what I know.

At Diwamyah, they would conduct a count, during shift change Anytime there was a
discrepancy 1n the count, they would conduct an ISN check, based on the manzfest that
the S1 produced, matched with the photo The MP NCOIC of the Compound Control
Team ensures that the count 1s conducted properly, according to the SOP that we
established. withun the 32 days we’ve been assigned to this camp The S1 1s responsible
for updating and providing rosters and manifests to the Compound Control Teams, and
they do quality assurance with any adjustments, transfers, that type of mformation.
Changes are reconciled daily

According to our MTOE, Compound Control Teams are a 17 — 19 soldier commitment
for 2 compounds capable of containing a thousand detainees Currently, this umt is at
fifty-six percent When we were assigned to take this mission, we could not conduct 1t
according to doctrine  We currently have the same MPs working the same compound
routmely, to develop a TTP m order to be famihiar with the procedures and personnel 1n
the compound, and to mteract with the Mayor | am augmenting them wath the 988™
Military Police Company.

Requirements are generated by the S4, 1f 1t deals with logistics  Certain requirements are
generated by the S1  Certain requirements, regarding detainee interrogations, are
implemented by the S2 They generally go through the S3, to effect 1t I have not seen
the Interrogation Rules of Engagement I know what I know from the civihan world.
Number one, you got to have a witness Number two, 1t should be recorded I don’t
know where you going with the question, Sir  So, I don’t know what you’re looking for



I believe, Sir that an MI unit should be assigned to this location and that MI unit should
be responsible for operating a Jomt Interrogation Facility, or JIF, and they should be
responsible for conducting mterrogations

MG Taguba hands MSG a document contammng Interrogation Rules of
Engagement, and contmues the interview. MSG irGSpondS'

I have not seen this, Sir. MI 1s conducting interrogations. I'd have to refer to my SOP
for the procedure. If an mnterrogator wants a detainee, 1t’s generally done through S2
channels It could be done with a telephone call, or through an email. They could be
escorted down by the S2.

1 am famuliar with the 800™ MP Rules of Engagement 1 beheve there have been three tc
four drafts There’s also CITF-7 ROE There’s CFLCC ROE. [had a draft set, Sir.

I’ve seen pictures 1n the newspapers, regarding the Bucca mcident, but I've never read
them 1 can’t say that there have been any changes implemented as a result I'm vaguely
familiar with the Abu Ghraib not 1 am aware of the shooting. I recetved an ernail,
regarding a revised umiform policy, when n close proximity to detamees We did mquure
as to when the drafts would be finahized, but I haven’t recerved a response

T've recerved a draft version of the ROE 1t’s been directed by the Battahion Commander
that every soldier will have in their possession the ROE He has also directed that
everyone be traimned on the ROE That 1s guaranteed through a couple mechamsms.
When we first came to this location, we had the Brigade JAG, MAJ-bnef Rules
of Engagement to those soldiers that were on the ground He conducted a follow-up visit,
to conduct a class The 977" and 988" were emailed, and provided with coptes of the
ROE that 1 had, because [ knew they were not famihar with detainee operations They
were mstructed, through their command, to cunduct tramning on the ROE  Upon follow-
up questioning, | was mnformed that they were They asked 1f a roster was needed We
planned to have them go through a second training with JAG, and I felt 1t sufficient for
them to sign the JAG roster

I do not know of any cases of pnsoner abuse [know SPC -was grven an Article 15
for an allegation of punching a detainee I'm aware of another soldier allegedly striking a
detainee 1 am aware of a soldier displaying a Star of David to a detainee, an allegation
of that That’s all I can recall, Sirr  The action taken depends on the investigation, and
what 1t was concluded to be There’s no policy on what should happen [ think the
soldier should be removed operations, 1f there 1s an allegation SPC- was never an
MP Guard He 1s an M1 Agent, a Counter-Intelligence Agent He was conducting an
mterrogation I don’t know 1f they’ve seen the Interrogation Rules of Engagement The
S2 NCOIC should know what their left and night limits are



The interview complete, MG Taguba reminds MSG-lo not discuss or reveal
the contents of the mterview, and he 1s released
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8 ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
310th Military Police Battahion Camp Bucca Umm Qasr, Irag APO AE 09375

9
1 — , WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

On 17 Feb (4, at approximately 1530, 1 was questioned by MG Taguba durmg a AR15-6 nvestigation with the stated purpose and
scope of- allegations of abuse at BCCF, trammng standards at BCCF, command climate m the 800th MP BDE At the complenon
of the interview, 1 was directed 10 prepare a Sworn Statement and answer the following questions =

Q Tell us about your "difficulty” wath all the officers  your BTN et

A I have had and conunue to have a professicnal working relanonship with all the officers within my Bn  The difficulties I have
expenenced primanly encompass the following areas, my views of the use for a NCO Corp and the proper charge/support [
believe officers should invest m the NCO Corp, the occasions when officers undermune the authonty of NCO's, my perceived
nability to effecuvely persuade officers wilun my Bauation to implement gmdance/advice that I have recommended for acuon,
some frictien that 15 caused by the ambguity of staff organizanion and span of control, disagreeing pomnts of view on some
established Bn policies, in one case disagreement with a pumshment that was imposed as a result of non-judicral pupishment 1
have attempted to convince some officers on occasion when they need somethung accomplished thart they should not go straight 1o a
soldier and not inform/charge with the NCO with the responsibihity of geting the mission accomplished It 15 my belief that junor
and md-level NCO's should execute officers and seruor staff NCO's plans  An example of not allowng an NCO theiwr proper
charge 1s when a Company Commander or other officer goes direct to a group of soldiers assigmng them an ¢scort mgsion 10 pick
up and escort a visitor and not notifying hus 15G of the ptan or charging hum with the execution, tis also occurs with NCO's  An
exampie of undermuming the authority of an NCO 1s when Batialion Staff officers discuss the weakmess of a sentor NCO 1o the
presence of soldiers and/or makes comments that he 1s weak m a the presence of soldiers  An example of undermining NCO
charge 15 when 1 receive a tasking through the Brigade and tasked by my Baralion commander with assigung a mussion 10 a
company and to perform the duties of the §3 1n the 1n his absence, the company commander choosing to disregard the tasking ]
have had occasional differing views on the best way to accompiish a mussion or how to proceed in the absence of guidance Some
of these differing views are regarding soldier uniform policy and the wearing of civihian clothes on a base camp while acting as
the semor NCO 1n the Battalion in the absence of my CSM, the Battaiion commander permitting a company commander not o
accomplish a required 1asking after [ showed the BN CDR that the company had the assets available 10 complete 1t, the enforcement
of discipline evenly when necessary  As a sentor NCO [ provide input to these policies and command decisions, | am loyal 10 te
final decision 1f 1t 1s lawful although 1 may not always be in agreement [ have had some fnction with officers m ather staff
sections over confusion regarding Bamntalion orgamzaton, for example, we have an established SOP that 1s backed by doctnine that
task orgamizes the Compound contro! teams directly under the 83 section, however, 1o praclice, it has been accepted that they be
tasked by the HHC I was unable to effectively persuade the officer staff and Bn commander to proceed with thus orgamzational
design 1 also believed 1t would be move efiective 10 be able to directly task the Bn repair and utility section directly without
having to task them through the Bn S4 or the HHC They have been task organized under Battahion staff and HHC at different
ponts throughout the deployment | have recommended one NCO receive non judicial pumshment for outrnight refusal to conduct
pre-misston execuiton fueling of vehicles which almost resulted in musston fallure 1 felt that the NCO should have received a
lerient pumshment but not as lement as was given There has been fretion on which section is responsible for coordinating
detamee movement These are all doctrinal anibiguities and there are many ways to get a task completed | beheve any friction
that has existed 1s due 10 the Battalion being composed of soldiers from a combinatiop of different units both within the Bn HQ and
compantes [ believe many umits have this level of "difficulty’ especially ar the staff level 1 believe the proper term should be
Zrowing paimns
Q Tell us ¢ or walk us through) your accountability process (I E from the nme you get a detamnee how are they proc '
accountec for and reported-this means how head counts are done now and prior (o 7 Feb 04 Do you line them up, do you sit them
down- how do you count them and report those #'s -
A We receive a tasking from Brigade to transport detainee's from BCCF 977 MP Co escorts buses to BCCF  They venify and
sign receipt tor a ISN manufest to account for detainees and verify property by ISN witen provided by transferring unit  Bn 53 has
previously planned whai amount of detainees will be placed 1n which compound and noufies Sl processing hne Bn 83
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9 STATEMENT (Continued;
S3 potifies US LNO to KhR DFAC to ensure meal 1s avaable BN S3 noufies CCT, SOG, CCT Supply Sergeant, S1 IF NCOIC

of mcomng detawnees erther 1 person or via FM/land line when working  Detamees are delivered to a pre-slaging area
immedsately outside the holding area compnised of metal stakes and engineer tape that acts as a sally por, are taken off bus buy
bus, searched, made to squat m column with the CS MP escort company responsible for secunty and with MWD conducting
perimeter secunty and to demonstrate the MWD m order (o increase the psychological deterrent of escape (demonsirations ¢annot
be conducted due to lack of MWD demonstration equipment) Detamees then receive hasty process {as they are required to receive
full process from BCCF) where processing personnel verify mamifest and determine height, weight and general medical health
status and nlimately prepare a movement mamifest by ISN To a respective compound after venfying and uploading NDRS/BATS
data onto their computer They are then placed n a holding area at which point they are fed, receive requured uniforms and 1ssue
and directed to form hnes and an mterview 1s conducted by mterpreters to determune NOK informauon At this point, the MP
company responsible for IF security assumes security of detamees They are also noufied of camp rules and schedule of calls by
mterpreter with a PA system drawn from TSC Doha unul a PSYOPS 1s wsked w reproduce documents in Arabic This process 15
generally supervised by the Camp Commandet, the S3, the S1, the SOG and the CTT NCOIC ~ Once & movement manifest 15
created, the MP IF SOG signs for and 1s responsible to dehver/march the detainees under the security of roving patrols or foot to
respective compound The CCT then searches the detamee, venfies the manifest, records the intake of detanees on a DA form
1594, briefs the detanees on IF rules and compound rules and then with the assistance of the compound representatve ensures that
they are lodged 1m a teat  TOC battle NCO 1s nonfied by FM/land line if working when transfer 1s complete or i person by S1
NCOIC 1f noi, records 1t on a 1594 The §1 IF NCOIC then updates the TOC detamee ttacking board to reflect new detainee
poptlatton Head counts prior 10 January 15th, 2004 were conducted the way the previous Bn, the 724th MP BN, handed off 1o
this Battalion during the RIP  Two established counts were conducted per day. One between 0700 and 0900 comcicng with
feeding and one between 1430 and 1630 also comerding with feeding  They were counted standing as they exited the feeding pen
after receiving their meal The exact method of conducting the count was delegated down to the I/R Control team NCOIC level
The 81 NCOIC was agium responsible to conrduct quality control, reconcile changes 1n the mambers of detamees ( r¢ out st sick J
call, hospuat, typographical error etc ), retrieve the compound mamifest and deliver 1t to the TOC in order to update the compound
rracking board The S| I[F NCOIC then updates NDRS or BAT for the next count to reflect any changes and delivers it to the /R
control team NCOIC Ths Battalions goal was to standardize accounting procedures across compounds 1t order to pass off a
standardized system with constderauon of METT-TC and docinine  Thus Bantalion has tramed CCT on the difference between a
head coum and a roll call by ISN  We currently conduct a roli call by ISN and match 1t 10 8 NDRS manifest prior to food bemg J

served during mormung meal We conduct a head count during everung meal and a roll call prior to a 2100 curfew that we have
establishe¢  The CCT 1s also required to conduct a second random headcount per 24 hour period and record 1t on a DA 1594 The
standard to conduct a roll call 15 for a whistle to be blown (if available), detamnees being required to squat wn rows 1 ISN order
behind a sandbag within the compound CCT then directs detainees by row by ISN to the entrance of the feeding pen withun the
compound where a ISN wristband 1s matched aganst an NDRS mamfest (in otherwords, they are counted into the pen and not out
of the pen) If the count 15 iterrupted for any reason, it must be started from the beginning again  Once all detainees are withan
the feeding pen, they are given meal Dunng Fog plan, detawees are head counted into the feeding pen with aid of 2 mechanical
counter if available as expediucusly as possible and then reported to the CCT NCOIC/SOG who report all accounted for to the
TOC and then a mamnfest roll call 1s conducted while detainees squat in rows 1n the feeding pen  Any uncertamnty regarding any
head count or roll call 1s immediately reported to the CCT NCOIC, SOG, TOC All compounds are locked down which means the
fog plan head count/roli call procedure 1s utiized The Battalion S2 coordinates and receives mformation from the TOC supphed
by the §1 NCOIC and submuits 1n the form of an latsum 1o t6th MP BDE Brigade S2 daly and CJTF-7 Battie Captain daily  S1
also submus a Batialion detainee roll up to CITF-7 NLT 2000hrs daily —ri¢|
Q Tell us about how your unit got here, what the unn did at each stage and what traiung they did at each stage 1o prepare the
soldiers for the IR mussion «— -..
A The 310th MP BN 1 I/R) was acuvated on 21 January 2003 1t was filled 1o 100% swrength with soldiers of the 812th MP CO
(CS), the 423rd MP CO (CS) The unit prepared for deployment to Mobilization Station FT DIX, NJ ‘The unit moved 1o
mobilizauon station on 24 January 2004 and while at FT DIX received predetermined POl on CTT, weapons qualifications,
culrural brief, by the 78th Traiung Drvision and unarmed setf defense by SGM- from FT Leonard Wood ‘The BN METL
were tramed by unit personnel who were 95B (no 95C insiructors were on Ft  Dix) and momtored by MATOPS who were not
95B This tramung was denved from mdividual and collective tasks supportng the approved METL tasks It consisted of
mdividual tasks from STP 19-95C(4-SM-TG dated March 1999, and collecuve tasks from ARTEP 19-546-MTP dated 10 APR
1999 and GPW  The umt conducted unit individual task traimng at all skl levels and created SOP's which were reproduced The
BN HQ was evaluated in what could best be described as a CPX as the comparues that were tentatively identified to be asgignad 10
the BN ( the 79th MP CO and the 670th MP CO) were mobilized to a different mobilization site  The umt also conducted

on 4th 1D reporting procedures The unit was validated on or about March 17th and continued CTT traimng and devetoped SOP"
and teniative BN TTP s based on the curtent musston analysis The BN HQ deployed to Camp Wolf on 21 April 2003 It remamedﬂ
at Camp Wolf for i3 days and voluntarily assisted the CSH there in gnarding wounded EPW
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STATEMENT CF _ TAKEN AT _Umm Qast, Irag DATED L2013 Q2 24)

g STATEMENT (Cennnued) ) ]
The unit moved 10 Camp Anfjan in early May and conducted base camp force proiection, coordmnation with the 800th MP BDE in

order 1o determine misston It conducted port operations to recover unil equipment, theater ROE tramng and 800th MP BDE
draft ROE tramng The Bn was later assigned the 157th MP CO(G), the 755th MP CO (G), the 372nd MP CO (CS) and the 870thy
MP CO (CS) It was learned late May that CITF-7 Frago # 11 1o COMCFLCC OPORD 03-033 resulted m the "I MEF accept
atiachment of the 310 MP BN to | MEF NLT 061700MA Y03 and the following MP Compames in order to estabhish a crimunal
wnternment facihity 1n the | MEF zone" with the above companues jowming upon their arnival in theater. The BN conducted
reconnaissance of Al Hillah Prison and Diwaniyah jail as we had been directed to use existing datention faciittes for the mission
The BN HQ and the 157th MP CO moved to Ad Diwaniyzh on 6 June 2003 It assumed operational control of the Ad Diwamyah
Jail with a stated capacity of maximum 200 detamnees from a team assigned to the 977th MP CO (CS) on 8 June 2003, We
coordinated for the tmprovement /construction of the faculity to hold up to 2000 detainees  After coordination with MEF, the BN
was further TACON 10 CSSG-11 14 June June 03 with the 157th MP CO (G) The 755th MP CO TACON to the 1st BN 7th MAR
to conduct ASO and MMSO and PIO, the 870th 10 the 3rd BN, 7th MAR to conduct ASQ, MMSO and PIQ, the 372nd MP CO to
the 1st BN 4th MAR CJTF-7 Frago 360 1o OPORD 03-33 Directed 1 MEF to release HHC, 310th MP BN, the 157th MP (G) and
870th MP CO (CS) 10 800th MP BDE NLT 15 June 03 for the mission of assessing and determimng the locations of prisons or harc‘
sites sumable for crimnal detention and assist OCPA with detamee operations and to traie/monrtor Iraqr correctons officers to
facilitate handover of confinement operations to the Iraqi Government On 17 June 2003, the 310th MP BN was tasked by
CSS8G-11 te addwonally man TCP's 1n fromt of SA Edson and base camp defense On 1 July 2003 IMARDIV decided to retan
870th MP CO and Frago Chops platoons of 870th MP CO (CS) to TACON TF 1/7 and 3/7 On 6 July 2003, the 310th MP BN 15
directed 1o establish command and contro] of the Al Hillabh prison and upon CPA hiring guards conduct on the yob trmmng o they
will be able 1o operate the jau with mummal US oversight The BN developed an 2d hoc academy program of mstruction based on
available military manuals, civihan correctional experience and the Geneva conventions centering on civil nghts, prson
admimstrauon, custody and control, unarmed self defense, cell extraciton, emergency drills, mstructton on available CPA policy
and modified 1t as CPA came up with rules, standards and procedures and as theater guidance started It Graduated over 91
correctional officers i1 Diwanmyah alone, created an mservice tramng program and key conrrol procedures and mitiated visitation
poltcies for criminal detainees tn Irag  The 755th MP CO (G) 15 reattached 1o the BN from the MEF 29 July 2003 On tlus day,
the BN 15 tasked with oversight of Al Kut Jail and the An Najaf Jarl 'With Marne support, the Bn begins implementation of the
Biometric auromated tracking system versus Army NDRS and mtroduces it to the 800th MP BDE and CITF-7 (0 better account for
Arabic detamnees who do not possess 1dennfication numbers, know dates of birth, possess addresses and have a vanety of names

On 24 August 2003, CITF-7 issues Frago 749 creaung a detainee procedure and defines secunity migtpee and criminal detainee,
On 9 September 2003, the 310th MP BN HQ, the 157 MP CO and the 755 MP CO move from SA %lo Medical Umiversiy 1n
Ad Diwamyah and become responsible to share with the Dominican Republic responsibility for base defense and shufts prionty of
support from I MEF to MND-SC  About 18 November, 157th MP CO redeploys and the Battalion 15 tasked with the addihonat
mission of monitoning Samawah jail and oversight of construction of the An Nasiriyah Prison On 1 December 39 MP from BN
HQ redeploy due to tile 10 USC doubile tap policy and the BN HQ 15 at 56% strength with numerous MP vacancies and crincal
vacancies In §2, Engineer Officer, $4 and unit physician  On 15 December, 755th MP CO 1s released and attached to the 530th
MP BN The BN HQ 1s directed to move to Camp Bucca}LT 22 Dec 2003 and assume control of Bucca NLT 2 Jan 04 18th MP

BDE releases 977/988 MP CO (CS) L
—_—
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SWORN STATEMENT
For use of s form, ses AR 180-45, the proponent agency 1s QDCSOPS

- PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT
AUTHORITY Tite 10 USC Section 301, Trtle 5 USC Section 2851, E O 9397 dated Novernber 22, 1843 (SSN)
PRINCIPAL PURPOSE  To provida commandars and law enforcemant officials with means by which information may ba accurately wentrhed
ROUTINE USES Y our social secunty number 1s used as an addihonalaternate means of ientification to faciltate filing ena retneval
DISCLOSURE' Disclosure o your s00iat secunty number s voluntary —
1 LOCATION 2 DATE,.( MDD} 3 E 4 FILE NUMBER
Camp Bucca Umm Qasr, Iraq B %'l

5 LAST NAME, FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME 6 &SN 7 GRADE/STATUS
E-8/USAR

8 ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
310th Muuary Police Battalien, Camp Bucca Umm Qasr, Iraqg APO AE 09375

9
ln , WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

on 9-10 Jan 04 The 988 MP CO (CS) and the 977th MP CO (CS) leaderhips tially received an mformal briefing on IR
operations at Camp Bucca by both battalion commanders, they received mformation regarding reported accusations of detamee
abuse and warned that 1t would not be tolerated a1 Camp Bucca They were informed of some prolubited conduct to pass on to
their soldiers, for example, not to photograph detanees Previous to that, I emaled copies of 800th MP BDE ROE with attached
vignettes for unt training to be conducted prior to thewr arrival  In accordance with a BDE Frago that raimng ROE raimng be
conducted and recorded by compames NLT 31 December 2003, 1 requested JAG assistance Companies were provided with a
copy of a troops 1o task breaking down anucipated nussion tasking per CO that I had created pending approval of the BN CDR
BDE SJA conducted ROE/GPW traiung 1n late December/early January and agam remuned on or about 24 January to conduct
further traming  Commanders were directed (o have all MP attend BN CDR gwidance was to learn the way operations were
currently conducted at the camp and gurror that as much as possible within manpower restramts A 5 day right seat nde anda §
day left seat ride was conducted with the 724 MP BN HQ MP and the 310th MP HQ MP on CCT operations  Soldiers received
OJT on 724th MP BN verbal and wnitten SOP regarding acconntabiliry, feeding procedures, fog plan procedures  977/988 MP
CO conducted an approximately 3 day RIP coordinated berween company leadership of mcommg and outgoing compames, The
77/988 MP CO and CTT assumed control of thexr mission on or about 13 Jamary, BN TOA was 15 January 2004 Since TOA,
company leadership have recetved copy of BN SOP's, AR 190-8, and FM 3-19.40 Continued traming has primarily been by
discussion with company leaderstup on vanous provistons of GPW and through aperations meetings, Conducting a raming plan
while conducting mussion has been a challenge due 1o tncreasing operational tempo, man power requirements and limited expertise
of avatlable personnel to conduct framnung —— —3()
Q Tell us about every escape, escape attemt, abuse of detanees, alleged cases of abuse that you or any member of your unit has
has heard aboul or has any level of knowledge of
A 1 am aware of a two sucessful escapes incrdents at Camp Bucea while under the command of the 724th MP BN One was fro
within the IF during heavy fog that occurred during the RIP and one was duning a ransport of detamness from BCCF to Camp
Bucca also during the PIP | cannot provide much detaul as [ was not 1nvolved 1 any mvestigation or AAR conducted by the 724th
MP BN 1 do know that three detainees were captured outside the IF during the escape artempt but 1 recall that 7 attempted escape
This BN has had one escape mcident that occured between January 26/27 dunng heavy fog  Four detatniees escaped by low
crawhing from wiathin compound 9, under one set of tnple strand concertina and avoided setang off a fiare, over triple strand
razor wire and then over a berm avoiding exterior np flares The escape was mvestgated by Cﬂ'ﬁ 1 was told that other
escape anemipts were made under the command of another BN prior 10 the 724th at Camp Bucca [ was focused on prison
rebutiding efforts in MND-SC and | MEF sector and I drd not have much mvolvement m IR operations 1 was told of other
atlempted/sucessful escapes during mtel briefings a1 BCCF, 1 can not provide detais as my focus was CPA operations and oot 1R
operauons | am aware of two instances of use of force which may be considered abuse In the first, 1t 1s alleged that 8 SPC
struck a detanee wn the medical tent at Camp Bucca [ do not know 1f o was a justified use of force but 1 do know that be
was Grdered not (o remun to the IF by a MAﬁaﬂd 1 was told tha the maner was under wmnvestigatton by the HHC
Commander and BN | am also aware of use of force that mav be considered abuse by a PFOWEN 1 was told that an allegation
was made that PFCYIIE was conducung an interrogation of a detamnee for unknown reasons under unknown authority by himself
with the exception that he had an nterpreter present | was told that this allegation was first reported by the detamee o ICRC
during mterview ICRC reported it 1o the BN CDR 1 was told SFOUNNER questioned the wterpreter who at first denied and then
made a stalement suportng the allegation after bemng further questioned 1 am also told that this detamnee was wnvolved 1n a detames
dssturbance 10 wiach he was hit in the eye by another detainee | was told that CPTYIR BN S-3 was appomited o mvesogate
the marter, that PFOQEhas received non judicicial pumishmen cannot return (o the IF
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9 STATEMENT (Conu

I was told by CPT G 20d sFC I of conduct where a SPC displayed a neck chain of a star of David 10
detawnees white at work emoved from the compound by SFC CPT, directed me to ook 1mto the marer

admutied the conduct, told me why he did 1t and stated he was not sure if he would do 1t
agam, [ recomme to the HHC Company Commander that be receive a immediate command referred to menial health |
backbnefed CPT SGT turned 10 a incident report at the end of her shift sbout the occurrence 1 have not
witnessed any wncident that would cause me to conclude that any detainee bad been abused 1 was not immeadiately informed abowt
either allegation These incidents were first reported 1o Commanders [ have slammed the headlines of news paper articles
regarding alleged cases of detamnee abuse by Marmes and by members of the 800th MP BDE bt did not read them | would
imagme that the Command Staff may have some higher level of knowledge or details about uses of force that when nvestigated or
adjudicated may be determuned to be a abuse —
Q How would we unprove the ability 10 do this muss100? e —
\* Regarding raining, nsure units that are tagked v ith this oussion recerve MP school mstructor traiung m MOS 95C and are
certified | would ensure units are not constantly realigned or reassigned so that they may better operate as an effective team
When mobilzing reserve units, | would cause companies assigned to Battalions to train with Bantalions and be assigned 10 the same
mobilization site in order to develop SOP's and TTP and learn of their strengths and weaknesses, Further, I woilld recommend
traiung tn use of force, levels of force, what consnrutes abuse of force and what constiutes authonzed use of force 1 would
request or direct wramng to define proportional use of force and least amount of force necessary to stop an escape in layman terms
to seldiers without law enforcement background 1 have requested and would recommend assigning JAG 10 Bucca to provide
conmnuous miiary legal rammg m order to teach when o use force and bener articulate authorized uses of force Task JAG to
assist 1 developing legally sound use of force SOP's  Train non MP on what constiutes reasonableness in determumng whether or
not to make an apprehension, wstruct them on how 1o effecuvely aruculate the details of an offense and preserve evidence and
establish crume scenes afford detainees the night to a preluminary beanng or arraignment 1 order to determuine if there 15 legally
sufficient evidence o hold them and do it within a reasonable amoumt of time o provide due process Regarding escapes,
recognize that the detainees currently being capiured are not demoralized captured soldiers looking to wait out & war, that many of
them are 1deahisuc and some are professional crimunais and require hard modern prisons to effectively prevent Ensure
secunty measures are provided for thewr safety and the safery of MP  Increase availability in theater of Oleoresimcapsicum to offer
a lesser means of force or a ievel of force that 15 commonly perceived as less abusive than physical force Recogmze that this type
of detainee requures hugher MP to detainee rano than a IR missior. It should be based on greater ratios than assigned to US
mihtary prisoners (one Guard Company per 500 prisoners} due to the nature of the acts that these detainees are accused of
Reparding detainee abuse, cause recorded CCTV or band held video cameras to be 1nstalled 1n the facility or hand carmed o
support or refule allegations of abuse Cause professional vestigators such as CID to investipate alleged cnmes Provide this
camp with the details o the crimes accused by the detainees m 11s custody n order to beiter assess thewr individual security
requrements and immediate access [0 case status or a mechamsm where detainees can find oot about the status of their case
Assign 2 TOE 19643L000 Assign TOE 19543LD or 19543LH 10 increase the Bngade span of control  Assign I/R processing
~quad TOE 19543LC who are more fambiar with processing A Psyap slice 15 needed at Bucca to ranslate required documents
o Arabic 10 comply with GPW, 1o gain intel on potes tha: are passed from compound to compcud by atiaching them to-rocks
and throwing them, to set up a PA system and Arabic instructions on tape  We need MI assets and CA assets We should have
more MWD according 10 the 2 MWD handiers that we have just been able to get on site 11 order to mcrease the deterrent factor of
aempung escape We need better and more portable communications equipment as 1t 1s dafficult 1f not impossible to commumicate
with the compounds

which 1 did Afier SPC
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On 10 February 2004, a pane! of officers, directed by Major General Antonio Taguba,
conducted the following anterview Major General Taguba was appointed as an
Investigating Officer under the provisions of Amy Regulation 15-6, by Lieutenant
General David D McKiernan, Commanding General of the Coahiion Forces Land
Component Command (CFLCC), to look mto allegations of maltreatment of detanees,
detainee escapes and accountability lapses, at Abu Ghanb, also known as the Baghdad
Central Confinement Facihity (BCCF) The panel also inquired into trainmg, standards,
employment, command policies, and internal policies, concerming the detamees held at
Abu Ghanb pnison  Finally, the panel looked mto the command chimate and the
command and supervisory presence

The following persons were present

. MP, CFLCC - PMQO, Interviewer

A. CFLCC - SJA, Interviewer

705th MP Battalion, Interviewer
229th MP Company, Respondent

The interview 1s summanzed as follows.

I’'m Sergeant First Classm, 229th MP Company My sosh i-
1 am 1n the IRF, the Internal Reaction Force, which 1s separate from the Quick

eaction Force 'We handle all 1ssues inside the wall, dealing with prisoners 1 work for
1LT Sutton Before, I worked m Customs at Camp Doha

COL-‘eads an excerpt from a sworn statement, dated 20 January 2004

“The MI person hit um on the bach of the head with a closed fist, causing the suspect to
fall forward The suspect was handcuffed, on his knees, and had a towel wrapped around
his head The MI soldier kept yelling, ‘Eyes down,’ and ‘Get up,” while knocking the
suspect down, and repeating the verbal abuse towards the suspect Another M1 soldier
came to the assistance of the MI person The 2nd M1 soldier put an arm lock around the
suspect’s neck, pulling the suspect forward from the ground While pulling the suspect
from the ground by the neck, the MI soldier was twisting left and nght, yelling at the
suspect, while the first M1 soldier struck the suspect 1n the mid-section of the stomach
ILT IRF Commander, approached the soldier and asked 1f this treatment was
necessary The MI soldier told the 1L T that he was a trained professional and to let him
to let im handle the situation The 1LT reminded the soldiers that the suspect may be
mnocent The MI soldiers continued their verbal abuse, and excessive force The 1LT
stated to the MI soldiers that this abuse was not necessary The MI soldiers 1gnored the
1LT, and continued to verbally abuse the suspect and drug the suspect off by the neck
The 1LT approached M_, and asked the Major 1f he was going to let thus
continue The Major said nothing, and the 11T stated that he was not going to allow this
abuse to continue The 1LT went to the MI vehicle and wanted to know who was the
NCOIC ™

AMNWeY &3



Fimished reading the statement, COL- continues the mnterview with SFC-
SEC - responds as follows

I do recall the incident We all wrote statements on this on August 23rd, about 20
munutes after the mcident I'm surprised you don’t have it 20 lanuary 1s the second trme
we reported this incident  We reported this a sWe, because we didn’t know if this
had been mvestigated SP asked CP J a Marine who works 1n the
Magistrate Cell, and CPT said he spoke with the 800th, who told the Captain that
he could handle the investigation, that they didn’t have ttme for 1t. In a few days, after
that, the CID folks showed up because of another mncident gong on at the prison.

I don’t recall who mnterviewed me, but he told be this was turned over to CID. They
looked at 1t, and turned 1t back over to the command He knew of no resolutionto 1t |
was under the assumption, from CID, that 1t was turned back over to the MI command,
who have since left a few months ago 1 thunk 1t was the 205th or 202nd. I remember
the 15SG’s name was Shortly after the mncident occurred, 1LT and I
were called to the Battalion TOC, by MAJ-and met with their 185G, who tned
to do some battle damage assessment

We did the statements, that mght, after the mcident  We tumed them 1 to ILT-
who tumed them 1 to CPT our Company Commander, who tumed them over to
LTC r MAJ They went to someone 1n the Battahon, but we got

no resolution from the 800th at all

I haven’t met COL , yet, but I know LTC -15 leaps and bounds over
anything we've seen from the 800th He recognizes senior NCOs by name. Speaks with
you every time he sees you He asks vou how things are gong The Bngade CSM met
with all semor NCOs, last week, after only being on the ground just a few days And,
within a few days. 1ssued us all brand new brassards I've hadn’t had a brassard from thz
800th, since I've been here [ was told we could buy some [only know of acouple of _
occasions when BG Karpinski had interaction with any of the soldiers 1n our umt. It was
back 1n August or early September She went into 2 towers, and spoke with one of
soldiers, who was augmented to another platoon, and spoke about the prisoners. She
didn’t ask hum how his iving conditions were, she just wanted to know how the pnisoners
were  She talked about setting up an intramural inter compound soccer league with him
The other occasion was when Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld came [ wasn'’t there, but
my soldiers said she told Rumsfeld we had everything we needed She told him we were
“Good to go "' We were far from “good to go ™

As far as the Bngade CSM from the 800th, that was another mnvestigation we brought to
the Bngade The 377th Theatre Support Command investigated him He came to visit,
and had an mappropnate hatson with one of my soldiers He spoke directly to one of my
E4s, before speaking to anyone else He put his arm around her, and walked around with
her He was rubbing her shoulders, and they disappeared for about 5 ori( minutes
When they came back, he sat down with her He was holding lus hand on her teg, with
hus arm around her She was having some difficult times, with the stress of coming from



Camp Doha to up there, but 1t wasn’t anything that required the physical touching 1
think she was trying to play the stress card, to get out of pulling duty. We had her
evaluated, and the doctor said she was completely fine But, several of my soldiers
observed that, mcluding mysetf A co of them were so angry, that they wrote sworn
statements and turned them in to CP ur EOQ Repr tive, which eventually
spearheaded the 15-6 That was my first tume meeting CSM

CS e out another time, and I spoke with him about the lack of
communication devices We had no phones, no way of calling home to say we're still
alive, even though the mortar attacks happen every mght He gave me his satellite phone,
and said, “Call home ™ I said that’s not the 1ssue *“We have 115 soldiers, here, that don’t
have access to a phone  'What’s being done to fix that?’ He sad, “Well send up a
request for a phone ” 1 said that’s ualready been done He said, “Well use nune,” and 1
said, “Well, we need to line up every soldier out here, and get them a free phone call,”
and he then he told me he had to go

The only other person I know from the 800th 1s the HHC Commander, a female Captamn
When we were at Arifjan, [ had a soldier whaose brother was killed. She helped me get all
the emergency leave paperwork squared away And, CPT -1e]pcd us get up
here

They’ve never come and talk to us  We’d tell them our hiving conditions suck, and that
we've eaten T-Rations, and that we've eaten breakfast 12 days 1n a row 1n September for
dinner, but none of those people would come out to see that SGM LTC

and the folks from the 16th are the first people from the Bngade to spend the night at that
poson ['ve never seen anybody from the 800th come and spend the mght, there They
are gone by dark, because Abu Ghanb 1s a dangerous place after dark

Morale was really bad back in August and September, because we moved fiom Camp
Doha, which has 1deal living conditions, to Irag But, morale kind of leveled off mid-
field The mortar attacks don’t help, and the fact that we don’t do anything about the
mortar attacks really doesn’t help The 82nd goes out, and the QRF goes out, but from
what I understand, 1f you don’t have the right information 1in 90 seconds, you're not going
to get those guys

1 would have thought that a Bnigadier General could stop a buck, but I may be wrong.
There are enough people, here, that have been told what’s going on, that someone should
be able to fix this problem Related to these incidents, my personal feeling 1s, as
someone who’s been a cop for 10 years 1n the civihian world, 1f they had taken action on
this back 1n August, 1t would have set the stage that prisoner abuse was not going to be
tolerated

We're a CS Company that was re-organized pnor to deploying as an I/R Company. We
changed our MTOE, when we left 1 year ago, today We went to our MOB Station, and
we had ume at our MOB Station, where CP’- met with the Platoon Leaders and
Platoon Sergeants, and we sat down and developed a traming plan. We set up Camp




Alpha It was engineer tape, but it was a compound, and we rotated all 3 platoons
through tower guard operations, through internal operations, and escort details, because,
at the time, we didn’t know what we were going to do  We looked at the METL Tasks
for an I/R Company, and we knew there were a lot of things we could be dommg We tned
to prepare for what we thought we were going to be domg It’s funny, because sold:ers
hated Camp Alpha, back 1n Indiana, but when we got on the ground up there, they were
like this 15 just like Camp Alpha, this is going to be easy Then, 1t turns out we were only
going to be responsible for Tower Guard Operations, which made 1t easier

I don’t think you need to have training, to know that hitting someone m your custody 1s
wrong It’s an 1ssue of nght and wrong. I’ve had many conversations wath the M1 folks
after that, and I told them from the beginmng, that I wouldn’t tolerate that

Fimshed with their discussion, the panel gave SFC -a hist of 1tems, to be addressed,
and brought back on a Sworn Statement
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PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

JITHORITY Title 10 USC Secuon30! Title 5 USC Section 2951 E O 8397 dated November 22, 1943 (SSM
INCIPAL PURPOSE  To provide commanders and law entorcement othcials with means by which information may be accuralely
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Camp Viciory, Iraq ) 2004/02/10 2 2100 =
RST NAME, MIDDLE NAME —I 6 SSN 7 GRADEISTATUS

8 ORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS '

22%th Miluary Police Company Abu Gharaib, lrag APO AE 09335

5
1,— . WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

Our unt was mobitized on 10 Feb 2003 and reported 10 tts mob stayon  Upon arriving at mob station all reguired trammung was
completed  Once complete we began mussion tramung for MP I/R Company. CP’l*pmpared a operation order and each
platoon was assigned a piece of the nussion A make shuft pnison camp was established using engineer tape and stacks. Each
plaloon rolated through each porbion of the wraiming over a weeks ume  Once armiving 1b coumiry we were assigned 2 cusloms
mussion from Apnl to August 2003, at which tine we move to Abu Ghraib Pnison to operate a prison compound  Once amving'
were assigned tower guard duttes for Camp Ganer which closely resemble the make shift camp we trained on at mob stauon  No
other waimng was offered to our umit excep! 1o quahfy everyone on Lhe vse of less-ibaa-lethal rounds for shotguns  Since August
our unis main mssion has been the tower guard operatlons  Our unit was also assigned the IRF (imnterpal reaction force) which
was a new concept [0 be used as a QRF for suuanons wnside the pnison walls  Tramung for thus was established by LT SSand
myself using FM's and vears of civihian Law Enforcement trammg in the area of civil disturbance The ROE and Rules of
Interaction were the only other stems bnefed prior to begmmog our mugsions  There were o Geneva convention classes given to
our umt In September 2003 IRF responded to a call 1o pick up pniscners at the main gate | was mcorrect earher ont he date on
tus eident 1t was Sepiember rather than Angust  Dunng whuch ume we wimnessed 3 prisoner bemg assaulied by M1 soldiers
Sworn statements were completed thal mght on the incident and forwarded to CPT who forwarded them to LTC Phillabom
Untl now po one has asked 1o speak with anyone who completed a statement  Sometime in late 2003 SPC#-poke with a
*G Captain from the MAG Cell about the meident  SPC dillarelayed to me that the CPT had contacted the 800th MP Brigade
sut the mciden: and was told that he could mvesugate it lumself The CPT not bewng sure and being 1o busy with lus assigned
-ork declined 10 conduct an mvesugatior,  In lan after the news of other crimes agamst prisoners broke a CID team was sent to
conduct wnterviews about the cidents which bad occurred  During my terview | asked about the August incident and was told
that they were aware of that but had sent 1 back to the MI BN for investigation  After the CID mterview 1 advised SPC @il that
we would wait a few weeks unul the 16th MP BDE arnived and turn the statements over to the JAG or G for mnvestugation as 1 did
nol feel that the 300th was concerned about the mncident  Untii now § do not beheve that this meident has been nvestigated 1n any
wav shape or form A copy of the onginal statemexnt from August 1s atached Since the 26th MP BDE's arrival the change 1n
command chimaie has changed tremendously Not only have they arnved but the Deputy Bngade Commander 1s our actmg BN
Commmander wlich bas put us in direct link with the BDE staff LTC &Sill\s very visible and make a concerted effort 1o speak
with all soldiers that he comes 1n contact with  He seems to value semor NCO mput and wants us 10 bring forward thoughts and
ldeas to better the prison environment The BDE CSM also ts very visible  He met with all semor NCQ's a few days afier his
armval He stressed that the pnson mission was one of the most significant missions that they had and that CPA siressed lus as
well  That ys the first ume that | had heard that this was ap trnponant mission by anyone outside of the prison  Dunng our meetng
he tool lots of notes and gave us lus word that he would work the 1ssues 10 the best of fus abihty  Just thus visit and promse to try
was 100% more effort thac was pm fonb by the previous BDE CSM He also gave us the first 16th MP Brassards whach had come
i to our soldiers He wanted them to took sharp and be prouc of who ey are and what they are downg The 800th told us to buy
our own which 1s why only a few soldiers had them Prior 10 leaving he spent several more days visiung all the soldiers to mclude
spending some time 1 their hving areas 1o see how they hived  He also bad his EO NCO speak with soldiers 1o get their feelings
on how things were going  He was very concerned about some of the tong term 1ssues that were gomng voresolved, many since
Augus: and September  Elements of the 16th BDE were the first BDE staff to acually spend the maght at our pnisen and see what
the condinons are like m the ruddte of the mght | have not personally met the new BDE CDR but | have seen him at the prison
several imes 1 the past few weeks compared 10 only seemnp Gen Karpinshi a few times and never o the woop living areas  Since
Augus: she had only spoken with 2 soldiers from our company, one of which was my soldiers He said she was more concerned
about the prisoners and starung them a soccer league than hoyw he was doing  All wn all 1 appears that tbe new BDE 15 trymg 10 fix
the problerns we are dealing with as quickly as possible 5777111111174 End of
Saatement//AHINIEITRTITEEEEEI LT b T
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SWORN STATEMENT
For use of this torm, see AR 790-45; the proponent agency 1s ODCSOPS

PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

AUTHORITY Title 10 USC Section 3071 Title 5 USC Secuon 2951, E.O 9397 dated November 22, 1943 (SSAN)

RINCIPAL PURPOSE  To provide commnnd_era and Jaw enforcement oTficials with means by which information may be accurately
WQUTINE USES Your social securrty number is used as an agditional/alternate means of identification 1o taciilate fiing end retrigval
DISCLOSURE Disclosute af your social security nurmber 15 valuntary

1 LOCATION I z DATE 1YYYYMaMDDr |3 TIME 4 FILE NUMBER

Abu Ghratb Pnison, lrag APO AE 09335 2003/05/21 0100 .~

|
3 IRST NAME, MIDDLE NAME 6 SN 7 GRADE/STATUS
w C 4 ! SRC/E-T

8 QORGANIZATION OR ADDRESS
229th Miktary Police Company

9
I._/ . WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH

On 20 Sep 03 at approx 145 a mortor atiach was recerved in the vicun.y of Camp Viguznt At approx 2230 the [RF (mternal
Reacuon Force) was called 1o the 320th BN TOC apd advised that a morior had laneded ta the M1 BN ient and there were approx
15 wounded that were bewing medivac  'We were (old to stand by there and wait for further, Shortly thereafter we were told to go
back 1o our ltving quarters and stend by to be called again  About 2330 we were called to responded to the ECP (entry control
pomt) Once amving we were told that the QRF was outside the wire atiempting to stop a vehicle which they believed may be
wvelved with the attack  We were told o stand fast and be prepared 10 be their backup should the need anse  They soon stopped
the vehicle and transported 1 back 1o the ECP with the 2 ocenpants 2 male and female Once arnving the velucle was searched
searched and the {wo 1n custody were liken over to the visilor tent where we responeed and watched over the two A few munuies
later at approx 0030 2] Sep 03 a HMMWY pulied up with approx 10 soldiers and came over ious The first soldier wearmg a
desert camo flak jackel came up o the male prisoner and began screamung at lum telhng lim eyes down and asking "what the fuck
are you lookang ar”  He then grabed lum by the back of the head and pushed 1t down mto the dirt. 1LT" old him that was
uneccessary anc the solder locked at bim and told lum "that he was the professional at tus he knew what he was doing” 11T
_saud that doesn't look to professional | then said that [ had never been 1aught that when 1 went through imtergator scheol
Al tins pont another soldier { a very large stocky soldier) came over and staried yelling at him to get up  He grabbed um and
yanked him up off the ground and secured us arms and began walhing lum back towards the vehucle He continued screammng and
Torcefully moving towards the truck  As he passed me | 10ld lum to “at case and calm down™ He conunved past me to the back of]
= truch  Once reaching the back of the truck he began stnkung the prisoner m the back of the head and back He contned
reaming at hum to get into the truck  The soldier then forcefully slammed the priscner into the bed of the truck  once the
pr1soner was in the bed of the truck he was struck a few more tmes and told 1o put 2 mask on - When the prisoner murned towards
the back of the truck W appeared that he was bleedung from the hip, hut 1 was unsure do to the poor hghting At ths pouwnt I askad
the NCOIC what urut he was from and he told me the 519tk Ml | then realized that these were soldiers from the umit that had bee
attacked At this pomt the vehilce left and the IRF secured back o our hving area  After armving back 1n our area 1L was
calied by Ma) QN and asked that both he and | responded 10 the TOC  Once amving we iiroduced 1o 1SG Wio 15
the 1Sg of the Ml group He told us that thus had never happened and that had been downg these operations for 14 monlns 1n
Afgansiap and lrag He continued (o apoligize and remund us that he had people that were wounded and everyone was upset
Mz; N o!d us that Cpt M had becn told and she was very upset over the imncident. We explamned to them that dunng
our many years of iaw enforcement that you never send a suspect back 10 a group of officers that were durectly effected by an
incidznt because you don't know what they mght do and that tus case was exactly the same  We were told by the 1SG that they
would handie 1t and we advised that we were gong (o forward staiements of the mcident as well  Ma/QRNRSEREp advised that he
would forward that paperwork to the BN CDR so that action could be taken | LUGIJJJJind 1 then responded back to the [RF
barracks where we adwised the 1eam \o complete suements of the incident ané we advised them of what the 1Sg had told vs gz
------------------------------ End of Sulemem
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